Western University Scholarship@Western

Digitized Theses

Digitized Special Collections

2009

FROM CONCEPT, TO DESIGN, EVALUATION AND FIRST IN VIVO DEMONSTRATION OF A TELE-OPERATED CATHETER NAVIGATION SYSTEM

Yogesh Thakur

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/digitizedtheses

Recommended Citation

Thakur, Yogesh, "FROM CONCEPT, TO DESIGN, EVALUATION AND FIRST IN VIVO DEMONSTRATION OF A TELE-OPERATED CATHETER NAVIGATION SYSTEM" (2009). *Digitized Theses*. 4170. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/digitizedtheses/4170

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Digitized Special Collections at Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Digitized Theses by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

FROM CONCEPT, TO DESIGN, EVALUATION AND FIRST IN VIVO DEMONSTRATION OF A TELE-OPERATED CATHETER NAVIGATION SYSTEM

(Spine title: Remote Catheter Navigation)

(Thesis format: Integrated-Article)

by

Yogesh Thakur

Graduate Program in Biomedical Engineering

2

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

The School of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada

© Yogesh Thakur 2009

1 . 1

a ministion Board

Abstract

Percutaneous transluminal catheter (PTC) intervention is a medical technique used to assess and treat vascular and cardiac diseases, including electrophysiological conditions. Interventional specialists use the vasculature as a passageway to guide the catheter to the site of interest, using fluoroscopic x-ray imaging for image-guidance. Common PTC procedures include: vascular angiography, inflating balloons and stents, depositing coils, and the treatment of cardiac arrhythmia via catheter ablation.

Catheter ablation has gained prevalence over the last two decades, as the treatment success rate for atrial fibrillation reaches 100%. The close proximity between the interventionalist and the radiation source combined with the increased number of procedures performed annually has lead to increased lifetime exposure; escalating the interventionalist probability of developing cancer, cataracts or passing genetic defects to offspring. Furthermore, the lead garments that protect the interventionalist can lead to musculoskeletal injury. Both these factors have lead to increased occupational risk. Catheter navigation systems are commercially available to reduce these risks. Lack of intuitive design is a common failing among these systems.

iii

This thesis presents the design and validation of a remote catheter navigation system (RCNS) that utilizes dexterous skills of the interventionalist during remote navigation, by keeping the catheter in their hands of the interventionalist during remote navigation. For remote catheter manipulation, the interventionalist pushes, pulls, and twists an input catheter, which is placed inside an electromechanical sensor (CS). Position changes of the input catheter are transferred to a second electromechanical (CM) that replicates the sensed motion with a second, remote catheter.

Design of this system begins with understanding the dynamic forces applied to the catheter during intravascular navigation. These dynamics were quantified and then used as operating parameters in the mechanical design of the CM. In a laboratory setting, motion sensed and replicated by the RCNS was found to be 1 mm in the axial direction, 1° in the radial direction, with a latency of 180 ms. In a multi-operator, comparative study using a specially constructed multi-path vessel phantom, comparable navigation efficacy was demonstrated between the RCNS and conventional catheter manipulation, with the RCNS requiring only 9s longer to complete the same tasks.

Finally, remote navigation was performed *in vivo* to fully demonstrate the application of this system towards the diagnosis and treatment of cardiac arrhythmia.

Keywords: catheter navigation, RF ablation, fluoroscopy, image-guidance, telerobotics, cardiac arrhythmia,

Co-Authorship

A version of Chapter 2 was published as "Characterization of Catheter Dynamics During Percutaneous Transluminal Catheter Procedures" by Yogesh Thakur, Dr. David W. Holdsworth and Dr. Maria Drangova in the IEEE Transactions in Biomedical Engineering, vol. 56(8), 2009. In this publication, I developed the mass-spring experiments under the guidance of Dr. David Holdsworth and recruited the experienced interventionalists and inexperienced operators for a study to determine the range of kinematics associated with catheter motion. In addition, I wrote custom software in python to record catheter motion and analyze the results.

A version of Chapter 3 was published as "Design and Performance Evaluation of a Remote Catheter Navigation System" by Yogesh Thakur, Jeffery S. Bax, Dr. David W. Holdsworth and Dr. Maria Drangova in the IEEE Transactions in Biomedical Engineering, vol. 56(7), 2009. In this publication, I designed the mechanical components of the Remote Catheter Navigation System and developed all the software. With guidance from Dr. David Holdsworth and Jeffrey Bax, I designed and executed experiments to independently validate each component of the Remote Catheter Navigation System, as well as the complete system. A version of Chapter 4 was submitted as "Catheter Navigation Efficacy of a Tele-Operator Catheter Navigation System: Experimental Results in a Multi-Path Phantom" by Yogesh Thakur, Chris J. Norley, Dr. Irene B. Gulka, Dr. David W. Holdsworth, and Dr. Maria Drangova to Radiology (Submission #RAD-09-1965). This work compared the remote catheter navigation system with conventional catheter navigation, using a specially constructed multi-path phantom, and employing operators of different clinical experience levels. In this paper, I developed the experimental methodology and designed the navigation phantom used in the study. Chris Norley and Dr. Irene Gulka helped refine the experimental protocol. Chris Norley also assisted in data collection. Dr. Irene Gulka provided input into the multi-path phantom design and recruited the experienced interventionalists for the study. Dr. David Holdsworth provided guidance with respect to experimental methodology.

A version of Chapter 5 is in preparation for submission as "Tele-Robotic Catheter Navigation: First Remote Navigation In Vivo" by Yogesh Thakur, Dr. Doug L. Jones, Dr. Raymond Yee, Dr. Allen Skanes and Dr. Maria Drangova to the journal Circulation. In this publication I wrote the animal use protocol with the assistance of Dr. Doug Jones. I also developed the experimental methodology with input from Dr. Raymond Yee and Dr. Doug Jones and design equipment to adapt my tele-robotic catheter navigation systems for *in vivo* application. Dr. Allan Skanes executed the experiments with assistance from Dr. Doug Jones and Dr. Maria Drangova.

All the above work was performed under the guidance of my supervisor Dr. Maria Drangova.

This thesis is dedicated to the memory of my beloved grandmother, *mo-tdhee aa-ee*, who taught me to work hard to achieve my goals, and always enjoy life to its fullest.

Acknowledgement

First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisor Dr. Maria Drangova for giving me the opportunity to do this project and providing me with direction and advice, Dr. David W. Holdsworth for his helpful insight towards experimental design and captivating discussions, and Dr. Aaron Fenster for his guidance and motivation. I would also like to thank Dr. Raymond Yee, Dr. Allan Skanes, Dr. Irene Gulka and Dr. Andrew Leung for their clinical input and advice.

I would also like to thank all my friends and colleagues in the Imaging Research Laboratories at Robarts Research Institute. Specifically, I would like to thank Hristo Nikolov, Chris Norley, Steve Pollman, Jacques Montrueil, Jeffrey Bax, Jeff Gardiner and Adam Guthrie, for your technical advice towards this project, and Maria Fontana, Jan Challis and Diana Timmerman for your administrative assistance.

Finally, I would like to thank my family: my parents, my sisters and my brother inlaw. Your moral support and endless love have always motivated me to aim high and achieve higher.

Table of Contents

CERTIFICATE OF EXAMINATION	ii
Abstract	iii
Co-Authorship	v
Acknowledgement	viii
Table of Contents	ix
List of Tables	xiii
List of Figures	xiv
List of Abbreviations	xx
Chapter 1 : Introduction & Background	1
1.1 Percutaneous Transluminal Catheter Intervention	5
1.1.1 Vascular Angiography	8
1.1.2 Vessel Stenosis & Dilation	9
1.1.3 Cardiac Arrhythmia	11
1.2 Literature Review: Remote Catheter Navigation Systems	12
1.2.1 Magnetic Catheter Navigation	13
1.2.2 Robotic Controlled Catheterization	20
1.2.3 Other Remote Catheter Navigation Systems	
1.3 Design Approach: Remote Catheter Navigation System	23
1.3.1 Thesis Scope	26
1.4 Thesis Outline	26
Chapter 2 : Characterization of Catheter Dynamics During Percutaneous T Catheter Procedures	ransluminal 38
2.1 Introduction	
2.2 Methods	41
2.2.1 Kinematics Range	41
2.2.2 Minimum Required Force and Torque	42
2.2.3 Maximum Applied Force and Torque	44
2.2.4 Data Analysis	45
2.3 Results	46

2.3.1 Kinematics Range	46
2.3.2 Minimum Required Force and Torque	46
2.3.3 Maximum Applied Force and Torque	47
2.4 Discussion	47
Chapter 3 : Design and Performance Evaluation of a Remote Catheter System	Navigation
3.1 Introduction	
3.2 System Description	
3.2.1 Catheter Sensor	57
3.2.2 Catheter Manipulator	60
3.2.3 Computer Console	62
3.3 Methods	63
3.3.1 Evaluation of Catheter Sensor	63
3.3.2 Evaluation of Catheter Manipulator	65
3.3.3 Evaluation of Lag in Replicated Motion	66
3.4 Results	68
3.4.1 Evaluation of Catheter Sensor	68
3.4.2 Evaluation of Catheter Manipulator	68
3.4.3 Evaluation of Lag in Replicated Motion	69
3.5 Discussion	71
3.6 Conclusion	78
Chapter 4 Catheter Navigation Efficacy of a Tele-Operator Catheter	Navigation
System: Experimental Results in a Multi-Path Phantom	
4.1 Introduction	84
4.2 Methods	87
4.2.1 System Description	87
4.2.2 Multi-Path Navigation Phantom	89
4.2.3 Study Parameters	91
4.2.4 Data Analysis	92
4.3 Results	93
4.4 Discussion	100
4.5 Conclusion	105
Chapter 5 . Tele-Robotic Catheter Navigation, First Remote Navigation In Vi	ivo
5.1 Introduction	108
J.T Introduction	

5.2 Methods	110
5.2.1 Animal Preparation	110
5.2.2 RCNS and Experimental Setup	110
5.2.3 Operator Selection and Training	113
5.2.4 Procedure and Data Collection	113
5.2.5 Statistical Analysis	115
5.3 Results	115
5.3.1 Initial Setup	116
5.3.2 Anatomical Target Navigation	116
5.3.3 Procedure Time	117
5.3.4 Navigation Time, Exposure and Exposure Time	118
5.3.5 RF Lesion Placement and Physiological Variability	120
5.4 Discussion	124
5.5 Conclusion	127
Chapter 6: Contributions, Limitations and Future Direction	131
6.1 Contributions	131
6.1.1 The Remote Catheter Navigation System	132
6.1.2 Catheter Dynamics	134
6.1.3 The Multi-Path Vessel Phantom	134
6.1.4 Conclusion	135
6.2 Limitations	136
6.2.1 Clinical Limitations	
6.2.2 Technical Limitation	137
6.3 Future Direction	138
6.3.1 Technical Development	
6.3.2 Core Interventional Skill Development	
6.3.3 Clinical Application	144
Appendix A : Reprint Permissions	
A 1 Reprint Permission: Chapter 1 Fig 1-2	151
A 2 Descript Description: Chapter 1, Fig 1-2	
A.2 Reprint Permission: Chapter 1, Fig 1-3	132
A.3 Reprint Permission: Chapter 2 and Chapter 3	153
Appendix B : Animal Ethics Approval	156
Appendix C: System Implementation & Software Design	157
C.1 System Layout	157

C.2 Software Layout	160
C.3 Sampling Strategy	163
Appendix D : Design and Construction of a Multi-Path Vessel Interventional Training	Phantom for 164
D.1 Introduction	164
D.2 Materials and Method	166
D.2.1 Design Considerations	166
D.2.2 Phantom Construction	169
D.2.3 The Multi-Path Vessel Phantom	169
D.3 Discussion	171
Curriculum Vitae	

List of Tables

Fable 2-1: Motion Profiling Results	46
Cable 3-1: Results – Accuracy of the Catheter Sensor and Catheter Manipulator	68
Table 4-1: Operator Performance: Successfully Navigated Paths and Turns Using Remote (R)
and Conventional (C) Navigation Techniques	96
Table 4-2: Observed Operator Navigation Times Using Remote (R) and Conventional (Navigation Techniques	C) 97
Fable 4.2: Massured Dose Area Product (DAP) Using Remote (P) and Conventional (C)
Navigation Techniques	99

List of Figures

- Fig. 3-5: Measured motion lag when different operators remotely manipulated the catheter through a carotid bifurcation. Motion lag in the radial direction (a) tended to be higher with

- Fig. 3-6: Peak velocity in the (a) radial and (b) axial directions. Plotted data are the median, lower median, upper median, and range of calculated peak velocity for the 12 trials per operator....74
- Fig. 4-1: Position of the patient catheter (a) is measured by two independent sensors (axial (b), radial (c)) inside the Catheter Sensor. Axial and radial motion of the input catheter is replicated using a second patient catheter (d), placed inside the Catheter Manipulator. The Catheter Manipulator contains two servo motors; one for axial motion (e), mounted on a slip-ring gantry (f), and a second for radial motion (g). A work console (h) relays information from the Catheter Sensor to the Catheter Manipulator.
- Fig. 4-3: Catheter navigation times recorded for each path using both remote catheter navigation and conventional catheter navigation techniques (each bar represents mean+sem.). Navigation using the RCNS took an ensemble average of 13 seconds longer than conventional catheter navigation. Remote navigation through paths with large to small vessel diameter transitions (paths: 1-8), required on average 22 seconds longer, while paths with small to large vessel diameter transitions (paths: 9-16), required on average 12 seconds longer with the RCNS. Three paths, labelled '+' (paths: 5, 6 and 15), took 33 seconds longer with the RCNS.

- Fig. 5-3: a) Navigation time to all targets, in all animals, using the RCNS (white), and conventional catheter manipulation (grey). Navigation towards two anatomical targets (CoS and HIS) took much longer with conventional catheter navigation (CoS: 144s vs. 98s, HIS: 117 vs. 54s), while remote navigation took much longer than conventional navigation to reach the RV-FW and RV-A (RV-FW: 58s vs 29s, RV-A: 117s vs. 53s). b) Navigation time to all targets, in 3 matched animals, using the RCNS (white), and conventional catheter manipulation (grey). Matching was not statistically significant. Data shown: mean±sem...120

- Fig. C-1: The system layout of the RCNS. Electromechanical sensors placed in the CS transmit encoder counts to an encoder-to-RS-232 interface. A microcontroller, contained in the encoder-to-RS232 interface, handles communication with a digital counter and remote communication with the workstation, via RS-232. Single-axis motion-controllers actuate the each servo-motors contained in the CM. These motion-controllers utilize a standard industrial control system, consisting of: a motion profile generator, PID loop and encoder feedback...158

- Fig. D-1: Pattern of the non-anthropomorphic multi-path training phantom (top view). The catheter is inserted into the phantom through either the bottom left or bottom right inlets. Inside the phantom, the catheter can be manipulated within vessels of three diameter sizes (dark gray: 9.5 mm, light gray: 6.35 mm, and black: 8 mm). To provide cross-training for interventional trainees, catheter manipulation through the phantom's left side provide vessel-diameter transitions from large-to-small (9.5-8-6.35 mm), while the phantom's right side provides vessel-diameter transitions from small-to-large (6.35-8-9.5 mm). Branching angles inside the phantom ranging from 30 to 135° provide the trainee with paths of varying difficulty. Black circles indicate fasteners, which hold the two machined acrylic plates together.

List of Abbreviations

AP	Accessory Pathway
AF	Atrial Fibrillation
AFL	Atrial Flutter
AV	Atrioventricular
AVNRT	AtrioVentricular Nodal Re-entrant Tachycardia
CCS	Catheter Controlled Sheath
СМ	Catheter Manipulator
CS	Catheter Sensor
CoS	Coronary Sinus
СТ	Computed Tomography
DAP	Dose Area Product
ECG	Electro-cardiogram
EP	Electrophysiological
FIESTA	Fast Imaging Employing Steady-State Acquisition
FGRE	Fast Gradient Recall Echo
FOV	Field of View
ICE	Intracardiac Echocardiography
ICRP	International Commission on Radiological Protection
MGS	Magnetic Guidance System
MRI	Magnetic Resonance Imaging
PCI	Percutaneous Coronary Intervention
PID	Proportional-Integral-Differential
RA	Right Atrium

RA-FW	Right Atrium Free Wall
RA-R	Right Atrium Roof
RCNS	Remote Catheter Navigation System
RF	Radio-Frequency
RV	Right ventricle
RV-A	Right Ventricle Apex
RV-FW	Right Ventricle Free Wall
RV-OT	Right Ventricle Outflow Tract
SNR	Signal-to-Noise Ratio
VF	Ventricular Fibrillation
VT	Ventricular Tachycardia
VR	Virtual Reality

Chapter 1 :

Introduction & Background

Catheterization is the process of inserting a catheter - a hollow or solid, flexible tube, into the body to perform a medical intervention. Employed to inject a contrast agent for anatomic visualization, place balloons and stents to open occluded arteries, to embolize blood vessels, to drain fluids from body cavities, to perform intra-cardiac electrocardiogram's, or to remove atherosclerotic plaque – catherization is common practice in present day medicine.

In 1929, Dr. Werner Forssmann (1904-1979) was the first to use radiography to confirm intra-cardiac placement of a catheter, after he manually pushed a urinary catheter from the brachial vein in his left forearm into the right atrium (RA) of his heart [1]. Over the past three decades, grown from Forssmann's intra-cardiac catheter demonstration, catheter-based x-ray guided intervention has become the gold standard in assessing and treating a variety of vascular and cardiac diseases and conditions.

The minimally invasive nature of catheter-based x-ray guided intervention provides many well-documented benefits, most notably – less trauma to the patient – resulting in:

shorter patient-hospitalization, accelerated return to the work force for the patient, and reduced economical burden on hospital resources [2, 3]. These benefits, combined with its high success rate have lead to a dramatic increase in the number of percutaneous catheterization procedures performed each year [4, 5]. Further increases in the number of annual procedures performed are expected to continue with demographic changes and the development and introduction of new technologies that exploit the advantages of the catheter-based approach in medical intervention.

During catheter-based, fluoroscopic x-ray image-guided intervention, the interventionalist is required to stand adjacent to the patient, while simultaneously manipulating the catheter inside the patient, and imaging the catheter inside the vasculature. Due to the close proximity between the radiation source and interventionalist during these procedures, the cumulative radiation exposure to the interventionalist who regularly performs these procedures has become a concern. Two categories classify radiation induced biological effects: 1) deterministic effects and 2) stochastic effects.

Deterministic effects occur when the radiation exposure exceeds a threshold and appear shortly after the procedure. Erythema - redness of the skin, is a common condition that occurs to patients that have undergone a catheter-based fluoroscopic x-ray guided procedure [6]; occurring when the entrance dose to the patient's skin exceeds a specific threshold (approximately 6 Gy; dose rate and patient physiology influence this

value) [6]. An entrance dose above the threshold can result in more severe skin conditions and also affect other organs in the path of the x-ray beam. Deterministic effects to the interventionalist are rarely a concern, as the interventionalist is situated away from the primary x-ray beam.

On the other hand, stochastic effects do not occur after exceeding a dose threshold. Instead, the cumulative dose over many years will increase the probability of cellular degeneration, resulting in cancer or passing genetic defects to offspring. During x-ray fluoroscopy, radiation scatter from interactions between the x-ray beam and patient yield a low radiation dosage to the interventionalist. Due to the increase in the number of annually performed procedures, over the past two decades many studies have investigated radiation exposure to in-room personnel, and the occupational hazard associated with these procedures.

Results of these studies are mixed. McFadden *et al.* [7] measured monthly exposure to two interventional cardiologists over a six month period and concluded that exposure was safely below limits as set forth by the International Commission on Radiological Protection (ICRP) [8], but above that of other cardiology professions. Renaud *et al.* [9] looked at the exposure to all in-room personnel at three cardiac centres and found radiation exposure was below safety limits for every area of the body, except the lens of the eye. Other studies concluded with similar mixed results [10-13], generally stating

Ì

that exposure levels that would result in a deterministic biological effect are below acceptable exposure levels for all areas of the body except the lens of the eye.

Due to many uncontrollable factors present during data collection, many authors acknowledge the difficulty in accurately measuring cumulative radiation exposure to inroom personnel, thus stating uncertainty in the reported data. These uncontrollable factors can include safety features of the imaging system, experience of the interventionalist, type of procedure performed, size of the patient, correct use of safety equipment (lead aprons, skirts, collars, and transparent lead screens), beam orientation during the procedure, and the sensitivity and proper use of the radiation detection badge. The presented list is not exhaustive, a more extensive list can be found in Rosenthal *et al.* [14], which looks at factors that help predict fluoroscopic time and also in a report outlining radiation safety by a British subcommittee gathered to investigate radiation hazards to cardiologists [15].

To reduce radiation exposure to the interventionalist, new safety equipment, and interventional methods constantly evolve. The dominant method uses pulsed fluoroscopic imaging instead of continuous fluoroscopy, which has been shown by Scanavacca *et al.* [16] to reduce fluoroscopic time by half during the radio-frequency (RF) ablation of various cardiac arrhythmias. In addition, lowering the x-ray imaging pulse rate from real-time imaging (30 pulses/second) to under 12 pulses/second can further reduce exposure without drastically affecting visualization of the catheter [15,

17]. Although radiation exposure can be reduced by these methods, stochastic biological effects still occur. Furthermore, it has been shown that lead vests, collars and skirts worn by the interventionalist to reduce exposure can in fact lead to the development of chronic neck and back pain [18]. As stated by Vano *et al.* [19], the simplest way to reduce exposure is to increase the distance between the radiation source and interventionalist during the procedure; an increase in distance of 40 cm can reduce scatter radiation exposure by over 25%. In 1993, Grant *et al.* [20] significantly reduced radiation exposure to the interventionalist by a factor of 2, using a mechanical pump to remotely inject contrast during coronary angiography. A further reduction in radiation exposure to the interventionalist can be attained by increasing the distance between the interventionalist and radiation source during the intravascular navigation and the final placement of the catheter.

The development and validation of a remote catheter navigation system for intravascular catheter navigation is the topic of this thesis.

1.1 Percutaneous Transluminal Catheter Intervention

The definition of catheterization, as stated in the opening sentence of this thesis, deals with the insertion of a tube into the body to perform a task. The specific task can be simple, like draining liquid from a cyst, or complex, such as monitoring intra-cardiac electrocardiogram's (ECG's). The latter intervention is part of a larger family of catheter interventions known as percutaneous transluminal catheterization or PTC. In PTC, the vascular anatomy acts as a channel to guide the catheter towards the area of interest. Upon placement of the catheter at this location, typically confirmed visually by fluoroscopic x-ray imaging, the catheter acts as a conduit for tools, chemicals, or other agents to diagnose and/or treat vascular and cardiac diseases, as well as electrophysiological conditions.

PTC interventions can be arranged into subgroups based on the targeted anatomy and the medical speciality performing the intervention. Interventional cardiology, including interventional cardiac electrophysiology, deals directly with the cardiac chambers and coronary vessels. The term "interventional radiology" refers to all other vascular interventions, including peripheral vascular intervention, with the exception of cerebral interventions, which is specially termed as "interventional neuroradiology."

Despite varied background and experience of the intervening physicians, intravascular catheter navigation is similar across each medical speciality. First, using the Seldinger technique [21, 22] the catheter is inserted into the vasculature through an introducing sheath. The Seldinger method for catheter insertion is depicted in Fig. 1-1. Depending on the anatomical target, either a vein or an artery can be chosen. Common insertion points include the femoral or brachial vein and artery, or the jugular vein. Once the catheter is in the vasculature, the interventionalist manipulates the catheter to the point of interest by pushing, pulling and twisting the shaft of the catheter. To facilitate intravascular



Fig. 1-1: The Seldinger technique for percutaneous catheter insertion consists of four steps. First, the interventionalist inserts a needle through the skin into the vasculature (a). A guide-wire is then inserted through the needle (b). The needle is withdrawn, and an introducer sheath containing a vessel dilator is slid over the guide-wire (c) into the introducer sheath and blood vessel. Finally, the vessel dilator is replaced with the catheter (d).

navigation, the interventionalist uses fluoroscopic x-ray imaging to localize the catheter in the vascular anatomy.

Many PTC interventions may use a catheter-guidewire combination during intravascular navigation. A guidewire is a fine, small diameter wire, with a limber tip, that inserts through the catheter's lumen, providing the interventionalist with increased dexterity during catheter manipulation through small and tortuous vessels. Manipulation of the catheter-guidewire towards the site of interest is an iterative process. The interventionalist can handle both catheter and guidewire simultaneously, or at their discretion, manipulate the guidewire through a portion of the vasculature, and then advance the catheter over the guidewire. Once the catheter and guidewire are in position, the guidewire may be replaced with a tool specific to the intervention.

The following sections provide an overview of common PTC interventions.

1.1.1 Vascular Angiography

Due to the poor soft-tissue contrast inherent with fluoroscopic x-ray imaging, differentiation of the vascular anatomy from other anatomical structures is difficult. To enhance blood vessel visualization a contrast agent (commonly iodine-based) is injected into the body. The contrast agent mixes with blood, increasing photon attenuation, thus darkening the vasculature in the radiograph. By subtracting a non-enhanced radiograph (a mask image) from the vascular enhanced radiograph, the vascular anatomy is highlighted and can then be used as a "roadmap" for catheter navigation. The use of contrast agent to enhance vascular anatomy is referred to as vascular angiography, and in addition to providing a roadmap for intravascular navigation, vascular angiography is a fundamental procedure to visually diagnose vessel stenosis and dilation (aneurysm).

8

en lite plaque. At



Fig. 1-2: A cerebral vascular angiography, with contrast injected from the left internal carotid artery. Images (a) and (c) are mask images of anterior-posterior, and left lateral, images, respectively. Images (b) and (d) illustrate contrast-enhanced images of (a), and (c), respectively. Arrows (b and d) mark the vessel dilation (aneurysm) from the anterior communicating artery. Images courtesy of Dr. Irene Gulka, University Hospital, London Health Science Centre.

1.1.2 Vessel Stenosis & Dilation

A vascular angiogram provides a visual depiction of blood flow through vessels. Vessel stenosis, a narrowing of the blood vessel, and vessel dilation (an aneurysm), an expansion of the blood vessel, are two medical conditions that can be visually diagnosed with vascular angiography. An example, shown in Fig 1-2, depicts the cerebral angiogram of a patient suffering from an aneurysm extending off the anterior communicating artery.

The majority of catheter-based treatment for arterial stenosis is performed in the coronary arteries by interventional cardiologists. In these procedures, a guidewire is carefully pushed across the atherosclerotic plaque, and then an angioplasty balloon catheter is slide over the guidewire until the angioplasty balloon covers the plaque. At

this time, the angioplasty balloon is inflated, pushing the arteriosclerotic plaque outwards against the vessel wall, thus opening the artery. Application of a stent, a metallic mesh, is often used in combination with an angioplasty balloon to reduce potential re-stenosis of the vessel. Deployment of the stent involves mounting the stent on an angioplasty balloon, and then positioning the angioplasty balloon and stent across the atherosclerotic plaque. As the angioplasty balloon is inflated, the stent expands. Once the stent has been expanded fully, the balloon is deflated, and the catheter withdrawn, leaving the expanded stent in place to act as a support structure for the diseased artery.

The carotid bifurcation is another vascular location that suffers atherosclerotic plaque build up. Due to the risk of a cerebral infarct caused by atherosclerotic plaque rupture during catheter-based treatment, surgical angioplasty is still the preferred treatment method. Advances in stent technology, catheter and guidewire construction, and interventional technique, have enable catheter-based intervention in patients deemed too risky for surgical intervention [23, 24].

Treatment of an aneurysm is typically performed by interventional radiologists, and commonly employs coil "depositing" to form thrombi, as first demonstrated by Guglielmi *et al.* [25, 26]. These procedures consist of carefully placing the catheter at the base of the aneurysm, then depositing small coils through the catheter into the aneurysm. The body responds to the presence of the coils by forming a blood clot around the coils, thus blocking blood flow through the aneurysm.

The stated treatments of vessel stenosis and dilation are briefly described here, but the general interventional concept remains the same – manipulating the catheter towards the site of interest by pushing, pulling and twisting the catheter under fluoroscopic x-ray guidance, and then performing the medical treatment.

1.1.3 Cardiac Arrhythmia

Diagnosis and treatment of cardiac arrhythmia is a PTC procedure that has gained prevalence over the past three decades. A cardiac arrhythmia occurs when abnormal electrical signals in the heart cause the mechanical pumping of each heart chamber to lose synchrony. An arrhythmia can lead to nausea, dizziness, stroke and sudden cardiac arrest. Atrial fibrillation (AF) is the most common form of cardiac arrhythmia, affecting 1% of the general population, and 4% of people over the age of 65 [27]. The underlying AF mechanism is beyond the scope of this thesis, readers interested in this topic are encourage to read Clifford Garratt's book "Mechanisms and Management of Cardiac Arrhythmias" [27]. Many other cardiac arrhythmia's exist and are classified by the location where the abnormal signals originate and how the abnormal signal propagates through the heart (i.e. sinus tachycardia, atrial tachycardia, atrial flutter, junctional tachycardia and ventricular tachycardia) [28-30].

Treatment of cardiac arrhythmia includes; drug therapy, surgery, and most commonly catheter-based RF ablation. Traditionally, drug therapy is prescribed to reduce arrhythmic occurrence by controlling the heart rate of the patient. The results of drug therapy are generally poor, requiring the cardiologist to constantly adjust pharmaceutical dose levels [31, 32]. The minimally invasive nature of catheter ablation, combined with the high success rate of treatment, has lead to catheter-based ablation as the preferred method of treatment for the vast majority of cardiac arrhythmia [33, 34].

Successful treatment of AF using RF ablation ranges from 80-100% [32, 35-41]. These rates are highly dependent on the ability of the interventionalist to reach the arrhythmic site, and then control the catheter while creating a lesion in the tissue to cutoff the arrhythmic circuit. The process of confirming the arrhythmic location and then applying RF energy to create a lesion is iterative in nature, leading to long procedure times, and thus increased radiation exposure to the interventionalist, patient and staff.

The long procedure times associated with the RF ablation of cardiac arrhythmia, combined with increased prevalence of these procedures makes remote catheter navigation for these procedures an ideal choice. Thus, the majority of remote navigation systems presented in the subsequent sections deal with remote catheter navigation to diagnose and treat cardiac arrhythmia.

1.2 Literature Review: Remote Catheter Navigation Systems

A number of remote catheter navigation systems (RCNS) have recently become available commercially or developed independently in an academic setting. The general operational approach of each system is similar; the interventionalist uses a specialized

peripheral input device connected to a control console, located in a radiation safe area, to control the remote catheter placed inside the patient. The interventionalist uses conventional fluoroscopic x-ray imaging during the procedure to visualize the intravascular catheter. This approach, commonly termed a master-slave system, requires two specialized components: the master device; generally referred to in this thesis as a peripheral input device, and a slave device, required to manipulate the remote catheter. This section provides a literature review of current RCNS, starting with the two most popular navigation systems: Magnetic Guidance System (MGS, Stereotaxis Inc, St. Louis, MO, USA), and the Sensei Catheter Controlled Sheath (CCS, Hansen Medical Inc., Mountain View, CA, USA), followed by other navigation systems described in the literature. Articles published by Schmidt et al. and Chun et al. [42, 43] describe the operation and evolution of both the MGS and CCS systems, from first in vivo testing in animal models, to recent clinical trials, as well as the strengths and weaknesses of both systems. Both these articles provide a foundation for a review of the MGS system, and the CCS system, described in the following sections.

1.2.1 Magnetic Catheter Navigation

The concept of magnetic catheter navigation has been around for over half a century, a review on the historical development of magnetic navigation was published by Mitchell Faddis and Bruce Lindsay [44]. Magnetic catheter navigation was first described in 1951, by H. Tillander [45]. In this method of remote navigation, a catheter with a steel

articulated tip was navigated through the vasculature using an external magnet. In 1956, H. Tillander improved this navigation technique by incorporating a lumen within the catheter for contrast injection [46]. Montgomery *et al.* from the National Magnet Laboratory [47, 48] further improved this remote navigation method by implementing an array of compact yet powerful superconducting magnets, which via superposition, could direct the magnetic field onto the catheter, increasing the magnetic force on the catheter, to allow for tip orientation through tortuous vessels. The first in-human demonstration of remote catheter navigation was conducted by Ram and Meyer in 1991, using a simple permanent magnet system proposed by Tillander [49]. Howard *et al.* [50, 51] built and patented the first multi-coil electromagnetic system incorporating six orthogonal magnets, a user interface for the operator, and the ability to register real-time fluoroscopic images to a preoperative Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) image of the brain, and demonstrated the application of this system in cerebral catheter navigation.

Magnetic catheter guidance in coronary arteries using the commercially available MGS, depicted in Fig. 1-3, has been successfully demonstrated in humans, leading to the use of magnetic guidance in percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) [52-55], and navigation of the cerebral and peripheral vasculatures [56, 57]. Faddis *et al.* [58] performed the first *in vivo* RF ablation of common arrhythmic sites in canine and porcine models.

Magnetic catheter guidance has been predominately used in the treatment of cardiac arrhythmia. Application of this technology towards cardiac arrhythmia treatment is not coincidental, as RF ablation is becoming the preferred method to treat cardiac arrhythmia, but suffers from both, long procedure times and long fluoroscopic times. These factors, combined with increases in the number of annual procedures performed have increased the occupational risk to interventional electrophysiologists. Various types of cardiac arrhythmia have been treated using magnetic guidance, such as AtrioVentricular Nodal Re-entrant Tachycardia (AVNRT) [59], right anterolateral Accessory Pathway (AP) [60], left side AP using the retrograde approach [61, 62], and left side Ventricular Tachycardia (VT) [63-65].


Fig. 1-3: The MGS system by Stereotaxis Inc. Two large magnets, mounted on mechanical arms, create a magnetic field inside the patient. Changes in the orientation of these large magnets, causes a change in the magnetic field. To achieve remote manipulation, a small magnet is placed at the tip of the catheter, and the catheter is placed in the magnetic field. The operator inputs a 3D vector in the control console, which then changes the magnetic field gradient in the patient's chest. The small magnet in the catheters tip aligns to the changed magnetic field, causing the catheters tip to deflect. (Reprinted from Patterson *et al.* 2006, permission in Appendix B)

The question of "how well" magnetic catheter navigation compares with conventional catheter navigation is a logical question that must be asked to justify widespread deployment and use of this technology. Direct comparison studies between magnetic catheter navigation and conventional catheter navigation have been conducted in both anthropomorphic and non-anthropomorphic models. Three metrics are typically used in these studies: 1) navigation efficacy – the ability to traverse a given path, 2) navigation time, and 3) fluoroscopic dose. Using a non-anthropomorphic phantom constructed of glass, Schiemann et al. [66] demonstrated equivalent navigation efficacy between magnetic catheter navigation and conventional catheter navigation, after a single operator, with more than five years clinical experience, was provided with six months of training using magnetic catheter guidance. Krings' et al. [67] performed a comparison study using three phantoms, and four operators of varying levels of interventional experience. The clinically experienced operators in Krings study performed similarly using both magnetic and conventional catheter navigation, while less clinically experienced operators performed better with the magnetic catheter navigation system. Krings study demonstrates that prior clinical experience is the dominant factor affecting navigation speed. Other comparative studies conclude with similar results (Ramcharitar et al. [68] and Garcia-Garcia et al. [69]), demonstrating equivalent navigation efficacy between magnetic catheter guidance and conventional catheter navigation and comparable navigation time, but only after significant training and experience using the magnetic catheter navigation system.

In vivo comparative studies have been conducted using magnetic catheter navigation to ablate arrhythmic sites in humans [60, 62, 70, 71]. Kim *et al.* [72] retrospectively analyzed 721 arrhythmia cases treated with RF ablation that used either magnetic navigation or conventional catheter navigation. Their results showed no significant difference in the mean fluoroscopic time required to navigate and treat arrhythmia, between navigation methods. However, magnetic catheter navigation required a mean increase of 89 minutes in overall procedure time, compared with conventional catheter navigation.

The increased procedure time required for magnetic catheter navigation may be attributed to the new skills required by the interventionalist to effectively operate the navigation system. During magnetic catheter navigation, the operator super-imposes a 3D vector, corresponding to the catheter's tip, onto a pre-operative Computed Tomography (CT), MRI, or an angiographic image, which is preloaded into the navigation software. After the interventionalist inputs the desired movement, changes in the catheter's tip take between 1-3 seconds to occur [58], increasing procedure time.

Lack of bi-plane and oblique imaging may influence the increased procedure time using magnetic catheter guidance. Due to the position of the large permanent magnets, adjacent to the patient bed, bi-plane imaging of the patient is not possible during intravascular navigation. The large size of the magnets places a mechanical constraint on oblique anterior-posterior images, limiting rotation of the x-ray gantry to $\pm 30^{\circ}$. This limitation, along with removing the catheter from the hands of the interventionalist changes the workflow of the intervention, and thus requires the interventionalist and other staff to modify the intervention to include the use of this technology.

Magnetic catheters are softer than conventional EP catheters, to allow for magnetic deflection, and are not available with non-irrigated tips. The malleability of these catheters can cause entanglement on the papillary musculature, causing prolapse on the catheter-tip, shown during retrograde access and ablation of left-side AP [62]; a procedure that was successfully completed after reversion to conventional catheter navigation. The inability to irrigate the catheter during intervention can cause charring at the catheter-tip. These catheter-specific limitations may be addressed in the next generation of magnetic-tipped catheters.

Other limitations of this technology, elegantly described by Schmidt *et al.* [42], include: exclusion of patients with metallic implants (i.e. pacemaker), system cost, and restricted to integration with CARTO (BioSense Webster Inc., Diamond Bar, CA, USA), an electro-anatomical mapping system. Furthermore, the magnetic component of this system may require special shielding in the procedure room, an additional capital cost.

A reduction in overall procedure time to levels comparable with conventional catheter navigation is achievable, as the operator gains experienced using the magnetic guidance system [70, 72-74]. For ablation treatment of arrhythmia, even after training on the magnetic guidance system, resulting in comparable navigation times, no improved benefit to patient outcome has been reported. In fact, Di Biase *et al.* [71] state the present magnetic technology shows feasibility for arrhythmia treatment, but effective lesions are difficult to create, affecting the cure rate of AF patients.

1.2.2 Robotic Controlled Catheterization

Currently, the second most popular remote catheter navigation system described in the literature is the Sensei Robotic Catheter Navigation System by Hansen Medical Inc. (Mountain View, CA, USA). This catheter navigation system is relatively new, receiving FDA approval for clinical use in 2007. Thus, the majority of literature describing experience with this system is limited to animal models, and pilot studies.

Operation of the Sensei has been detailed previously [75]. Sensei is an electromechanical system composed of two steerable sheath catheters, the ablation catheter, an articulated robotic arm, and a workstation. An outer steerable sheath (14F) and inner steerable sheath (10.5F) each contain a pull-wire mechanism that allows both sheaths, in combination, to control the tip of a standard ablation catheter. The robotic arm controls the pull-wire mechanism, based on motions of the stylus, via the workstation. This system is commonly referred in the literature as a Computer Controlled Sheath (CCS) and is depicted in Fig. 1-4.



Fig. 1-4: The Sensei Remote Catheter Navigation by Hansen Medical Inc. The physician manipulates a stylus, placed on a remote console (right). Motion of the stylus is transferred to a robotic arm, which then manipulates the Artisan, steerable sheaths (left). (Reprinted from Kanagaratnam *et al.* 2008, permission in Appendix B)

Saliba *et al.* [76] used the CCS system, in conjunction with intracardiac echocardiography (ICE) and CARTO to successfully map the 3D electro-anatomical activity of five predefined targets in each of the four heart chambers of canine models. In addition, the authors demonstrated the first remote trans-septal puncture. Clinically, arrhythmia treatment using the CCS has been successful in the treatment of AP, Atrial Flutter (AFL), and AF [77, 78].

To date, only one published study compares remote ablation using the CCS with conventional catheter navigation, in 50 randomized patients suffering from AFL (25 patients per group) [79]. Fluoroscopic time, X-ray dose, and RF ablation duration were

lower with the CCS, reducing patient and staff exposure, while overall procedure time was significantly higher with the CCS, but decreased as operators gained experience with the navigation system. These results are consistent with experiences with the MGS.

The review paper by Schmidt *et al.* [42] list current limitations of the CCS as: no ability to access the coronary sinus, the large sheath required, and system cost.

1.2.3 Other Remote Catheter Navigation Systems

In addition to the MGS and CCS navigation systems, other remote navigation systems have been described recently. The infancy of this field has yielded limited publications describing system operation, and both *in vitro*, and *in vivo* validation. This section provides an overview of these systems.

Corindus Inc. (Natick, MA, USA) has developed a remote navigation system, called CorPath, which utilizes a joystick, touchscreen, workstation, and mechanical transmission module [80-82]. The operator uses a touch screen in conjunction with a simple joystick, to control advance, retract, and rotation of a remotely placed catheter. Pilot studies have demonstrated the ability to navigate balloon/stent catheters in a sheep model [82] using generic catheters and guidewires. Clinical trials have shown successful remote deployment of stents in the coronary arteries in 15 out of 17 cases, with the two failed cases completed manually [81]. At present, no further information regarding this navigation system is available.

22

Three other navigation systems have been also been described. Negoro *et al.* [83] described a simple navigation system comprising of a force-feedback joystick, workstation, and mechanical transmission module. Contained in the mechanical transmission module are strain gauges to measure force exerted on the catheter, which are then used to provide tactile sensation to the operator. Fukasaku *et al.* [84] proposed the use of two PHANTOM (SensAble Technologies, Woburn, MA, USA), Virtual Reality (VR) stylus devices, containing tactile sensors, connected in a master-slave configuration. A catheter or guidewire, fixed to the slave VR device, replicates motion exerted by the operator on the master VR device. Force exerted by the vasculature on the catheter is measured by the slave VR device, and transferred to the operator, via the master VR device. Cercenlli *et al.* [85] described the operation of a tele-robotic system, where the operator uses a robotic hand to control an EP catheter. Initial experiments *in vivo* demonstrate the ability to navigate an EP catheter to the high RA, tricuspid annulus, lateral-wall of the RA, and RA septum.

1.3 Design Approach: Remote Catheter Navigation System

At present, both the MGS system and CCS system have not shown a benefit towards patient outcome, in catheter-based treatment of arrhythmia. This is expected, as many of these procedures occur with a high success rate using the conventional navigation approach. Instead, these navigation systems demonstrate comparable navigation efficacy with conventional, bedside catheter manipulation, but only after sufficient training on the systems use.

The primary benefit of remote navigation, then, is the ability to reduce cumulative radiation exposure to the interventionalist, by increasing the distance between them and patient during intravascular navigation of the catheter. Furthermore, remote navigation should also reduce musculoskeletal injury, by reducing time required to stand next to the patient bed, while wearing heavy lead garments.

This thesis covers the design, implementation, and validation of a tele-operated catheter navigation system, which aims to achieve the same benefits as other navigation systems, namely reduced cumulative radiation exposure to interventional specialists, and reduced musculoskeletal injury, but with minimal operator training. In addition, the RCNS should easily integrate with existing fluoroscopic X-ray suites, and take advantage of generic catheters, thereby minimizing the interruption to conventional workflow.

The RCNS proposed aims to utilize the dexterous skills and eye-hand coordination of an experienced interventionalist during remote catheter navigation, by keeping the catheter in the hands of the interventional specialist. To achieve this, the RCNS has been developed as a conventional master-slave system, with a specialized peripheral input device (master) that accepts a local catheter, instead of a joystick, touch screen, or any other non-intuitive peripheral device, to control a remotely placed, patient catheter. Manoeuvres applied by an interventionalist during conventional bedside navigation, are



Fig. 1-5: The RCNS concept of operation. The interventional physician stands outside the procedure room, applying the same push, pull, and twist motions to the input catheter. A special peripheral input device measures these motions, and then via a workstation, replicates the motion with a patient catheter, using a second specialized catheter-actuating device. Standard fluoroscopic x-ray images provide image guidance.

instead applied to the local catheter. The kinematics applied to the input catheter, measured by the peripheral input device are transferred, via a workstation, to a manipulating device that replicates the same motion on the patient catheter. The proposed method of remote navigation is depicted in Fig. 1-5. Throughout this thesis, the peripheral input device (master device) is referred to as the Catheter Sensor (CS), and the actuating device is referred to as the Catheter Manipulator (CM).

By utilizing the same manoeuvres applied during conventional, bedside navigation, remote catheter navigation with this system will reduce the occupational risk to

intervening physician, while providing comparable navigation efficacy with conventional, bedside navigation, after only minimal operator training.

1.3.1 Thesis Scope

The design, implementation, validation and *in vivo* demonstration of a tele-operated catheter navigation system will be discussed in this thesis. Due to the many PTC procedures which require the handling of both a guidewire and a catheter, the tele-operated catheter navigation system described in this thesis will focus on the remote manipulation of RF ablation catheters for the diagnosis and treatment of cardiac arrhythmia. These procedures do not require a guidewire during manipulation, thus implementation of the RCNS is simplified to manipulation of a single catheter. Furthermore, for clinical use the device must be sterilized after each intervention. This requirement will not be addressed in this thesis. Instead, this thesis will describe the development and validation of a prototype remote navigation system for "proof of concept" purposes.

1.4 Thesis Outline

This thesis is divided into six chapters. This chapter introduces the reader to the risks associated with PTC procedures, the different types PTC interventions, and the state of the art in remote catheter navigation systems.

The mode of remote navigation proposed, namely – remote catheter navigation via sensing and replicating the motion of a local catheter – requires an understanding of the range of forces, torques, velocities and accelerations an operator can apply to the catheter. Chapter 2 presents a series of bench-top experiments to quantify the range of external dynamics applied by an operator to a catheter. This chapter has been published in a paper entitled: "Characterization of Catheter Dynamics During Percutaneous Transluminal Procedures," IEEE Transactions in Biomedical Engineering, vol. 56(8), pg's 2140-2143, August 2009.

Chapter 3 of this thesis utilizes the results from Chapter 2 to design and construct the RCNS. In addition to describing the RCNS, Chapter 3 also describes a series of benchtop experiments to evaluate the performance of the RCNS. This chapter has been published in a paper entitled: "Design and Performance Evaluation of a Remote Catheter Navigation System," IEEE Transactions in Biomedical Engineering, vol. 56(7), pg's 1901-1908, July 2009.

Chapter 4 of this thesis evaluates how well catheter navigation with the RCNS compares with conventional bedside navigation, in a multi-operator trial, utilizing a custom fabricated 2D multi-path phantom. A manuscript of this chapter entitled: "Catheter Navigation Efficacy of a Tele-Operator Catheter Navigation System: Experimental Results in a Multi-Path Phantom," has been submitted to the journal, Radiology, (Submission #RAD-09-1965).

Chapter 5 of this thesis evaluates the safety and feasibility of *in vivo* application of the RCNS, by emulating treatment of cardiac arrhythmia in porcine models. In addition, this chapter examines the impact of the RCNS on workflow and compares *in vivo* navigation of the RCNS with conventional guidance. Based on this chapter, a manuscript is in preparation for the journal Circulation.

Finally, Chapter 6 summarizes the contributions and limitations of this thesis. Future work, based on the results and experience gained during the development of this RCNS are considered.

References

- [1] M. G. Bourassa, "The history of cardiac catheterization," *Can J Cardiol*, vol. 21, pp. 1011-4, Oct 2005.
- [2] J. L. Bosch, M. T. Beinfeld, J. E. Muller, T. Brady, and G. S. Gazelle, "A costeffectiveness analysis of a hypothetical catheter-based strategy for the detection and treatment of vulnerable coronary plaques with drug-eluting stents," *J Interv Cardiol*, vol. 18, pp. 339-49, Oct 2005.
- [3] M. A. Hlatky, D. B. Boothroyd, K. A. Melsop, M. M. Brooks, D. B. Mark, B. Pitt, G. S. Reeder, W. J. Rogers, T. J. Ryan, P. L. Whitlow, and R. D. Wiens, "Medical costs and quality of life 10 to 12 years after randomization to angioplasty or bypass surgery for multivessel coronary artery disease.[see comment]," *Circulation*, vol. 110, pp. 1960-6, Oct 5 2004.
- [4] W. Maier, S. Windecker, E. Boersma, and B. Meier, "Evolution of percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty in Europe from 1992-1996," *Eur Heart J*, vol. 22, pp. 1733-40, Sep 2001.
- [5] W. C. Sheldon, "Trends in cardiac catheterization laboratories in the United States," *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv*, vol. 53, pp. 40-5, May 2001.
- [6] M. G. Stabin, "Radiation Protection and Dosimetry," New York: Springer, 2008, pp. 81-104.
- [7] S. L. McFadden, R. B. Mooney, and P. H. Shepherd, "X-ray dose and associated risks from radiofrequency catheter ablation procedures," *Br J Radiol*, vol. 75, pp. 253-65, Mar 2002.
- [8] Anonymous, "General principles for the radiation protection of workers," Ann ICRP, vol. 27, pp. 1-60, 1997.
- [9] L. Renaud, "A 5-y follow-up of the radiation exposure to in-room personnel during cardiac catheterization," *Health Phys*, vol. 62, pp. 10-5, Jan 1992.
- [10] R. Padovani and C. A. Rodella, "Staff dosimetry in interventional cardiology," *Radiat Prot Dosim*, vol. 94, pp. 99-103, 2001.
- [11] V. Tsapaki, S. Kottou, S. Patsilinakos, V. Voudris, and D. V. Cokkinos, "Radiation dose measurements to the interventional cardiologist using an electronic personal dosemeter," *Radiat Prot Dosim*, vol. 112, pp. 245-9, 2004.
- [12] M. Delichas, K. Psarrakos, E. Molyvda-Athanassopoulou, G. Giannoglou, A. Sioundas, K. Hatziioannou, and E. Papanastassiou, "Radiation exposure to cardiologists performing interventional cardiology procedures," *Eur J Radiol*, vol. 48, pp. 268-73, Dec 2003.

- [13] M. Zorzetto, G. Bernardi, G. Morocutti, and A. Fontanelli, "Radiation exposure to patients and operators during diagnostic catheterization and coronary angioplasty.[see comment]," *Cathet Cardiovasc Diagn* vol. 40(4), pp. 348-51, Apr 1997.
- [14] L. S. Rosenthal, M. Mahesh, T. J. Beck, J. P. Saul, J. M. Miller, N. Kay, L. S. Klein, S. Huang, P. Gillette, E. Prystowsky, M. Carlson, R. D. Berger, J. H. Lawrence, P. Yong, and H. Calkins, "Predictors of fluoroscopy time and estimated radiation exposure during radiofrequency catheter ablation procedures," Am J Cardiol, vol. 82, pp. 451-8., Aug 15 1998.
- [15] A.J. Camm, J. Reid, M. Raphael, P. Wilde, R. Boyle, M. Clarke, S. Qureshi, M. Rothman, and A. Shaw, "Radiation hazards to the cardiologist. A report of a subcommittee of the British Cardiac Society.," *Brit Heart J*, vol. 70, pp. 489-96, Nov 1993.
- [16] M. Scanavacca, A. d'Avila, J. L. Velarde, J. B. Reolao, and E. Sosa, "Reduction of radiation exposure time during catheter ablation with the use of pulsed fluoroscopy," *Int J Cardiol*, vol. 63, pp. 71-4, Jan 5 1998.
- [17] G. Steffenino, V. Rossetti, F. Ribichini, A. Dellavalle, M. Garbarino, R. Cerati, A. Norbiato, and E. Uslenghi, "Short communication: staff dose reduction during coronary angiography using low framing speed," Br J Radiol, vol. 69, pp. 860-4, Sep 1996.
- [18] A. M. Ross, J. Segal, D. Borenstein, E. Jenkins, and S. Cho, "Prevalence of spinal disc disease among interventional cardiologists," Am J Cardiol, vol. 79(1), pp. 68-70, 1997.
- [19] E. Vano, "Radiation exposure to cardiologists: how it could be reduced.[comment]," *Heart*, vol. 89, pp. 1123-4, Oct 2003.
- [20] S. C. Grant, E. B. Faragher, A. P. Hufton, and D. H. Bennett, "Use of a remotely controlled mechanical pump for coronary arteriography: a study of radiation exposure and quality implications," *Br Heart J*, vol. 70, pp. 479-84, Nov 1993.
- [21] S. I. Seldinger and S. I. Seldinger, "Catheter replacement of the needle in percutaneous arteriography; a new technique," Acta Radiol, vol. 39, pp. 368-76, May 1953.
- [22] Z. C. J. Higgs, D. A. L. Macafee, B. D. Braithwaite, and C. A. Maxwell-Armstrong, "The Seldinger technique: 50 years on," *Lancet*, vol. 366, pp. 1407-9, Oct 15-21 2005.
- [23] C. J. White, C. R. Gomez, S. S. Iyer, M. Wholey, and J. S. Yadav, "Carotid stent placement for extracranial carotid artery disease: current state of the art," *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv*, vol. 51, pp. 339-46, Nov 2000.

- [24] G. K. Daniel, "Update of carotid stent trials," *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv*, vol. 68, pp. 803-11, Nov 2006.
- [25] G. Guglielmi, F. Vinuela, J. Dion, and G. Duckwiler, "Electrothrombosis of saccular aneurysms via endovascular approach. Part 2: Preliminary clinical experience.[see comment]," J Neurosurg, vol. 75, pp. 8-14, Jul 1991.
- [26] G. Guglielmi, F. Vinuela, I. Sepetka, and V. Macellari, "Electrothrombosis of saccular aneurysms via endovascular approach. Part 1: Electrochemical basis, technique, and experimental results," *J Neurosurg*, vol. 75, pp. 1-7, Jul 1991.
- [27] C. Garratt, "Mechanism and Management of Cardiac Arrhythmias," in Mechanism and Management of Cardiac Arrhythmias London: Blackwood BMJ Books, 2001, pp. 43-55.
- [28] M. A. Flemming, H. Oral, M. H. Kim, H. F. Tse, F. Pelosi, G. F. Michaud, B. P. Knight, S. A. Strickberger, and F. Morady, "Electrocardiographic predictors of successful ablation of tachycardia or bigeminy arising in the right ventricular outflow tract," Am J Cardiol, vol. 84, pp. 1266-8, 1999 Nov 15 1999.
- [29] F. Morady, A. H. Kadish, L. DiCarlo, W. H. Kou, S. Winston, M. deBuitlier, H. Calkins, S. Rosenheck, and J. Sousa, "Long-term results of catheter ablation of idiopathic right ventricular tachycardia.[see comment]," *Circulation*, vol. 82, pp. 2093-9, Dec 1990.
- [30] L. S. Klein, H. T. Shih, F. K. Hackett, D. P. Zipes, and W. M. Miles, "Radiofrequency catheter ablation of ventricular tachycardia in patients without structural heart disease," *Circulation*, vol. 85, pp. 1666-74, May 1992.
- [31] P. Jais, B. Cauchemez, L. Macle, E. Daoud, P. Khairy, R. Subbiah, M. Hocini, F. Extramiana, F. Sacher, P. Bordachar, G. Klein, R. Weerasooriya, J. Clementy, and M. Haissaguerre, "Catheter ablation versus antiarrhythmic drugs for atrial fibrillation: the A4 study," *Circulation*, vol. 118, pp. 2498-505, Dec 9 2008.
- [32] M. Rotter, P. Jais, S. Garrigue, P. Sanders, M. Hocini, L. F. Hsu, Y. Takahashi, T. Rostock, F. Sacher, J. Clementy, and M. Haissaguerre, "Clinical predictors of noninducibility of sustained atrial fibrillation after pulmonary vein isolation," J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol, vol. 16, pp. 1298-303, Dec 2005.
- [33] A. Verma and A. Natale, "Should atrial fibrillation ablation be considered firstline therapy for some patients? Why atrial fibrillation ablation should be considered first-line therapy for some patients," *Circulation*, vol. 112, pp. 1214-22; discussion 1231, Aug 23 2005.
- [34] O. M. Wazni, N. F. Marrouche, D. O. Martin, A. Verma, M. Bhargava, W. Saliba, D. Bash, R. Schweikert, J. Brachmann, J. Gunther, K. Gutleben, E. Pisano, D. Potenza, R. Fanelli, A. Raviele, S. Themistoclakis, A. Rossillo, A. Bonso, and A.

Natale, "Radiofrequency ablation vs antiarrhythmic drugs as first-line treatment of symptomatic atrial fibrillation: a randomized trial.[see comment]," *Jama*, vol. 293, pp. 2634-40, Jun 1 2005.

- [35] G. D. Veenhuyzen, S. Knecht, M. D. O'Neill, M. Wright, I. Nault, W. Rukshen, S. Miyazaki, F. Sacher, M. Hocini, P. Jais, and M. Haissaguerre, "Atrial tachycardias encountered during and after catheter ablation for atrial fibrillation: part I: classification, incidence, management," *Pacing Clin Electrophysiol*, vol. 32, pp. 393-8, Mar 2009.
- [36] C. Pappone, V. Santinelli, C. Pappone, and V. Santinelli, "Ablation of atrial fibrillation," *Curr Cardiol Rep*, vol. 8, pp. 343-6, Sep 2006.
- [37] C. Pappone, A. Radinovic, F. Manguso, G. Vicedomini, G. Ciconte, S. Sacchi, P. Mazzone, G. Paglino, S. Gulletta, S. Sala, and V. Santinelli, "Atrial fibrillation progression and management: a 5-year prospective follow-up study.[see comment]," *Heart Rhythm*, vol. 5, pp. 1501-7, Nov 2008.
- [38] M. D. O'Neill, P. Jais, Y. Takahashi, A. Jonsson, F. Sacher, M. Hocini, P. Sanders, T. Rostock, M. Rotter, A. Pernat, J. Clementy, and M. Haissaguerre, "The stepwise ablation approach for chronic atrial fibrillation--evidence for a cumulative effect," *J Interv Card Electrophysiol*, vol. 16, pp. 153-67, Sep 2006.
- [39] M. Haissaguerre, M. Hocini, P. Sanders, F. Sacher, M. Rotter, Y. Takahashi, T. Rostock, L. F. Hsu, P. Bordachar, S. Reuter, R. Roudaut, J. Clementy, and P. Jais, "Catheter ablation of long-lasting persistent atrial fibrillation: clinical outcome and mechanisms of subsequent arrhythmias.[see comment]," J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol, vol. 16, pp. 1138-47, Nov 2005.
- [40] M. Haissaguerre, M. Hocini, Y. Takahashi, M. D. O'Neill, A. Pernat, P. Sanders, A. Jonsson, M. Rotter, F. Sacher, T. Rostock, S. Matsuo, L. Arantes, K. Teng Lim, S. Knecht, P. Bordachar, J. Laborderie, P. Jais, G. Klein, and J. Clementy, "Impact of catheter ablation of the coronary sinus on paroxysmal or persistent atrial fibrillation," J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol, vol. 18, pp. 378-86, Apr 2007.
- [41] P. Sanders, M. Hocini, P. Jais, F. Sacher, L. F. Hsu, Y. Takahashi, M. Rotter, T. Rostock, C. J. Nalliah, J. Clementy, and M. Haissaguerre, "Complete isolation of the pulmonary veins and posterior left atrium in chronic atrial fibrillation. Long-term clinical outcome," *Eur Heart J*, vol. 28, pp. 1862-71, Aug 2007.
- [42] B. Schmidt, K. R. Chun, R. R. Tilz, B. Koektuerk, F. Ouyang, and K. H. Kuck, "Remote navigation systems in electrophysiology," *Europace*, vol. 10 Suppl 3, pp. iii57-61, Nov 2008.
- [43] K. R. Chun, B. Schmidt, B. Kokturk, R. Tilz, A. Furnkranz, M. Konstantinidou, E. Wissner, A. Metzner, F. Ouyang, K. H. Kuck, K. R. J. Chun, B. Schmidt, B.

Kokturk, R. Tilz, A. Furnkranz, M. Konstantinidou, E. Wissner, A. Metzner, F. Ouyang, and K.-H. Kuck, "Catheter ablation - new developments in robotics," *Herz*, vol. 33, pp. 586-9, Dec 2008.

- [44] M. N. Faddis and B. D. Lindsay, "Magnetic catheter manipulation," *Coronary Artery Dis*, vol. 14, pp. 25-7, Feb 2003.
- [45] H. Tillander, "Magnetic guidance of a catheter with articulated steel tip.," Acta Radiol, vol. 35, pp. 62-64, 1951.
- [46] H. Tillander, "Selective angiography of the abdominal aorta with a guided catheter.," *Acta Radiol*, vol. 45, pp. 21-26, 1956.
- [47] D. B. Montgomery, J. R. Hale, N. T. Pierce, and S. B. Yodh, "Magnetically Guided Catheter System for Intracranial Use in Man," *IEEE T Magn*, pp. 374-5, 1970.
- [48] D. B. Montgomery and R. J. Weggel, "Magnetic Forces for Medical Applications," *IEEE T Magn*, p. 374, 1970.
- [49] W. Ram and H. Meyer, "Heart catheterization in a neonate by interacting magnetic fields: a new and simple method of catheter guidance," *Catheter Cardio Diag*, vol. 22, pp. 317-9, Apr 1991.
- [50] M. A. Howard, M. Mayberg, M. S. Grady, R. C. Ritter, and G. T. Gillies, "Magnetic Stereotactic System For Treatment Delivery." vol. 5125888, U. S. P. a. T. Office, Ed. United States of America: The University of Virginai Alumni Patents Foundation, 1992, p. 17.
- [51] M. S. Grady, M. A. Howard, 3rd, J. A. Molloy, R. C. Ritter, E. G. Quate, and G. T. Gillies, "Nonlinear magnetic stereotaxis: three-dimensional, in vivo remote magnetic manipulation of a small object in canine brain," *Med Phys*, vol. 17, pp. 405-15, May-Jun 1990.
- [52] S. Ramcharitar, M. S. Patterson, R. J. van Geuns, C. van Meighem, and P. W. Serruys, "Technology Insight: magnetic navigation in coronary interventions," *Nat Clin Pract Card*, vol. 5, pp. 148-56, Mar 2008.
- [53] M. S. Patterson, J. Schotten, C. van Mieghem, F. Kiemeneij, and P. W. Serruys, "Magnetic navigation in percutaneous coronary intervention," *J Interv Cardiol*, vol. 19, pp. 558-65, Dec 2006.
- [54] A. J. Ijsselmuiden, M. S. Patterson, F. C. van Nooijen, G. Tangelder, M. T. Dirksen, G. Amoroso, T. Slagboom, P. W. Serruys, G. J. Laarman, and F. Kiemeneij, "Magnetically navigated percutaneous coronary intervention in dislat and/or complex lesions may improve procedural outcome and material consumption," *EuroIntervention*, vol. 4, pp. 517-523, Apr 2009.

- [55] S. R. Atmakuri, E. I. Lev, C. Alviar, E. Ibarra, A. E. Raizner, S. L. Solomon, and N. S. Kleiman, "Initial experience with a magnetic navigation system for percutaneous coronary intervention in complex coronary artery lesions," J Am Coll Cardiol, vol. 47, pp. 515-21, Feb 7 2006.
- [56] M. S. Grady, M. A. Howard, 3rd, R. G. Dacey, Jr., W. Blume, M. Lawson, P. Werp, and R. C. Ritter, "Experimental study of the magnetic stereotaxis system for catheter manipulation within the brain," *J Neurosurg*, vol. 93, pp. 282-8, Aug 2000.
- [57] L. Grosse-Wortmann, R. Grabitz, and M. C. Seghaye, "Magnetic guide-wire navigation in pulmonary and systemic arterial catheterization: initial experience in pigs," vol. 18, pp. 545-51, Apr 2007.
- [58] M. N. Faddis, W. Blume, J. Finney, A. Hall, J. Rauch, J. Sell, K. T. Bae, M. Talcott, and B. Lindsay, "Novel, magnetically guided catheter for endocardial mapping and radiofrequency catheter ablation," *Circulation*, vol. 106, pp. 2980-5, Dec 3 2002.
- [59] S. Ernst, F. Ouyang, C. Linder, K. Hertting, F. Stahl, J. Chun, H. Hachiya, D. Bansch, M. Antz, and K. H. Kuck, "Initial experience with remote catheter ablation using a novel magnetic navigation system: magnetic remote catheter ablation," *Circulation*, vol. 109, pp. 1472-5, Mar 30 2004.
- [60] J. K. Chun, B. Schmidt, K. H. Kuck, and S. Ernst, "Remote-controlled magnetic ablation of a right anterolateral accessory pathway the superior caval vein approach," *J Interv Card Electrophysiol*, vol. 16, pp. 65-8, Jun 2006.
- [61] A. S. Thornton and L. Jordaens, "A left-sided accessory pathway revisited with remote retrograde magnetic navigation," *Pacing Clin Electrophysiol*, vol. 30, pp. 573-6, Apr 2007.
- [62] J. K. Chun, S. Ernst, S. Matthews, B. Schmidt, D. Bansch, S. Boczor, A. Ujeyl, M. Antz, F. Ouyang, and K. H. Kuck, "Remote-controlled catheter ablation of accessory pathways: results from the magnetic laboratory," *Eur Heart J*, vol. 28, pp. 190-5, Jan 2007.
- [63] A. Aryana, A. d'Avila, E. K. Heist, T. Mela, J. P. Singh, J. N. Ruskin, and V. Y. Reddy, "Remote magnetic navigation to guide endocardial and epicardial catheter mapping of scar-related ventricular tachycardia," *Circulation*, vol. 115, pp. 1191-200, Mar 2007.
- [64] A. S. Thornton, J. Res, J. M. Mekel, and L. J. Jordaens, "Use of advanced mapping and remote magnetic navigation to ablate left ventricular fascicular tachycardia," *Pacing Clin Electrophysiol*, vol. 29, pp. 685-8, Jun 2006.

- [65] J. D. Burkhardt, W. I. Saliba, R. A. Schweikert, J. Cummings, and A. Natale, "Remote magnetic navigation to map and ablate left coronary cusp ventricular tachycardia," *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol*, vol. 17, pp. 1142-4, Oct 2006.
- [66] M. Schiemann, R. Killmann, M. Kleen, N. Abolmaali, J. Finney, and T. J. Vogl, "Vascular guide wire navigation with a magnetic guidance system: experimental results in a phantom," *Radiology*, vol. 232, pp. 475-81, Aug 2004.
- [67] T. Krings, J. Finney, P. Niggemann, P. Reinacher, N. Luck, A. Drexler, J. Lovell, A. Meyer, R. Sehra, P. Schauerte, M. Reinges, F. J. Hans, and A. Thron, "Magnetic versus manual guidewire manipulation in neuroradiology: in vitro results," *Neuroradiology*, vol. 48, pp. 394-401, Jun 2006.
- [68] S. Ramcharitar, M. S. Patterson, R. J. van Geuns, M. van der Ent, G. Sianos, G. M. Welten, R. T. van Domburg, and P. W. Serruys, "A randomised controlled study comparing conventional and magnetic guidewires in a two-dimensional branching tortuous phantom simulating angulated coronary vessels," *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv*, vol. 70, pp. 662-8, Nov 1 2007.
- [69] H. M. Garcia-Garcia, K. Tsuchida, H. Meulenbrug, A. T. Ong, W. J. van der Giessen, and P. W. Serruys, "Magnetic Navigation in a coronary phantom: experimental results," *EuroIntervention*, vol. 1, pp. 321-328, Nov. 2005.
- [70] A. S. Thornton, M. Rivero-Ayerza, P. Knops, and L. J. Jordaens, "Magnetic navigation in left-sided AV reentrant tachycardias: preliminary results of a retrograde approach," J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol, vol. 18, pp. 467-72, May 2007.
- [71] L. Di Biase, T. S. Fahmy, D. Patel, R. Bai, K. Civello, O. M. Wazni, M. Kanj, C. S. Elayi, C. K. Ching, M. Khan, L. Popova, R. A. Schweikert, J. E. Cummings, J. D. Burkhardt, D. O. Martin, M. Bhargava, T. Dresing, W. Saliba, M. Arruda, and A. Natale, "Remote magnetic navigation: human experience in pulmonary vein ablation.," J Am Coll Cardiol, vol. 50, pp. 868-74, Aug 2007.
- [72] A. M. Kim, M. Turakhia, J. Lu, N. Badhwar, B. K. Lee, R. J. Lee, G. M. Marcus, Z. H. Tseng, M. Scheinman, and J. E. Olgin, "Impact of remote magnetic catheter navigation on ablation fluoroscopy and procedure time," *PACE*, vol. 31, pp. 1399-404, Nov 2008.
- [73] R. Kerzner, J. M. Sanchez, J. L. Osborn, J. Chen, M. N. Faddis, M. J. Gleva, B. D. Lindsay, and T. W. Smith, "Radiofrequency ablation of atrioventricular nodal reentrant tachycardia using a novel magnetic guidance system compared with a conventional approach," *Heart Rhythm*, vol. 3, pp. 261-7, Mar 2006.
- [74] C. Pappone, G. Vicedomini, F. Manguso, F. Gugliotta, P. Mazzone, S. Gulletta, N. Sora, S. Sala, A. Marzi, G. Augello, L. Livolsi, A. Santagostino, and V.

Santinelli, "Robotic magnetic navigation for atrial fibrillation ablation," *J Am Coll Cardiol*, vol. 47, pp. 1390-400, Apr 4 2006.

- [75] A. Al-Ahmad, J. D. Grossman, and P. J. Wang, "Early Experience with a Computerized Robotically Controlled Catheter System," J Interv Card Electr, vol. 12, pp. 199-202, April 2005.
- [76] W. Saliba, J. E. Cummings, S. Oh, Y. Zhang, T. N. Mazgalev, R. A. Schweikert, J. D. Burkhardt, and A. Natale, "Novel robotic catheter remote control system: feasibility and safety of transseptal puncture and endocardial catheter navigation," *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol*, vol. 17, pp. 1102-5, Oct 2006.
- [77] V. Y. Reddy, P. Neuzil, Z. J. Malchano, R. Vijaykumar, R. Cury, S. Abbara, J. Weichet, C. D. McPherson, and J. N. Ruskin, "View-synchronized robotic image-guided therapy for atrial fibrillation ablation: experimental validation and clinical feasibility," *Circulation*, vol. 115, pp. 2705-14, May 29 2007.
- [78] P. Kanagaratnam, M. Koa-Wing, D. T. Wallace, A. S. Goldenberg, N. S. Peters, and D. W. Davies, "Experience of robotic catheter ablation in humans using a novel remotely steerable catheter sheath," *J Interv Card Electrophysiol*, vol. 21, pp. 19-26, Jan 2008.
- [79] D. Steven, T. Rostock, H. Servatius, B. Hoffmann, I. Drewitz, K. Mullerleile, T. Meinertz, and S. Willems, "Robotic versus conventional ablation for common-type atrial flutter: a prospective randomized trial to evaluate the effectiveness of remote catheter navigation," *Heart Rhythm*, vol. 5, pp. 1556-60, Nov 2008.
- [80] Beyar and Dalia, "Remote Control Catheterization." vol. 6726675, U. S. P. a. T. Office, Ed. United States: Navicath Ltd., 1998.
- [81] R. Beyar, L. Gruberg, D. Deleanu, A. Roguin, Y. Almagor, S. Cohen, G. Kumar, and T. Wenderow, "Remote-control percutaneous coronary interventions: concept, validation, and first-in-humans pilot clinical trial," J Am Coll Cardiol, vol. 47, pp. 296-300, Jan 2006.
- [82] R. Beyar, T. Wenderow, D. Lindner, G. Kumar, and R. Shofti, "Concept, design and pre-clinical studies for remote control percutaneous coranary intervention," *EuroIntervention*, vol. 1, pp. 340-345, 2005.
- [83] M. Negoro, M. Tanimoto, F. Arai, T. Fukuda, K. Fukasaku, and I. Takahashi, "An intelligent catheter system robotic controlled catheter system.," *Interv Neuroradiol*, vol. 7, pp. 111-113, 2001.
- [84] K. Fukasaku, M. Negoro, and R. Himeno, "Remote Manipulation of Guidewire using a Virtual Reality Device," *Interv Neuroradiol*, vol. 7, pp. 29-34, 2001.

[85] L. Cercenelli, E. Marcelli, G. Plicchi, L. Cercenelli, E. Marcelli, and G. Plicchi, "Initial experience with a telerobotic system to remotely navigate and automatically reposition standard steerable EP catheters," *ASAIO Journal*, vol. 53, pp. 523-9, Sep-Oct 2007.

Chapter 2 :

Characterization of Catheter Dynamics During Percutaneous Transluminal Catheter Procedures¹

2.1 Introduction

Percutaneous transluminal catheter (PTC) procedures represent a minimally invasive approach to diagnose and treat vascular and cardiac diseases, including electrophysiological (EP) conditions. During these procedures, the interventionalist manipulates a catheter by applying a series of pushes, pulls and rotations to the catheter's shaft using fluoroscopic x-rays for image feedback. To reduce radiation exposure to the interventionalist and staff, numerous approaches and guidelines have been developed, including reducing the image frame-rate, employment of specific beam orientations, as well as the requirement that safety equipment, such as lead aprons and neck collars, be

^{1 © 2009} IEEE. Reprinted, with permission, from IEEE Transactions in Biomedical Engineering, Characterization of Catheter Dynamics During Percutaneous Transluminal Catheter Procedures, Thakur Y., Holdsworth D.W. and Drangova M., vol. 56(8):2140-2143, 2009.

worn by all staff [1]. Although safety equipment reduces exposure risk, long-term use can lead to development of chronic neck and back pain [2]. As the number of annual PTC procedures continues to increase [3, 4], the long-term associated risk to the interventionalist is greatly enhanced.

To reduce occupational risk, catheter navigation systems have been developed to enable PTC intervention from a location remote to the patient [5-7]. The common design of these systems is a master-slave control configuration in which the interventionalist sits at a console outside the procedure room and uses a peripheral input device (master) to manipulate the catheter with a specialized catheter manipulator (slave). The master device can range from a simple joystick [5], touch screen [5], or stylus [6, 8, 9] to more complex 3D vector inputs [7, 10-12]. For the slave device, mechanical transmission modules [5], a specialized mechanical catheter-sheath [6, 8, 9] or large magnets [7, 10-12] are used to drive the catheter through the vasculature. These remote catheter navigation systems have been successfully used to treat cardiac arrhythmia [6-9, 11, 12] and to place stents to open occluded coronary arteries [5].

Despite the recent development of remote catheter navigation systems, development has occurred with little fundamental knowledge of the catheter dynamics observed during intervention. Skilled operators must apply a range of forces to overcome friction between the catheter and an introducer sheath, which is required to introduce the catheter into the vasculature [13], and between the catheter and the vasculature. A series of axial motions (pushing and pulling of the catheter) and shaft rotations are performed to navigate the catheter through vascular branch points. Knowledge of the range of forces, torques, velocities and accelerations applied during interventional procedures, would enable catheter manipulators to be designed with performance characteristics similar to current bedside practice.

To address the need to quantify the kinematics range of catheter motion, a novel inline motion sensor that measures the catheters radial and axial position has been developed. This device has been used to characterize the range of axial and rotational kinematics applied by an interventionalist during catheter manipulation. Preliminary work characterizing this was previously shown in [14]. In addition to catheter kinematics, the range of force and torque applied to the catheter by an interventionalist is important, as the applied force allows them to overcome friction during the procedure. The maximum applied force and torque have also been characterized using a series of simple but appropriate bench-top experiments. This paper reports results on the range of kinematics undergone by the catheter during an interventional procedure, the minimum force and torque required to move the catheter and the maximum force and torque a user can apply to a catheter. Knowledge of these parameters promises to be useful in the design and optimization of remote catheter manipulation devices.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Kinematics Range

A study was performed to determine the range of velocity and acceleration of a catheter during an interventional procedure. To measure the axial and radial positions of a catheter, a device consisting of two independent optical encoders (US Digital, Vancouver, WA), each connected to an electronic counter (AD4®, US Digital, Vancouver, WA) capable of measuring up to 400 kHz count frequency, was constructed (Fig. 2-1). Measurement of radial motion was achieved by passing the catheter through three bearings coupled to one of the optical encoders, thereby providing a direct measurement of radial position (Fig. 2-1a). Measurement of axial motion was achieved by transducing the axial motion to a passive roller, which in turn rotated the second optical encoder (Fig. 2-1b).

Ten operators, five experienced interventionalists and five inexperienced users, each moved a 6 F EP catheter through the measurement device into a straight-tube phantom. The experienced interventionalists manipulated the catheter in both the axial and radial directions based on their professional training, while the inexperienced operators controlled the catheter without specific instruction. The axial and radial positions of the catheter were each sampled at 20-ms intervals and logged during the entire experiment. Each operator repeated the experiment five times; each trial lasted less than 1 minute. A



Fig. 2-1: Motion sensing device: a) catheter rotation is measured by rotating the optical encoder disk via 3 radial-friction bearings, and b) axial motion is measured as the catheter moves against a passive roller, which rotates the disk of a second optical encoder. Below each schematic is a photograph of the corresponding manufactured sensor.

three-sample moving boxcar average was applied to each motion profile prior to calculating maximum velocity and acceleration.

2.2.2 Minimum Required Force and Torque

As the catheter is navigated through the vasculature, an introducer sheath, used to insert the catheter into the vasculature [13], adds friction to the procedure, impeding



Fig. 2-2: Experimental setup to measure resistive force caused by introducer sheath in a) axial direction (vertical stand not shown), and b) radial direction.

motion. This friction represents the minimum force required to move the catheter during an interventional procedure.

To measure the axial and the radial friction exerted by the sheath on the catheter, the experimental apparatus shown in Fig. 2-2 was assembled. For the measurement of axial friction in (Fig. 2-2a), a mass was placed on a scale (PE3600, Mettler-Toledo, Columbus, OH) and attached, via a spring, to a 15-cm segment of a generic 6F angiographic catheter. The catheter segment was then inserted into an introducer sheath, which was fixed to a vertical stand. The scale was placed on a vertical stage (not shown), which enabled the mass to be lowered; at rest the scale measured the weight of the mass and as

the stage was lowered, force was applied to the catheter until it slipped within the introducer sheath. The applied force (F_a) was calculated by:

$$F_a = a_{gravity} \cdot [m_{mass} - m_{scale}], \quad \text{Eqn. 2-1}$$

where $a_{gravity}$ is the gravitational acceleration (9.81 m·s⁻²), m_{mass} is the baseline mass (500g), and m_{scale} is the scale reading recorded during the application of F_a .

The experimental setup to measure the radial friction is shown in Fig. 2-2b. In this configuration, the sheath was fixed inside a sleeve mounted on a radial bearing, which in turn was affixed to a stand. As torque (T_a) was applied to the catheter, the mass (m_{mass}) was lifted and Ta was calculated from the scale reading (m_{scale}) as follows:

$$T_a = r \cdot a_{gravity} [m_{mass} - m_{scale}]$$
. Eqn. 2-2

In Eqn. 2-2, r is the radius of the mounting sleeve (4.76 mm). The maximum applied force was the force measured when the catheter slipped within the introducer sheath.

The maximum applied axial force and radial torque were measured five times; the sheath and catheter were replaced following each measurement.

2.2.3 Maximum Applied Force and Torque

The ability of the interventionalist to manipulate the catheter corresponds directly to their capability to apply force and torque to the catheter. To measure the maximum userapplied axial force, we fixed one end of a 15-cm catheter segment to a force scale. Each user gripped the catheter's free end between their index finger and thumb, and then pulled the segment until the catheter slipped between their fingers. To measure the maximum user-applied torque, a setup similar to that described in Fig. 2-2b was used, but the catheter was attached directly to the mounting sleeve, without going through the introducer sheath. The user applied torque on the catheter until the catheter slipped in their fingers and their maximum applied torque was recorded. Both experiments were performed using 5 F and 6 F polyurethane catheters and a 6 F polyethylene catheter, which are commonly used in PTC interventions. Eight operators carried out each experiment. All participants wore surgical gloves to emulate the friction between the interventionalist's hands and the catheter during an actual clinical procedure.

2.2.4 Data Analysis

For all measurements, the mean and standard deviation were calculated. To determine if the catheter size or material affected the maximum applied radial torque and axial force, a paired t-test (two-tailed) was performed. An unpaired two-tailed t-test was used to compare the maximum kinematics of experienced and inexperienced users. All statistical analysis was performed using PrismTM 4 (GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA).

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Kinematics Range

The calculated values for maximum velocity and acceleration measured in the experienced and inexperienced operator groups are listed in Table 2-1. Statistical analysis found that inexperienced users reached higher radial velocities and accelerations (P < 0.05), when compared to the experienced interventionalists.

2.3.2 Minimum Required Force and Torque

To overcome the friction of the introducer sheath, an applied force of 0.29 ± 0.06 N and an applied torque of 1.15 ± 0.3 mN·m were required in the axial direction the radial direction, respectively.

	Axial		Radial	
	Velocity (mm·s ⁻¹)	Acceleration $(mm \cdot s^{-2})$	Velocity (rad·s ⁻¹)	Acceleration (rad·s ⁻²)
Experienced	300 ± 80	$16,000 \pm 7,000$	$11 \pm 9^*$	$500 \pm 365^{**}$
Inexperienced	360 ± 180	$22,000 \pm 14,000$	$19 \pm 7^*$	$900 \pm 510^{**}$

Table 2-1: Motion Profiling Results

Maximum kinematics observed by experienced interventionalists and inexperienced operators. Statistical analysis showed significant difference (P<0.05) between groups for the radial velocity (*) and acceleration (**).

2.3.3 Maximum Applied Force and Torque

The average measured torque applied by the eight users on the three different catheters was $8.4\pm1.0 \text{ mN}\cdot\text{m}$, $12.3\pm1.3 \text{ mN}\cdot\text{m}$, and $7.6\pm1.0 \text{ mN}\cdot\text{m}$ for the 5 F and 6 F polyurethane catheters and the 6 F polyethylene catheter, respectively. The maximum torque applied was 14.2 mN·m, which was achieved using the 6 F polyurethane catheter. Statistical analysis indicated that catheter material and catheter size significantly affect the maximum achievable torque applied to the catheter (P < 0.05).

In all cases, the maximum axial-force that a user could apply on a catheter exceeded 40 N; in some cases the catheter broke before the maximum force could be reached.

2.4 Discussion

In this study, we have determined the range of axial and radial velocities and accelerations that a catheter undergoes while being manipulated through the vasculature during traditional bedside PTC interventional procedures. An in-line motion sensor, which did not interfere with catheter motion, was constructed to make the measurements. Both experienced and inexperienced operators participated in the study in order to provide limits on the velocities/accelerations that would need to be replicated by remote catheter manipulators. The inexperienced users applied higher velocities and accelerations on the catheter, when compared to the experienced interventionalists,

47

although statistical significance was observed only for the radial acceleration and velocity.

The measured kinematics parameters set stringent limits on the design of remote catheter manipulator devices. The electrical and mechanical components of catheter manipulators must be selected based on their ability to deliver the required range of velocities and accelerations (Table 2-1). For example, using a mechanical transmission module, of a sufficiently compact size for clinical use, to produce the high velocities and accelerations encountered clinically will require careful motor selection and mechanical design. Motor selection, and by extension the mechanical design, is not trivial, as it is well known that motor velocity is inversely proportional to acceleration.

The forces and torques required to grip and manipulate a catheter through an introducer sheath were also characterized. These forces and torques place stringent requirements on the mechanical components used in the design of a catheter manipulator, specifically the components needed to grip and advance the catheter through the vasculature (e.g. rollers). Torques as high as 15 mN·m must be replicated in order to mimic the grip an interventionalist exerts while rotating a small-diameter catheter, well above the minimum torque required to overcome the friction required to rotate the catheter through an introducer sheath. The maximum axial force that a user could apply while gripping a catheter was above 40 N - a value that is not relevant to clinical application. The minimum force required to grip and axially advance the catheter should

be greater than the force required to advance the catheter through the introducer sheath at maximum acceleration, i.e. a minimum force of 2.5 N for a 100g catheter.

The present study was performed using a limited subset of catheter types, in terms of size, material, and construction. The maximum kinematics observed is not expected to vary with catheter size, but the ability to apply force/torque will likely be reduced using smaller-diameter catheters. Another potential study limitation is the use of a straight-tube rigid phantom during the kinematics study. Measurements in vivo or the use of an anthropomorphic phantom are not expected to affect the maximum kinematics, parameters which place the most stringent requirements on catheter manipulator design.

Knowledge of catheter dynamics, as presented, will enable the design of catheter manipulators that more closely replicate the interventionalist during remote PTC procedures. Other applications that will benefit from this knowledge include the design of training simulators, which have been developed [15, 16], but have relied on assumptions regarding the forces and kinematics applied to the catheter.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank our clinical collaborators: Dr. Raymond Yee, Dr. Allan Skanes, Dr. Rodney Allen, and Dr. Irene Gulka from the University Hospital in the London Health Sciences Centre for their expertise in this work. We also thank Hristo Nikolov and Jason Cakiroglu for their technical contributions towards this project.

49

References

- A.J. Camm, J. Reid, M. Raphael, P. Wilde, R. Boyle, M. Clarke, S. Qureshi, M. Rothman, and A. Shaw, "Radiation hazards to the cardiologist. A report of a subcommittee of the British Cardiac Society.," vol. 70, pp. 489-96, Nov 1993.
- [2] A. M. Ross, J. Segal, D. Borenstein, E. Jenkins, and S. Cho, "Prevalence of spinal disc disease among interventional cardiologists," Am J Cardiol, vol. 79, pp. 68-70, Jan. 1997.
- [3] W. Rosamond, K. Flegal, G. Friday, K. Furie, A. Go, K. Greenlund, N. Haase, M. Ho, V. Howard, B. Kissela, S. Kittner, D. Lloyd-Jones, M. McDermott, J. Meigs, C. Moy, G. Nichol, C. J. O'Donnell, V. Roger, J. Rumsfeld, P. Sorlie, J. Steinberger, T. Thom, S. Wasserthiel-Smoller, and Y. Hong, "Heart disease and stroke statistics--2007 update: a report from the American Heart Association Statistics Committee and Stroke Statistics Subcommittee," in *Circulation*. vol. 115, 2007, pp. e69-171.
- [4] W. Maier, S. Windecker, E. Boersma, and B. Meier, "Evolution of percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty in Europe from 1992-1996," *Eur Heart J*, vol. 22, pp. 1733-40, Sep 2001.
- [5] R. Beyar, L. Gruberg, D. Deleanu, A. Roguin, Y. Almagor, S. Cohen, G. Kumar, and T. Wenderow, "Remote-control percutaneous coronary interventions: concept, validation, and first-in-humans pilot clinical trial," J Am Coll Cardiol, vol. 47, pp. 296-300, Jan 17 2006.
- [6] A. Al-Ahmad, J. D. Grossman, P. J. Wang, A. Al-Ahmad, J. D. Grossman, and P. J. Wang, "Early experience with a computerized robotically controlled catheter system," *J Interv Card Electr*, vol. 12, pp. 199-202, Apr 2005.
- [7] M. N. Faddis, W. Blume, J. Finney, A. Hall, J. Rauch, J. Sell, K. T. Bae, M. Talcott, and B. Lindsay, "Novel, magnetically guided catheter for endocardial mapping and radiofrequency catheter ablation," *Circulation*, vol. 106, pp. 2980-5, Dec 3 2002.
- [8] V. Y. Reddy, P. Neuzil, Z. J. Malchano, R. Vijaykumar, R. Cury, S. Abbara, J. Weichet, C. D. McPherson, and J. N. Ruskin, "View-synchronized robotic image-guided therapy for atrial fibrillation ablation: experimental validation and clinical feasibility," *Circulation*, vol. 115, pp. 2705-14, May 29 2007.
- [9] W. Saliba, J. E. Cummings, S. Oh, Y. Zhang, T. N. Mazgalev, R. A. Schweikert, J. D. Burkhardt, and A. Natale, "Novel robotic catheter remote control system: feasibility and safety of transseptal puncture and endocardial catheter navigation," *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol*, vol. 17, pp. 1102-5, Oct 2006.

- [10] M. Schiemann, R. Killmann, M. Kleen, N. Abolmaali, J. Finney, and T. J. Vogl, "Vascular guide wire navigation with a magnetic guidance system: experimental results in a phantom," *Radiology*, vol. 232, pp. 475-81, Aug 2004.
- [11] S. Ernst, F. Ouyang, C. Linder, K. Hertting, F. Stahl, J. Chun, H. Hachiya, D. Bansch, M. Antz, and K. H. Kuck, "Initial experience with remote catheter ablation using a novel magnetic navigation system: magnetic remote catheter ablation," *Circulation*, vol. 109, pp. 1472-5, Mar 30 2004.
- [12] I. B. Ray, S. Dukkipati, C. Houghtaling, C. D. McPherson, N. Kastelein, J. N. Ruskin, and V. Y. Reddy, "Initial experience with a novel remote-guided magnetic catheter navigation system for left ventricular scar mapping and ablation in a porcine model of healed myocardial infarction," J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol, vol. 18, pp. 520-5, May 2007.
- [13] S. I. Seldinger and S. I. Seldinger, "Catheter replacement of the needle in percutaneous arteriography; a new technique," Acta Radiol, vol. 39, pp. 368-76, May 1953.
- [14] Y. Thakur, J. H. Cakiroglu, D. W. Holdsworth, and M. Drangova, "A device for real-time measurement of catheter-motion and input to a catheter navigation system," in *Medical Imaging 2007: Visualization and Image-Guided Procedures*, San Diego, CA, USA, 2007, pp. 65090G-8.
- [15] T. Alderliesten, M. K. Konings, and W. J. Niessen, "Simulation of minimally invasive vascular interventions for training purposes," *Comput Aided Surg*, vol. 9, pp. 3-15, 2004.
- [16] W. Lawton, R. Raghavan, S. R. Ranjan, and R. R. Viswanathan, "Tubes in tubes: catheter navigation in blood vessels and its applications," *Int J Solids Struct*, vol. 37, pp. 3031-3054, 2000.
Chapter 3 :

Design and Performance Evaluation of a Remote Catheter Navigation System²

3.1 Introduction

Percutaneous transluminal catheter-based interventional procedures have become the common practice for diagnosis and treatment of cardiac and vascular diseases, including electrophysiological conditions. These procedures typically use fluoroscopic x-ray images to visually assist the interventionalist during intravascular navigation and the final placement of the catheter. The high success rate of catheter-based interventions, combined with their minimal invasiveness, has lead to a significant increase in the number of procedures performed annually [1, 2]. As the number of procedures increases, radiation exposure to the medical staff has become a concern, as the effects of radiation exposure are well documented. Increased radiation training, proper utilization of safety

² © 2009 IEEE. Reprinted, with permission, from IEEE Transactions in Biomedical Engineering, Design and Performance Evaluation of a Remote Catheter Navigation System, Thakur Y., Bax J.S., Holdsworth D.W., and Drangova M., vol. 56(7):1901-1908, 2009.

equipment and improved imaging technology have helped reduce exposure levels [3-5]. However, these reductions may be offset by procedure complexity and other factors (such as interventionalist skill), which can increase exposure to the patient and medical staff [6]. In addition, the lead aprons and neck collars used to protect physicians and staff from radiation has been linked to the development of chronic back and neck pain [7, 8]. Reductions in radiation exposure and chronic pain would be achieved if percutaneous procedures could be performed from a location remote to the patient [9] and remote catheter navigation systems are being pursued to achieve this [10-13].

Catheter navigation systems developed by Negoro [12], Corindus Inc. [10], Hansen Medical Inc. [13-15] and Stereotaxis Inc. [11, 16-21] all employ a master-slave control architecture that uses a peripheral input device to control the remote catheter. The CorPathTM (Corindus Inc., Auburndale, MA, USA) and the Negoro system each employ a specialized mechanical transmission module to advance the catheter using the push, pull and rotate technique; in Negoro's implementation [12], the interventionalist uses a joystick to control the remote catheter, whereas the CorPathTM system [10] allows the interventionalist to perform continuous motion with a joystick and discrete movements through a touch screen. The system offered by Hansen Medical Inc. [13-15] (MountainView, CA, USA) uses input from a stylus to manipulate a remote catheter by a specialized, controllable catheter sheath and guidewire system. The Stereotaxis system (NiobeTM, St. Louis, MO, USA) [11, 16-22] uses large permanent magnets mounted on mechanical arms that enable them to move and drive a small magnet placed at the tip of a guidewire through the vasculature. The path of this small magnet (corresponding to the catheter tip) is defined during the procedure by the interventionalist, who draws the intended 3D path of the tip while sitting at a remote workstation.

Unlike the conventional bed-side technique, which requires interventionalists to manipulate a catheter manually, employment of these remote navigation systems removes the catheter from the interventionalist's hands, thus removing his/her dexterous and intuitive skills from the procedure. Furthermore, the technological complexities of these systems may require long training times to ensure the interventionalists are skilled in their use. For example, a study conducted by Schiemann et al. [23] demonstrated that equivalent navigation efficacy was achieved when comparing conventional navigation to remote navigation using the Niobe[™] system in a glass phantom, after six months of interventionalist training on the system. Therefore, it should be beneficial if a remote catheter navigation system incorporated the dexterous skill set of an experienced interventionalist during the procedure.

Our group has addressed this need by developing a novel remote catheter navigation system to manipulate percutaneous transluminal catheters from a location remote to the patient, while allowing the interventionalist to apply conventional push, pull and twist of a catheter's shaft during the remote procedure. To remotely navigate the catheter using this method, the interventionalist applies axial (push and pull) and radial (twist) forces to a catheter's shaft held inside a motion-sensing device, the sensed motion is transferred, via a computer console, to a second device, which replicates the motion along a second catheter's shaft. This method of catheter navigation via remote motion replication, promises to provide a platform that incorporates the pre-existing skills of an experienced interventionalist, while maintaining the objective of reducing the occupational hazards associated with conventional bedside therapy.

In this chapter we describe this new remote catheter navigation system (RCNS). The custom mechanical design of the master device – the Catheter Sensor (CS), the slave device – the Catheter Manipulator (CM), and the software used to interface them are described in detail. The results of experiments performed to evaluate the accuracy and precision of sensed and replicated motion, as well as the latency in replicated motion are presented.

3.2 System Description

The RCNS, shown in Fig. 3-1, was designed to consist of a CS (to be placed at a remote location) capable of measuring the axial and radial motions of an input catheter, a CM (to be placed at the patient bed side) capable of replicating the motions measured by the sensor, and a computer console that relays information between the sensor and

computers. To ensure many size with the smean computers with conventional ordered avigation, the following computer is been used in the basic opposites.



17 The system state the song at site with genetic 6.7 F (diameter, 2-2.3)

Fig. 3-1: The remote catheter navigation system: The interventionalist can pull, push or twist the input catheter inside the catheter sensor. Motion measured by the catheter sensor is then replicated with the patient catheter using the remotely placed catheter manipulator. Image feedback is provided by a standard fluoroscopic x-ray system (not shown).

contains a 2010, mum to 12 whithing automation particles inceltanically coupled to the

man of the second three total conductions the attent shaft is measured using a

rest to see a formation of the constraint of the second of the collector to a rotation of the

manipulator. To ensure navigation with this system is compatible with conventional bedside navigation, the following criteria were used in the design process:

- the system should be compatible with generic 6-7 F (diameter: 2-2.3 mm) catheters, sizes common in interventional cardiology and electrophysiology procedures,
- 2. motion along the catheter's shaft (axial motion) and about the shaft (radial motion) should not be impeded by either the CS or CM,
- accuracy of sensing and replicating axial motion: 1mm (over 1.5m catheter length),
- 4. accuracy of sensing and replicating radial motion: 1°,
- 5. latency of motion replication: < 300 ms [24].

Detailed descriptions of each component are provided in the subsequent sections.

3.2.1 Catheter Sensor

The prototype CS, previously described in [25, 26], and schematically shown in Fig. 3-2, is an electromechanical device that measures the axial and radial motion of the input catheter's shaft using two mechanically independent passive sensors. Each sensor contains a 2000 count-per-revolution quadrature encoder, mechanically coupled to the shaft of the catheter. The axial position of the catheter shaft is measured using a mechanical transducer that converts the axial motion of the catheter to a rotation of the

shaft of an optical encoder (E5S, US Digital, WA, USA) using two rollers that mechanically couple to the catheter (Fig. 3-2a). The primary roller is directly coupled to the encoder, while the second idler roller passively ensures continuous contact between the primary roller and catheter. The position of the second roller is adjustable to allow variable contact friction between the catheter and the primary roller. The rollers were manufactured from DelrinTM to ensure dimensional stability and low inertia. The axial position of the input catheter's shaft is determined as the product of roller circumference (40 mm) and digital encoder counts divided by the total number encoder counts (2000). In the current implementation, detection of a single counter increment yields a motion sensitivity of 0.02 mm count⁻¹ in the axial direction.

To measure radial motion, the input catheter is used as the shaft to the radial encoder (Fig. 3- 2b). A cylindrical assembly is constructed to house the sensor components; three miniature bearings and the optical encoder. The three miniature bearings (diameter 4.8-mm) grip the catheter in the radial direction and hold it at the centre of the encoder disk, while allowing it to move freely in the axial direction; one of the miniature bearings is spring-loaded to ensure continuous contact between the bearings and catheter. On the outer edge of the cylindrical housing assembly is a guide track, which in conjunction with three support bearings (diameter 9.52-mm) enables the catheter to freely rotate the optical disk through the optical sensor. The radial position of the catheter's shaft is measured directly by the encoder. In the current implementation, detection of a single counter increment yields a motion sensitivity of 0.18° mm-count⁻¹ in the radial direction.

to Start Wanipalane.



11 SOUrad's " in the radial direction [26].

Fig. 3-2: Motion is measured by the catheter sensor in: a) the axial direction by mechanically transducing the axial motion of the catheter to a rotation of the encoder disks shaft via friction between the catheter and primary roller; adjustment of a second passive roller ensures continuous contact between the catheter and primary roller, and b) in the radial direction by rotating the radial optical disk through the sensor via three miniature bearings encased a housing which floats on three support bearings. Contained in each electromechanical sensor are springs that apply a force (F_a) to ensure the catheter does not slip in the apparatus. A picture of the constructed sensor has been previously shown in Fig. 2-1.

roughts and rolling on who maked one. Cretto he is the samely for two additional pairs

it parts. A pointing server mound matter is only that cause the catheter through the

we must be confined due not one to the technical when actuated, reviews

3.2.2 Catheter Manipulator

que of 18 mpi-m; these value

The CM was designed to actuate the patient catheter using motion sensed along the shaft of the input catheter by the CS, and then applying that motion along the shaft of the patient catheter - a technique similar to the push, pull and twist technique currently FL. USA', thereby ro employed during manual bedside manipulation. Previous work [26] determining the kinematics range of a catheter encountered in routine interventional procedures were used to define the design constraints of the CM. Specifically, the following peak velocity targets: 700 mm \cdot s⁻¹ and as the design acceleration parameters were set and 30,000 mm s⁻² respectively, in the axial direction; and 43 rad s⁻¹ and 1,000 rad s⁻² respectively, in the radial direction. These values exceeded the previously determined peak kinematics of: 300 mm \cdot s⁻¹ and 16,000 mm \cdot s⁻² in the axial direction, and 11 rad \cdot s⁻¹ and 500 rad \cdot s⁻² in the radial direction [26].

The prototype CM, illustrated schematically in Fig. 3-3, consists of an axial driver mechanism mounted within a slip-ring gantry. The axial-driver mechanism consists of a servomotor (Coreless-DC 2342, MicroMo, FL, USA) coupled to the catheter via a high-friction wheel (urethane 70A, 1.27-cm diameter) through a 1:1 bevel gear; a secondary spring-loaded urethane idler roller mounted opposite the drive wheel acts to hold the catheter with sufficient frictional force. Contained in the gantry are two additional pairs of passively rotating spring-loaded urethane rollers that guide the catheter through the device. To ensure the catheter does not slip in the mechanism when actuated, springs

were integrated into the design to provide an axial gripping force of 4 N and a radial gripping torque of 18 mN·m; these values were chosen to exceed the maximum axial force (2.5 N) and radial torque (14 mN·m) applied by interventionalists on a catheter in a previous study [26]. The entire slip-ring mounted gantry is rotated, via a sprocket-chain drive, by a second servomotor (Coreless-DC 3863, MicroMo, FL, USA), thereby rotating the catheter. Single-axis motion controllers (MVP®, MicroMo, Clearwater, FL, USA), which communicate with the computer console, drive the two servomotors.



Fig. 3-3: The patient catheter is placed inside the catheter manipulator. Radial motion (Eqn. 3-1: θ_{CM}) is achieved by rotating the slip-ring gantry by a servomotor via a sprocket gear and chain. Mounted on the slip-ring gantry is a second motor, which is used to actuate the catheter in the axial direction (Eqn. 3-1: a_{CM}) via a bevel gear and the drive wheel. A series of spring-loaded urethane coated rollers are placed inside the roller housing to grip the catheter. Each motor is controlled by a single axis motion-controller (not shown).

The position of the patient catheter's shaft is determined by the gear ratios of the bevel and sprocket gears used, the internal gear ratios of the servomotors, and the radius of the urethane rollers, and are described by:

$$P_{patient} [a_{CM}, \theta_{CM}] = \left[\frac{2\pi \cdot counts_{CM} - axial_{CM}}{k_{axial} \cdot cpr_{CM}}, \frac{2\pi \cdot counts_{CM} - radial_{CM}}{k_{radial} \cdot cpr_{CM}}\right] \cdot \text{Eqn. 3-1}$$

In the prototype CM, the calculated values of the constants k_{axial} and k_{radial} were 3.3 and 16.5, respectively. The drive roller radius (r_{CM}) was 6.35 mm, the number of encoder counts per revolution (cpr_{CM}) was 2000; counts_{CM-axial} and counts_{CM-radial} are the respective number of digital encoder counts of the axial and rotational components. Based on this CM configuration, the smallest motion that can be imparted on the patient catheter is 0.006 mm·count⁻¹ and 0.011°·count⁻¹ in the axial and radial directions, respectively.

3.2.3 Computer Console

Control of the CM and CS is achieved through a computer console (1 GHz dual Athlon®, Linux kernel 2.16.15) via RS-232 serial communication. Control software was implemented using C++; to enable simultaneous motion control in the axial and radial directions, device control was multithreaded. The axial and radial motions measured by the CS are substituted for $P_{Patient}[a_{CM}, \theta_{CM}]$ (defined above: Eqn. 3-1) and solved to determine the corresponding position of the CM in motor space (Eqn. 3-1: counts_{CM-axial}).

counts_{CM-radial}). The position of each CS component is sampled at 20 ms intervals; the corresponding velocity and acceleration values are determined and commands then issued to the CM controllers at 60 ms intervals. This sampling strategy was used to optimize update time, while minimizing motion jitter. The motion controllers are provided with position, velocity and acceleration by the console and then use a trapezoidal motion profile [27], in conjunction with a PID control loop, to drive the patient catheter [28].

3.3 Methods

3.3.1 Evaluation of Catheter Sensor

The axial accuracy of the CS in measuring axial motion was evaluated by advancing a 6 F catheter (VikingTM, BardEP, MA, USA), containing four 2-mm long electrodes, inside a 2.4-mm (3/32 inch) diameter straight acrylic tube, while monitoring the catheter position using a calibrated fluoroscopic x-ray system (MultiStar®, Siemens, DE). The catheter was advanced, and then retracted, in the CS in 25-mm increments (approximate) over a 300-mm range. At each catheter position, five digital radiographic images (FOV/FOVeff: 40/36-cm, image matrix: 880x880, technique: 73 kVp and 47 mA) were obtained. Following correction for pincushion distortion [29], the five digital radiographs were averaged and the catheter's axial position was determined by calculating the weighted centroids of three catheter-shaft electrodes [30]. These values

were compared with the corresponding position reported by the CS and trueness was calculated as the average difference between CS-measurement and the radiographically derived position. These measurements were first performed to determine any deviation in the primary roller radius from the nominal value, thereby generating a calibration constant to linearly scale axial measurements; experiments were then repeated to determine the trueness of the CS.

To evaluate axial-measurement precision, an acrylic rod with a flat end was placed inside the 2.4-mm (3/32 inch) diameter acrylic tube; the end of the rod was used to mark the position to which the catheter would be advanced. The catheter was advanced through the CS into the guide tube until it made contact with the acrylic rod; the position reported by the CS was then recorded. The procedure was executed over a 60 mm range, repositioning the rod at 10 mm steps, at each position five independent CS measurements were made. Measurement precision of the CS was calculated as the standard deviation of the error in the measured position.

The accuracy of radial position measurements were evaluated using a 2-mm diameter carbon-fibre rod in place of the 6 F catheter. This substitution was made to avoid measurement errors introduced due to the elastic properties of the catheter. Placed on the rod's end was a 12.7-mm (0.5 inch) diameter cylindrical sleeve with a flat edge precision machined into the cylindrical surface. To evaluate accuracy, the rod was rotated until the flat edge aligned with a gauge block (type 516-423-26, Mitutoyo Inc., JP) and a reading

was acquired by the CS. Trueness was evaluated by obtaining measurements at 180° increments over 1080°, then calculating the mean error in the measurement. Radial-measurement precision was evaluated by rotating the rod by 360° ten times, recording the CS measurement, and then calculating the standard deviation.

3.3.2 Evaluation of Catheter Manipulator

The accuracy of the CM was evaluated using the calibrated CS. Consistent with the CS experiments, a 6 F catheter was used for all axial experiments and a carbon-fibre rod was used for all radial experiments. Prior to evaluating the accuracy of the CM, a series of experiments were performed to characterize the mechanical backlash of the CM. In the axial direction, mechanical backlash was measured by moving the catheter from 0 mm to 100 mm then back to 0 mm, ten times in succession. The difference between the start position and final position, as reported by the CS, was divided by the total number of iterations to determine error per direction-change. The backlash error was then software corrected. This process was repeated iteratively until the final error was under 1-mm. In the radial direction, the methodology to calculate the mechanical backlash was similar; rotating the carbon-fibre rod from 0-360°, ten times, and then adjusting the backlash constant until it was under 1°.

To evaluate the trueness of axial motion, the catheter was advanced by the CM through the CS in 25-mm increments over a range of 400 mm at a speed of 10 mm \cdot s⁻¹; readings of the catheter position were made at each increment. To evaluate axial-

precision, the catheter was advanced to the 40 mm position, ten times, and the standard deviation of the error in the position was calculated. These measurements were first performed to determine any deviation in the drive roller radius (r_{CM}), thereby generating a calibration constant to linearly scale a_{CM} in Eqn. 3-1, then repeated to determine the CS accuracy.

ŧ

Radial position trueness was evaluated by rotating the carbon-fibre rod at a rate of $1^{\circ} \cdot s^{-1}$ over a range of 720°, with measurements taken using the CS at 45° increments. To evaluate precision the catheter was rotated 360° ten times, recording the radial position using the CS at each trial.

3.3.3 Evaluation of Lag in Replicated Motion

Two studies were performed to evaluate the lag time between the sensed and replicated motion. In the first study, the CS was replaced with a data file containing prescribed motion profiles (step, square, ramp and triangle) in order to remove human factors from the experiments. For the step and square motion profiles, the manipulator was instructed to move the catheter from rest to a prescribed position (up to 350 mm in the axial and 350° in the radial directions) then return back to the original position (square response only, after a 9-s rest at the prescribed position). For the ramp and triangle motion profiles, the manipulator was instructed to move the catheter at a prescribed constant velocity; velocities up to 350 mm·s⁻¹ or $350^{\circ} \cdot s^{-1}$ in the axial and radial directions, respectively.

In the second study, eight operators with no interventional experience, or experience using this catheter navigation system, were provided with 10 minutes of training on the system. They then proceeded to navigate a 6 F catheter through an acrylic model of a normal carotid artery [31]; the operators were instructed to navigate the catheter from the common carotid to the internal branch, retract the catheter into the common carotid, then direct it into the external carotid. Inexperienced operators were chosen for this study due the results of a previous study that demonstrated they manipulated catheters with peak radial velocities and accelerations [26]. Each operator repeated the procedure 12 times in succession, under direct visual feedback. Fluoroscopic imaging was not used in this case because the type of feedback mechanism was not expected to affect the measured lag of the RCNS. In both studies, the catheter navigation system logged the motion profiles of both the input catheter and the patient catheter.

ź

To determine the lag in replicated motion, the input and replicated motion profiles were re-sampled at 20 ms intervals, and then filtered (10th order rectangular low-pass filter $F_{cut-off}=2.5$ Hz) to remove frequencies in the replicated profile that are the result of "on-the-fly" motion profile generation, which occurs at 16.7 Hz. The cross-correlation between motion profiles was then calculated using the *xcorr* function in Matlab® (R2007b, MathWorks Inc., MA, USA), and the lag measured as the maximum correlation value. To determine if the lag in replicated motion was operator-dependent, lag-time results were compared using one-way ANOVA, performed using PrismTM V4 (GraphPad Software Inc., CA, USA).

	Catheter Sensor		Catheter Manipulator	
	Axial (mm)	Radial (°)	Axial (mm)	Radial (°)
Trueness	0.04	0.10	0.07	-0.18
Precision	±0.14	±0.15	±0.11	±0.33

Table 3-1: Results - Accuracy of the Catheter Sensor and Catheter Manipulator

ł

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Evaluation of Catheter Sensor

The measured calibration constant for axial motion was 1.0062-mm·mm⁻¹. Listed in Table 3-1 is the measured accuracy for the CS.

3.4.2 Evaluation of Catheter Manipulator

The measured mechanical backlash was 0.17-mm in the axial direction. Mechanical backlash was not observed in the radial direction. An axial calibration constant of 0.95-mm·mm⁻¹ was observed for the axial drive mechanism. The accuracy of the CM, measured after backlash correction and calibration, is listed in Table 3-1.

3.4.3 Evaluation of Lag in Replicated Motion

۰.

The lag in motion replication using prescribed motion profiles, shown in Fig. 3-4, demonstrates a dependency on the amplitude of the requested motion, as well as the requested velocity and acceleration. A minimum system lag of 0.18s was observed in all cases. As expected, the lag was greater when the prescribed motion profile included larger accelerations (Fig. 3- 4: step and square profiles vs. ramp and triangle).

In the second study, all operators were successful in navigating the catheter into both the internal and external carotid arteries. The replicated-motion lag is plotted in Fig. 3-5, for the radial (a) and axial (b) directions. Average lag times in the radial and axial directions were 0.28 ± 0.04 s (range: 0.2-0.36s) and 0.23 ± 0.01 s (range: 0.2-0.26s), respectively. Statistically significant differences in the measured lag times were observed between operators (P<0.0001) in both the axial and radial directions.



Fig. 3-4: Measured replicated motion lag time using known motion profiles: a) step/square response in the radial direction, b) step/square response in the axial direction, c) ramp/triangle response in the radial direction, and d) ramp/triangle response in the axial direction.



Fig. 3-5: Measured motion lag when different operators remotely manipulated the catheter through a carotid bifurcation. Motion lag in the radial direction (a) tended to be higher with more variability than the motion lag in the axial direction (b). Plotted data are the median, 25-75 percent percentile and range of measured lag times for 12 trials per operator.

(i), conjugation of the first second se

3.5 Discussion

The Remote Catheter Navigation System described in this paper uses a novel method to control the catheter: remote navigation via motion replication. This navigation method promises to enable interventionalists to use their highly developed dexterous skills to remotely manoeuvre the catheter, potentially reducing radiation exposure and physical stress during long procedures. The current implementation of the RCNS was designed for use with 6-7 F catheters, commonly used in electrophysiological procedures, but is easily adaptable for catheters of different sizes. The performance evaluation of the RCNS demonstrated the system's ability to sense and replicate catheter motion within the intended specifications (accuracy better than 1 mm and 1° in the axial and radial

the name anera and dd day awaren are the uned hold by the catheter's radial symmetry

directions, respectively). The reported accuracy in motion-sensitivity and motionreplication, in addition to using the dexterous skills possessed by the interventionalist should enable rapid acceptance of this technology, while maintaining the remarkable success of conventional catheter-based intervention.

The response time between sensed and replicated motion is an important characteristic The minimum achievable lag with the current of any tele-operated system. implementation of the system was 180 ms, attributable to the inherent communication lag between the CS and the CM. However, longer lag times were observed when motion profiles (requiring increased velocities and accelerations) were executed by the CM, as shown in Fig. 3-4 and Fig. 3-5. Specifically, the observer study demonstrated that the lag times measured for some operators were significantly longer, and in the radial direction lag times of as much as 360 ms were measured. In comparison, motion lag in the axial direction varied only by 60 ms between all operators. There are two related factors that explain this operator-dependent increase in the radial direction lag time. First, inspection of the motion profiles in the radial direction demonstrated that operators who navigated the remote catheter with longer and more variable lag times (Fig.3-5), tended to apply higher peak velocities (Fig. 3-6) than operators with lower and less variable lag times (e.g. operator 5 vs. operator 2). Second, the ability to visualize changes in catheter orientation and position also influence the motion profile and thereby the measured lag time: in the axial direction, changes in the position are easily perceived, while changes in the radial orientation of the catheter are obscured both by the catheter's radial symmetry

and its deformability. This inability to visualize the radial orientation of the catheter seemed to result in a move-wait-visualize-repeat mode of navigation in the radial direction, instead of moving and visualizing the catheter simultaneously, which occurs in the axial direction. Inspection of the recorded axial and radial velocities of the operator's motion profiles supports this hypothesis; an example motion profile shown in Fig. 3-7 illustrates smoothly varying motion in the axial direction (Fig. 3-7b and d) and intermittent motion in the radial direction (Fig. 3-7a and c). The lack of perception of the radial motion of the remote catheter observed in these studies is consistent with catheter navigation and visualization in clinical practice, where motion applied to the proximal end of the catheter is not fully transferred to the distal end, and rotation about the catheter's axis is poorly perceived in the fluoroscopic images. Overall, these results suggest that lower lag times are achievable when the operator navigates the catheter using smoother motion. Furthermore, our earlier study (Chapter 2), comparing catheter kinematics while operated by novices and experienced interventionalists, demonstrated that experienced interventionalists navigate catheters with lower peak velocities and peak accelerations than inexperienced users, suggesting that in a clinical setting the lag times will be dominated by the inherent communication delay, which in future implementations can be decreased using a more sophisticated communication strategy, such as USB or TCP IP protocols. Nonetheless, even the lag times observed with inexperienced users are still within the previously defined limit of 300 ms, established by Fabrizio et al. [24] as



Fig. 3-6: Peak velocity in the (a) radial and (b) axial directions. Plotted data are the median, lower median, upper median, and range of calculated peak velocity for the 12 trials per operator.

the maximum acceptable image-display latency needed to ensure safe remote surgical manipulation.

The simplicity of the experiments performed to evaluate mechanical backlash and the phantom used to determine lag in replicated motion represent limitations of this study. Correcting mechanical backlash was iteratively performed until ten changes in direction resulted in an observed error of less than 1 mm and 1° in the axial and radial directions, respectively. Increasing the number of directional changes may result in a larger discrepancy between the starting position and final recorded position, as quantization effects of the backlash correction factor become more apparent. Although this may occur, the iterative error per direction change is very small and may not be perceived by the operator, who in practice will use fluoroscopic x-ray imaging as position feedback of the patient catheter



Fig. 3-7: a) Radial motion profile, (b) axial motion profile, (c) radial velocity, (d) and axial velocity observed during remote catheter navigation through the normal carotid model (Operator 6, trial 10). The red solid line represents motion of the input catheter, while the blue dotted line is the motion of the patient catheter. In the axial direction, replicated velocity is fluid with the input velocity (c), in contrary to replicated velocity in the radial direction (d), which is visually intermittent.

Furthermore, the phantom used in the motion lag study presented a simpler path trajectory than those commonly encountered in clinical practice, which require manoeuvring of the catheter through tortuous vessels and tight curvatures (e.g. vessel selection through the aortic arch). Softening of the catheter, which occurs due to contact with warm blood, and catheter navigation in a wet environment were also not mimicked in the presented experiments, although the effect of manipulating a wetted catheter should be neutralized using an introducer sheath, which stops bleeding through the introducer. The experiments performed were intended to measure the lag imposed by the system's inherent characteristics (i.e. inertia, communications delay, and control parameters), as well as the motion-sensitivity and motion-replication of the system. Extensive experiments addressing the system performance under more physiologically relevant conditions, as well as directly comparing remote catheter navigation vs. conventional catheter navigation, are the subject of future studies.

The prototype RCNS was designed for compatibility with generic 6-7 F catheters; catheter sizes used commonly during interventional electrophysiology procedures, but in its current implementation it does not contain the mechanics required to manipulate deflectable-tips found on some EP catheters. The mechanical mechanisms used to deflect these catheters are not standardized, and thus would require a specialized mechanical device for compatibility with each different deflectable catheter type. In addition, the compatible catheter sizes (6-7 F) are larger than catheter sizes found in routine interventional cardiology and interventional neuroradiology procedures, which

and the second

and a state

are typically 4-5 F. Utilizing this system with smaller catheters will require modifying the mechanism that grips and actuates the catheter in the CM, as well as the electromechanical sensors in the CS. The CM is predominantly composed of Delrin®, an easily machinable low-cost plastic, which provided a cost effective method to demonstrate the proposed method of remote catheter navigation. However, Delrin® cannot be placed in an autoclave, thus limiting the ability to easily sterilize and reuse the CM. Future versions of the RCNS will address these concerns.

The RCNS presented has many potential advantages over commercially available systems. Unlike magnetic catheter navigation [11], where large permanent magnets are used to orient the catheter, thereby removing bi-plane imaging capabilities, limiting oblique projection views to $\pm 30^{\circ}$, requiring magnetic shielding in the procedure room, and requiring specialized catheters, the RCNS presented can be easily integrated into existing fluoroscopic suites. The current system also uses generic catheters, with performance characteristics known to the interventionalist, during remote navigation. Most other commercially available remote navigation systems utilize joystick-type input devices to navigate the remote catheter, and all but the device described by Negoro et al. [12], manipulate the remote catheter without providing tactile sensation to the interventionalist. Because of the flexible nature of catheters, external forces applied to the catheter during catheter guidance occur when the tip of the catheter pushes directly into tissue or when twisting the catheter pushes its body against the vascular wall. In both situations, the external forces applied to the catheter are not fully transferred to the

interventionalist, but instead result in catheter deformation. The operator uses these visual cues (sometimes termed "image haptics") during catheter guidance and we expect that the ability to exploit prior dexterous skills during remote catheter navigation, as provided by our RCNS, may provide added benefit over navigation systems employing joysticks or other non-intuitive master devices [10,13-15].

The system description and performance evaluation provided here demonstrate the ability of the RCNS to accurately sense and replicate catheter motion within acceptable lag. Performance validation of this system in vivo is required. The diagnosis and treatment of cardiac arrhythmia is an ideal choice, as these procedures use 6-7 F catheters, and these procedures can be long, enhancing radiation exposure and fatigue to the interventionalist. Application of this system during other interventions such as vascular angiography or placing balloon/stents to open stenosed arteries is possible, but for each application, the logistics of this technology must be examined to ensure patient safety and positive clinical outcome. Further investigation and developments are underway to address these issues.

3.6 Conclusion

The RCNS presented is a unique platform that provides the interventionalist with the ability to use their dexterous skills while performing catheter-based interventions from a location remote to the patient. The present study has demonstrated the system's ability to

78

accurately sense and replicate catheter motion with acceptable lag. Combining accurate motion replication with the system's ability to easily integrate within existing facilities promises to make this RCNS a cost-effective approach to reducing interventionalist's radiation exposure and physical discomfort. In the future, utilizing this system to perform a range of catheter-based interventions in vivo is required to establish the limitations of this technology in clinical practice.

Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful to Dr. Raymond Yee, Dr. Allan Skanes, Dr. Rodney Allan, and Dr. Irene Gulka for their clinical input towards this project. We would also like to thank Jason Cakiroglu, Steve Pollman, Hristo Nikolov and Jacques Montreuil for their technical contributions.

References

- [1] W. Rosamond, K. Flegal, G. Friday, K. Furie, A. Go, K. Greenlund, N. Haase, M. Ho, V. Howard, B. Kissela, S. Kittner, D. Lloyd-Jones, M. McDermott, J. Meigs, C. Moy, G. Nichol, C. J. O'Donnell, V. Roger, J. Rumsfeld, P. Sorlie, J. Steinberger, T. Thom, S. Wasserthiel-Smoller, and Y. Hong, "Heart disease and stroke statistics--2007 update: a report from the American Heart Association Statistics Committee and Stroke Statistics Subcommittee," vol. 115, pp. 69-171, Feb 6 2007.
- W. Maier, S. Windecker, E. Boersma, and B. Meier, "Evolution of percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty in Europe from 1992-1996," *Eur. Heart J.*, vol. 22, pp. 1733-40, Sep 2001.
- [3] A.J. Camm, J. Reid, M. Raphael, P. Wilde, R. Boyle, M. Clarke, S. Qureshi, M. Rothman, and A. Shaw, "Radiation hazards to the cardiologist. A report of a subcommittee of the British Cardiac Society.," *Brit. Heart J.*, vol. 70, pp. 489-96, Nov 1993.
- [4] E. Vano, L. Gonzalez, J. M. Fernandez, F. Alfonso, and C. Macaya, "Occupational radiation doses in interventional cardiology: a 15-year follow-up," *Brit. J. Radiol.*, vol. 79, pp. 383-8, May 2006.
- [5] E. Vano, L. Gonzalez, E. Guibelalde, J. M. Fernandez, and J. I. Ten, "Radiation exposure to medical staff in interventional and cardiac radiology.," *Brit. J. Radiol.*, vol. 71, pp. 954-60, Sep 1998.
- [6] V. Tsapaki, A. Magginas, E. Vano, S. Kottou, E. Papadakis, P. Dafnomili, E. Kyrozi, N. Kollaros, V. Neofotistou, and D. Cokkinos, "Factors that influence radiation dose in percutaneous coronary intervention," J. Interv. Cardiol., vol. 19, pp. 237-44, Jun 2006.
- [7] A. M. Ross, J. Segal, D. Borenstein, E. Jenkins, S. Cho, A. M. Ross, J. Segal, D. Borenstein, E. Jenkins, and S. Cho, "Prevalence of spinal disc disease among interventional cardiologists," *Am. J. Cardiol.*, vol. 79, pp. 68-70, Jan. 1997.
- [8] B. Moore, E. vanSonnenberg, G. Casola, and R. A. Novelline, "The relationship between back pain and lead apron use in radiologists," Am. J. Roentgenol., vol. 158, pp. 191-3, Jan 1992.
- [9] E. Vano, "Radiation exposure to cardiologists: how it could be reduced.," *Heart,* vol. 89, pp. 1123-4, Oct 2003.
- [10] R. Beyar, L. Gruberg, D. Deleanu, A. Roguin, Y. Almagor, S. Cohen, G. Kumar, and T. Wenderow, "Remote-control percutaneous coronary interventions:

concept, validation, and first-in-humans pilot clinical trial," J. Am. Coll. Cardiol., vol. 47, pp. 296-300, Jan 2006.

- [11] M. N. Faddis, W. Blume, J. Finney, A. Hall, J. Rauch, J. Sell, K. T. Bae, M. Talcott, and B. Lindsay, "Novel, magnetically guided catheter for endocardial mapping and radiofrequency catheter ablation," *Circulation*, vol. 106, pp. 2980-5, Dec 2002.
- [12] M. Negoro, M. Tanimoto, F. Arai, T. Fukuda, K. Fukasaku, and I. Takahashi, "An intelligent catheter system robotic controlled catheter system," in *Interventional Neuroradiology.*, 2001, pp. 111-113.
- [13] A. G. Al-Ahmad, Jessica D. and P. J. Wang, "Early Experience with a Computerized Robotically Controlled Catheter System," J. Interv. Card. Electr., vol. 12, pp. 199-202, April 2005.
- [14] V. Y. Reddy, P. Neuzil, Z. J. Malchano, R. Vijaykumar, R. Cury, S. Abbara, J. Weichet, C. D. McPherson, and J. N. Ruskin, "View-synchronized robotic image-guided therapy for atrial fibrillation ablation: experimental validation and clinical feasibility," *Circulation*, vol. 115, pp. 2705-14, May 2007.
- [15] W. Saliba, J. E. Cummings, S. Oh, Y. Zhang, T. N. Mazgalev, R. A. Schweikert, J. D. Burkhardt, and A. Natale, "Novel robotic catheter remote control system: feasibility and safety of transseptal puncture and endocardial catheter navigation," *J. Cardiovasc. Electr.*, vol. 17, pp. 1102-5, Oct 2006.
- [16] S. Ernst, F. Ouyang, C. Linder, K. Hertting, F. Stahl, J. Chun, H. Hachiya, D. Bansch, M. Antz, and K. H. Kuck, "Initial experience with remote catheter ablation using a novel magnetic navigation system: magnetic remote catheter ablation," *Circulation*, vol. 109, pp. 1472-5, Mar 2004.
- [17] A. Aryana, A. d'Avila, E. K. Heist, T. Mela, J. P. Singh, J. N. Ruskin, and V. Y. Reddy, "Remote magnetic navigation to guide endocardial and epicardial catheter mapping of scar-related ventricular tachycardia," *Circulation*, vol. 115, pp. 1191-200, Mar 2007.
- [18] J. K. Chun, S. Ernst, S. Matthews, B. Schmidt, D. Bansch, S. Boczor, A. Ujeyl, M. Antz, F. Ouyang, and K. H. Kuck, "Remote-controlled catheter ablation of accessory pathways: results from the magnetic laboratory," *Eur. Heart. J.*, vol. 28, pp. 190-5, Jan 2007.
- [19] J. K. Chun, B. Schmidt, K. H. Kuck, and S. Ernst, "Remote-controlled magnetic ablation of a right anterolateral accessory pathway the superior caval vein approach," *J. Interv. Card. Electr.*, vol. 16, pp. 65-8, Jun 2006.
- [20] C. Pappone, G. Vicedomini, F. Manguso, F. Gugliotta, P. Mazzone, S. Gulletta, N. Sora, S. Sala, A. Marzi, G. Augello, L. Livolsi, A. Santagostino, and V.

Santinelli, "Robotic magnetic navigation for atrial fibrillation ablation," J. Am. Coll. Cardiol., vol. 47, pp. 1390-400, Apr 2006.

- M. S. Patterson, J. Schotten, C. van Mieghem, F. Kiemeneij, and P. W. Serruys, "Magnetic navigation in percutaneous coronary intervention," *J. Interv. Cardiol.*, vol. 19, pp. 558-65, Dec 2006.
- [22] L. Di Biase, T. S. Fahmy, D. Patel, R. Bai, K. Civello, O. M. Wazni, M. Kanj, C. S. Elayi, C. K. Ching, M. Khan, L. Popova, R. A. Schweikert, J. E. Cummings, J. D. Burkhardt, D. O. Martin, M. Bhargava, T. Dresing, W. Saliba, M. Arruda, and A. Natale, "Remote magnetic navigation: human experience in pulmonary vein ablation.," J. Am. Coll. Cardiol., vol. 50, pp. 868-74, Aug 2007.
- [23] M. Schiemann, R. Killmann, M. Kleen, N. Abolmaali, J. Finney, and T. J. Vogl, "Vascular guide wire navigation with a magnetic guidance system: experimental results in a phantom," *Radiology*, vol. 232, pp. 475-81, Aug 2004.
- [24] M. D. Fabrizio, B. R. Lee, D. Y. Chan, D. Stoianovici, T. W. Jarrett, C. Yang, L. R. Kavoussi, M. D. Fabrizio, B. R. Lee, D. Y. Chan, D. Stoianovici, T. W. Jarrett, C. Yang, and L. R. Kavoussi, "Effect of time delay on surgical performance during telesurgical manipulation," *J. Endourol.*, vol. 14, pp. 133-8, Mar 2000.
- [25] Y. Thakur, J. H. Cakiroglu, D. W. Holdsworth, and M. Drangova, "A device for real-time measurement of catheter-motion and input to a catheter navigation system," in *Proceedings of the SPIE, Medical Imaging 2007: Visualization and Image-Guided Procedures*, San Diego, CA, USA, 2007, pp. 65090G-8.
- [26] Y. Thakur, D. W. Holdsworth, and M. Drangova, "Characterization of Catheter Dynamics During Percutaneous Transluminal Catheter Procedures," *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.*, vol. 56, pp. 2140-2143, August 2009.
- [27] J. J. Craig, Introduction To Robotics Mechanics and Control, 3rd ed. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall, 2005.
- [28] R. C. Dorf and R. H. Bishop, *Modern Control Systems*, 9th ed. Upper Saddle River: Prentice Hall, 2000.
- [29] R. Fahrig, M. Moreau, and D. W. Holdsworth, "Three-dimensional computed tomographic reconstruction using a C-arm mounted XRII: correction of image intensifier distortion," *Med. Phys.*, vol. 24, pp. 1097-106, Jul 1997.
- [30] D. F. Habets, S. I. Pollmann, X. Yuan, T. M. Peters, and D. W. Holdsworth, "Error analysis of marker-based object localization using a single-plane XRII," *Med. Phys.*, vol. 36, pp. 190-200, 2009.

[31] R. F. Smith, B. K. Rutt, and D. W. Holdsworth, "Anthropomorphic carotid bifurcation phantom for MRI applications," *J. Magn. Reson. Imaging*, vol. 10, pp. 533-44, Oct 1999.

Chapter 4 :

Catheter Navigation Efficacy of a Tele-Operator Catheter Navigation System: Experimental Results in a Multi-Path Phantom³

4.1 Introduction

Percutaneous transluminal catheterization, a minimally invasive medical procedure, is the gold standard technique used in the diagnosis and treatment of vascular and cardiac diseases. After insertion of the catheter, the interventionalist stands adjacent to the patient, and manipulates a catheter through the vasculature towards the site of interest, using fluoroscopic x-ray imaging to localize the catheter with respect to the patient's anatomy. The close proximity to the ionizing-beam exposes the interventionalist to

³ A version of this chapter has been submitted as a manuscript to *Radiology*, entitled: "Catheter Navigation Efficacy of a Tele-Operator Catheter Navigation System: Experimental Results in a Multi-Path Phantom," Thakur, Y., Norley, C.J., Gulka, I.B., Holdsworth, D.W., and Drangova, M. (Submission #RAD-09-1965)

harmful radiation, increasing their cumulative radiation exposure, and thus, their longterm risk of developing a malignancy, cataracts, or passing genetic defects to offspring. Remote catheter navigation systems have been developed to address interventionalist safety, by allowing the intravascular navigation of a catheter by the interventionalist from a radiation safe location [1-4].

Three commercial remote catheter navigation systems have recently become available. The Magnetic Guidance System (MGS, Stereotaxis Inc., St. Louis, MO, USA) [4] uses large permanent magnets, mounted on mechanical arms, to drive a small permanent magnet embedded in the distal tip of a specialized remote catheter. The operator sits at a console and draws a 3D vector, corresponding to the intended path of the catheter, on the console screen. The mechanical arms of the navigation system change position and orientation, aligning the catheter-tip with the intended path. The two other systems -CorPath[™] (Corindus Inc., Auburndale, MA, USA) and the Sensei Robotic Catheter System[™] (Hansen Medical Inc., Mountain View, CA, USA) – utilize a joystick [1, 2], stylus [3] or touch screen [2] to drive the remote catheter using either a mechanical transmission module [1, 2], or a specialized catheter sheath [3]. These remote catheter navigation systems have been successfully used to remotely deploy stents, or perform RF ablation therapy for the treatment of cardiac arrhythmia. Although they have been introduced into the clinic, the non-intuitive interface of these navigation systems may impact procedural workflow. With respect to magnetic navigation, the large permanent magnets placed adjacent to the patient bed remove's biplane imaging capabilities, limit oblique anterior-posterior views to $\pm 30^{\circ}$, and require specialized catheters with embedded magnets for intravascular navigation. By using specialized catheters, with characteristics unfamiliar to an experienced interventionalist, and removing the catheter from the interventionalist's hands, thus removing the experienced interventionalist's eye-hand coordination from the intervention, long training times may be required for proficient use of these systems. In some instances, the lack of an intuitive catheter navigation method has resulted in the interventionalist reverting to conventional catheter manipulation to complete a procedure [5].

Our group has recently described a remote catheter navigation system that utilizes the intuitive and dexterous skills of an experienced interventionalist by keeping a catheter in the hands of the interventionalist, while they navigate a second intravascular catheter from a location remote to the patient (Chapter 3). The navigation method is intuitive – using current bedside technique, the interventionalist pushes, pulls, and twists a local *input catheter*, placed inside an electromechanical sensor. Changes in position of the input catheter are sensed, and then transferred via a work console and a remotely placed mechanical transmission module, to a remote *patient catheter*.

This paper compares the navigation efficacy of this remote catheter navigation system vs. conventional catheter navigation, in a custom-built multi-path navigation phantom using multiple operators of varying interventional experience. Based on the mode of remote catheter navigation – remote catheter manipulation via the motion sensing and replication of a local catheter in the hands of the interventionalist, catheter navigation using this system is expected to be comparable with conventional catheter navigation, with respect to navigation efficacy (the ability to traverse a given path) and catheter navigation time, after minimal operator training.

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 System Description

The remote catheter navigation system (RCNS) depicted in Fig. 4-1 and previously in Chapter 3, is a tele-operator controlled catheter navigation system. The operator manipulates the shaft of an input catheter, placed inside an electromechanical sensor; using exactly the same motions (push, pull and twist) and technique that are used in conventional bedside navigation. The sensor measures axial and radial changes in the input catheter's position, then transmits this information to a mechanical catheter driving mechanism via a work console, which then replicates the sensed motion using a second catheter placed inside the vasculature using the traditional Seldinger technique.


Fig. 4-1: Position of the patient catheter (a) is measured by two independent sensors (axial - (b), radial - (c)) inside the Catheter Sensor. Axial and radial motion of the input catheter is replicated using a second patient catheter (d), placed inside the Catheter Manipulator. The Catheter Manipulator contains two servo motors; one for axial motion (e), mounted on a slipring gantry (f), and a second for radial motion (g). A work console (h) relays information from the Catheter Sensor to the Catheter Manipulator.

The system has been previously shown to sense and replicate motion to within 1 mm in the axial direction (push and pull), and 1° in the radial direction (twist), with a replicated motion latency of 180 ms (Chapter3).

4.2.2 Multi-Path Navigation Phantom

The multi-path navigation phantom was specially constructed to compare navigation efficacy, which is defined as the ability to traverse a given path, between remote catheter navigation vs. conventional bedside manipulation. The phantom, shown in Fig. 4-2, was designed to mimic the complexity of neuro-angiographic catheter intervention, and contains a series of bifurcations and trifurcations with 30-135° branching angles. On the left side of the phantom, path diameters transition from small to large (6.35 to 8 to 9.5 mm). Paths on the right side of the phantom are mirrored to the paths on the left side, with path diameter transitions from large to small (9.5 to 8 to 6.35 mm). The multi-path navigation phantom has an overall size of 30.5x30.5x2.54 cm and is constructed of transparent acrylic.



Fig. 4-2: The multi-path navigation phantom injected with a dye for contrast (a). On the left side of the phantom, vessel diameter transitions, moving from the phantom's inlet to outlet, go from large to small (9.5-8-6.35 mm). On the right side of the phantom, vessel diameter transition, moving from inlet to outlet, go from small to large (6.35-8-9.5 mm). A radiograph of the multi-path phantom, shown in (b), is used to guide navigation through paths starting on the left side of the phantom. Images c-j illustrate the 16 predefined paths navigated by the operators; solid lines represent paths originating on the left-side of the phantom, while dashed lines represent paths originating on the right side of the phantom.

4.2.3 Study Parameters

Six operators, categorized into three groups based on clinical experience, were recruited for this study: novice operators had more than five years experience with radiographic images, but no catheter intervention experience; moderately experienced operators had completed fellowship training (one year) and had been interventional radiology staff for six months (one neurointerventional radiologist, one peripheral interventional radiologist); expert operators were neurointerventional radiologists with greater than five years experience. None of the operators had prior experience with the RCNS; each operator was provided up to 1-hour training on the RCNS.

A 5F, 100-cm long catheter (H1, Cook Inc., IN, USA), commonly used in neurointerventional procedures, containing a fixed guidewire (TSF-38-145, Cook Inc., IN, USA) was inserted through a 7F introducer sheath into the multi-path, navigation phantom. Each operator manipulated the catheter through sixteen, preselected paths in the phantom (shown in Fig. 4-2): eight paths traversed the right side of the model and eight paths traversed the left side. Each path contained 4 to 8 turns, for a total of 88 turns. Manipulation through the sixteen paths within the phantom was first completed using conventional bedside navigation and then, after a minimum period of one week, repeated using the remote navigation system. The minimum of one week between experiments reduced *apriori* knowledge of the navigation technique required to traverse each predefined path.

An x-ray imaging system (Axiom ArtisTM, Siemens Inc., DE) provided fluoroscopic image feedback to the operator during all trials, using common neurointerventional technique: 58 keV, 18 mA, 7.5 frame/s, 7.5 pulse/s, 33/30 cm FOV/FOV_{eff}. Successful path and turn manipulation, total navigation time and fluoroscopic dose to the phantom were recorded for each path. Fluoroscopic dose to the phantom was measured directly by the imaging system in the form of dose-are-product (DAP), which is product of the skin dose with the cross sectional area of the radiation beam. For either navigation method, failure was defined by a navigation time exceeding 120 seconds. To standardize timing, the catheter was positioned at the entrance of the first bifurcation at the beginning of each trial. Timing concluded when the tip of the catheter fully entered the final vessel branch. This study protocol is similar to the method implemented by Schiemann *et al.* [6] to compare the navigation efficacy of the Magnetic Guidance System (Stereotaxis Inc, St. Louis, MO, USA) vs. conventional navigation in a glass phantom.

During the study, water heated to 37°C was continuously pumped through phantom model. Prior to each study, Omnipaque (300 mg·I·ml⁻¹, 20 ml) was manually injected into the phantom to obtain a radiographic roadmap for navigation.

4.2.4 Data Analysis

For each path, the number of successfully completed turns was expressed as a percentage of the total number of turns comprising the path. The percentage of

completed turns, navigation time, and fluoroscopic dose were first compared for all operators, regardless of experience level, between remote and conventional navigation methods using a paired t-test (one-tail). To examine the effect of clinical expertise, the differences observed between remote and conventional catheter navigation for: percentage of completed turns, navigation time, and fluoroscopic dose, were grouped based on operator experience and analyzed with a repeated measures ANOVA.

All statistical analysis was performed using Prism[™] V4 (GraphPad Software Inc., CA, USA); P < 0.05 was considered significant.

4.3 Results

Using the RCNS, all operators successfully navigated 91 out of 96 paths (94.8%) and 512 out of 528 turns (97.0%) within the 120 second time limit. Using the conventional technique, all paths and turns were successfully completed (100%) within the 120 second time limit. Ensemble operator performance for the remote and conventional methods were small (<4%) but significantly different (P = 0.037) for normalized turn success rate. Only the novice and moderate operators failed at navigating paths remotely within the allotted time period, while expert operators were successful in navigating all paths and turns (100% success). Moderate operators were successful in remotely navigating 29 out of 32 paths (90.6%) and 169 out of 176 turns (96.0%). Novice operators were successful in remotely navigating 30 out of 32 paths (93.8%) and 167 out of 176 turns (94.9%).

Comparing operator experience, analysis of variance found no statistical difference between the difference in successfully completed turns (P=0.45). Successfully completed path and turn data for all operators is shown in Table 4-1.

While comparable navigation efficacy was observed with minimal training on the RCNS, navigation time using the RCNS was slightly longer than conventional catheter navigation, requiring an ensemble average increase of 13.4 seconds per path in navigation time, for all operators (P<0.001). Based on operator experience, analysis of variance found no statistical difference between the difference in navigation time (P=0.98). Average navigation time per operator is listed in Table 4-2.

For both navigation methods, ensemble average navigation times through each path are illustrated in Fig. 4-3. Navigation times through eight out of sixteen paths had mean differences of 10 seconds or less. On average, two paths (paths 4 and 10), required less navigation time using the RCNS, than with the conventional catheter navigation technique, while navigation time through three paths (paths: 5, 6 and 15) required much longer navigation time (over 33 seconds) using the RCNS, than with conventional catheter navigation. All operators, except novice operator 2, were able to successfully navigate at least 1 path within less time using the RCNS than using conventional catheter navigation.

The mean difference in navigation time through paths with vessel diameter transitions from small to large (paths 9 through 16) was 10.2 seconds, while the mean in navigation

time through paths with vessel diameter transitions from large to small was 16.9s (paths 1 through 8).

Measured dose area product was highly correlated with procedure length. Results for all operators, using both methods, are listed in Fig. 4-3. Overall, a mean-increase of $0.6 \,\mu\text{Gy}\cdot\text{m}^2$ was observed when using the RCNS system, and was proportional to the increased navigation time. Since the exposure between methods was large, the difference in exposure between methods was compared to test whether this difference was attributed to operator experience. Statistical analysis found no difference exposure dose based on operator experience (P=0.14).

Group	Operator	R-Paths (16)	C-Paths (32)	R- Turns (88)	C- Turns (88)
Novice	1	16/16	16/16	87/88	88/88
	2	14/16	16/16	80/88	88/88
	Group	30/32	32/32	167/176	176/176
Moderate	3+	14/16	16/16	82/88	88/88
	4++	15/16	16/16	87/88	88/88
	Group	29/32	32/32	169/176	176/176
Expert	5	16/16	16/16	88/88	88/88
	6	16/16	16/16	88/88	88/88
	Group	32/32	32/32	176/176	176/176
All	-	91/96	96/96	512/528	528/528

 Table 4-1: Operator Performance: Successfully Navigated Paths and Turns Using Remote (R) and

 Conventional (C) Navigation Techniques

⁺ - 1st year neurointerventional radiologist, ⁺⁺ - 1st year peripheral interventional radiologist. Note all statistical tests performed using successful turn data.

Group	Operator	Remote Time: μ±σ (s)	Conventional Time: μ±σ (s)	Mean Time Difference (s)
Novice	1	42±24	24±9	18.2
	2	39±15	31±13	7.9
	Group	41±20	27±20	13.4
Moderate	3+	35±16	28±13	6.5
	4**	49±33	29±30	19.9
	Group	42±27	29±17	13.2
Expert	5	34±20	24±11	10.0
	6	43±22	26±13	17.0
	Group	38±21	25±12	13.5
All	-	40±23	27±14	13.4

Table 4-2: Observed Operator Navigation Times Using Remote (R) and Conventional (C) Navigation Techniques

⁺ - 1st year neurointerventional radiologist, ⁺⁺ - 1st year peripheral interventional radiologist. Data shown: μ - mean, σ - standard deviation. Mean time difference equals remote navigation time minus conventional navigation time. Times attributed to path failures omitted from data.



Fig. 4-3: Catheter navigation times recorded for each path using both remote catheter navigation and conventional catheter navigation techniques (each bar represents mean+sem.). Navigation using the RCNS took an ensemble average of 13 seconds longer than conventional catheter navigation. Remote navigation through paths with large to small vessel diameter transitions (paths: 1-8), required on average 22 seconds longer, while paths with small to large vessel diameter transitions (paths: 9-16), required on average 12 seconds longer with the RCNS. Three paths, labelled '+' (paths: 5, 6 and 15), took 33 seconds longer with the RCNS. Omitting these paths, the ensemble average increase in navigation time using the RCNS was only 9 seconds for all other paths.

Group	Operator	Remote Dose: $\mu \pm \sigma (\mu G_y m^2)$	Conventional Dose: $\mu \pm \sigma (\mu G_y m^2)$	Dose Difference $(\mu G_y m^2)$
Novice	1	1.7±1.1	0.8±0.3	0.85
	2	1.9±1.2	1.2±0.6	0.79
	Group	1.8±1.1	1.0±0.5	0.82
Moderate	1+	1.2±0.4	1.0±0.5	0.2
	2++	1.7±1.2	1.2±0.7	0.8
	Group	1.8±1.3	1.0±0.5	0.5
Expert	1	1.2±0.7	0.7±0.4	0.4
	2	1.5±0.8	0.9±0.4	0.6
	Group	1.3±0.7	0.8±0.4	0.5
All	-	1.6±1.1	1.0±0.5	0.6

 Table 4-3: Measured Dose Area Product (DAP) Using Remote (R) and Conventional (C)

 Navigation Techniques

⁺ - 1st year neurointerventional radiologist, ⁺⁺ - 1st year peripheral interventional radiologist. Data shown: μ - mean, σ - standard deviation. Mean dose difference equals dose during remote navigation minus dose during conventional manipulation. Dose attributed to path failures is omitted from data.

4.4 Discussion

For remote catheter navigation systems to become clinically successful, the ability to remotely manipulate the catheter must, at a minimum, maintain the navigation efficacy of conventional bedside catheter manipulation. In this study, two expert operators, two moderately experienced operators and two novice operators, each used conventional navigation and the RCNS to traverse 16 predefined paths in a custom-built phantom. All operators were successful in navigating all 16 paths, within the prescribed time of 120 seconds, using the conventional navigation technique. Using the remote navigation system, expert operators were successful in navigation all paths, and turns, results which were better than both moderate and novice operators. This suggests catheter navigation using the RCNS has navigation efficacy comparable to conventional bedside manipulation, after minimal training on the system.

The difference between remote and conventional navigation time was compared to determine whether operator experience effected overall navigation time. The results show no significant difference between operator experience groups. However, novice and moderate operators were unable to successfully traverse 5 paths using the RCNS. Navigation times for these paths were omitted from statistical calculation, as the time value (120 seconds) is capped and does not represent the true navigation time required by these operators to successfully traverse these paths. Expert operators, on the other hand,

were successfully able to traverse these paths within the allotted time, requiring only 13.4 seconds of increased navigation time.

Total catheter navigation time using the RCNS was slightly longer than the navigation time observed during conventional catheter manipulation. A small increase in catheter navigation time was expected, based on the remote navigation method employed. The RCNS utilizes the same catheter motions applied by the interventionalists during conventional, bedside manipulation, but occurs with a 180 ms systemic delay in replicated motion (Chapter 3). Because of this delay, comparable navigation efficacy was expected, but with a slightly longer navigation time. In future implementations of the RCNS, a reduction in replicated motion time can be achieved by enhancing the communication strategy communication protocol to reduce motion latency. This should reduce the time difference observed between remote and conventional navigation methods. Further operator experience with the RCNS may also reduce the time difference to allow the operator to adjust to the latency in replicated motion, as demonstrated by Rayman *et al.* [7].

In three paths, a large difference in navigation time was observed between navigation methods (paths: 5, 6 and 15). It was speculated that the multi-path phantom, which is constructed of rigid acrylic, required operators to apply excessive axial force on the catheter to navigate through these paths. This assertion was anecdotally confirmed by the moderate and expert experienced operators, who stated that during conventional catheter navigation, the forces applied to the catheter to overcome "axial and torsional" tension in the catheter, caused by path friction, were substantially higher than axial and torsional tension encountered clinically. This would explain why, during remote navigation, the operators required longer navigation time through these three paths. The catheter manipulator in the RCNS is force limited, providing a maximum axial force of 4 N, a value determined previously to provide enough axial force to replicate motion, while minimizing the chance of vessel perforation (Chapter 2). Attempting to apply more than 4 N axially will result in motion cessation of the patient catheter, a result observed during the navigation of these paths.

Of the commercially available remote catheter navigation systems only the Magnetic Guidance System (MGS, Stereotaxis Inc., St. Louis, MO, USA) has been compared directly with conventional navigation. This remote navigation system has been successfully used *in vivo* to remotely guide catheters into the cerebral [8], peripheral [9], and percutaneous coronary vasculature [10, 11]. Comparing remote-navigation efficacy with conventional navigation has been predominantly done in phantom models, both anthropomorphic and non-anthropomorphic. Schiemann *et al.* demonstrated equivalent navigation efficacy between magnetic navigation and conventional navigation in a glass phantom after a single operator with five years clinical experience was provided with six months of training on the MGS system [6]. Krings *et al.* performed a comparison study using three phantoms, and four operators of varying levels of interventional experience [12]. Krings' results showed experience with conventional navigation was the dominant

factor affecting navigation speed. The experienced operators performed similarly using both magnetic and conventional catheter navigation, while less experienced operators performed better with the magnetic system. Ramcharitar et al. also conducted an operator study using five paths in a custom phantom, with three operator-groups categorized by experience with the MGS system [13]. Their results showed navigation efficacy and navigation time was better using magnetic navigation, but highly dependent on the operator's prior experience with the MGS system. Garcia-Garcia et al. found in another comparison study using a coronary phantom, with two operators of similar experience (both conventional and MGS), that magnetic navigation took significantly longer than conventional navigation [14]. Overall, these studies demonstrate comparable navigation efficacy of magnetic navigation when the navigation system is operated by experienced interventionalists who have had extensive training/experience using the magnetic navigation system. Unlike the magnetic navigation system, our results demonstrate that only minimal training on the RCNS is required to achieve comparable efficacy between remote and conventional catheter navigation, when operated by a clinically experienced operator.

The use of a non-anthropomorphic phantom in this study is consistent with other comparison studies. [6, 12-14], but does present some limitations. The custom made multi-path phantom is 2D, where all navigation paths lie in a common plane, unlike human anatomy. The phantom is constructed of rigid acrylic and does not mimic vessel compliance. Although these limitations exist, the custom design of the phantom allowed

for many different navigation paths, some more tortuous than common percutaneous routes encountered clinically. For example, in path 6 the operators were asked to traverse two 90° turns and five trifurcations; in contrast, the human vasculature has only one trifurcation. The wide range of turn angles, bifurcations and trifurcations was required to ensure the paths were not too easy for the operators to traverse. Due to these attributes, our clinical collaborators have expressed keen interest in the phantom as an interventional training tool.

A benefit specific to this study provided by the non-anthropomorphic nature of the phantom was that it contained paths unknown to clinically experienced operators; by removing *apriori* knowledge of vascular anatomy from the study, only their expertise in manipulating a catheter under fluoroscopic image guidance remained as an operator-dependent variable. The minimum period of one week between remote and conventional trials ensured that operators did not remember the catheter manipulation sequence used to traverse a given path.

In addition to utilizing the manual dexterous skills of experienced interventionalists, and the ability to use generic catheters, the RCNS can also be adapted for use in any fluoroscopic imaging suite, allowing easy integration into most catheter laboratories, without additional capital expenditures. The use of pre-existing dexterous skills, and preexisting experience with the fluoroscopic x-ray imaging system, is expected to facilitate the use of this RCNS following minimal training time. Further investigation *in vivo* is warranted based on these results.

4.5 Conclusion

A study was conducted to compare the navigation efficacy of a novel remote catheter navigation system, which utilizes the manual dexterous skills of bedside navigation, with conventional bedside catheter navigation. Using a custom built, 2D multi-path phantom and six operators with three different interventional experience levels, we found the navigation efficacy of the remote navigation system to be comparable to the navigation efficacy of conventional bedside navigation, when operated by experienced interventionalists.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank all the participants of this study, Hristo Nikolov for the construction of the 2D multi-path navigation phantom, Syed Haider for his assistance during experimental setup and data collection, and the Medical Imaging Department, University Hospital in London Health Science Centre, for use of their fluoroscopic x-ray imaging system. This work would not be possible without the generous funding from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (grant #: MOP49536), Ontario Research Fund, and The University of Western Ontario.

References

- [1] M. Negoro, M. Tanimoto, F. Arai, T. Fukuda, K. Fukasaku, and I. Takahashi, "An intelligent catheter system robotic controlled catheter system.," *Interv Neuroradiol*, vol. 7, pp. 111-113, 2001.
- [2] R. Beyar, L. Gruberg, D. Deleanu, A. Roguin, Y. Almagor, S. Cohen, G. Kumar, and T. Wenderow, "Remote-control percutaneous coronary interventions: concept, validation, and first-in-humans pilot clinical trial," vol. 47, pp. 296-300, Jan 17 2006.
- [3] A. G. Al-Ahmad, Jessica D. and P. J. Wang, "Early Experience with a Computerized Robotically Controlled Catheter System," *J Interv Card Electr*, vol. 12, pp. 199-202, April 2005.
- [4] M. N. Faddis, W. Blume, J. Finney, A. Hall, J. Rauch, J. Sell, K. T. Bae, M. Talcott, and B. Lindsay, "Novel, magnetically guided catheter for endocardial mapping and radiofrequency catheter ablation," *Circulation*, vol. 106, pp. 2980-5, Dec 3 2002.
- [5] J. K. Chun, B. Schmidt, K. H. Kuck, and S. Ernst, "Remote-controlled magnetic ablation of a right anterolateral accessory pathway the superior caval vein approach," *J Interv Card Electrophysiol*, vol. 16, pp. 65-8, Jun 2006.
- [6] M. Schiemann, R. Killmann, M. Kleen, N. Abolmaali, J. Finney, and T. J. Vogl, "Vascular guide wire navigation with a magnetic guidance system: experimental results in a phantom," *Radiology*, vol. 232, pp. 475-81, Aug 2004.
- [7] R. Rayman, K. Croome, N. Galbraith, R. McClure, R. Morady, S. Peterson, S. Smith, V. Subotic, A. Van Wynsberghe, and S. Primak, "Long-distance robotic telesurger: a feasibility study for care in remote environments," *Int J Med Robotics Comput Assist Surg*, vol. 2, pp. 216-224, 2006.
- [8] M. S. Grady, M. A. Howard, 3rd, R. G. Dacey, Jr., W. Blume, M. Lawson, P. Werp, and R. C. Ritter, "Experimental study of the magnetic stereotaxis system for catheter manipulation within the brain," *J Neurosurg*, vol. 93, pp. 282-8, Aug 2000.
- [9] L. Grosse-Wortmann, R. Grabitz, M. C. Seghaye, L. Grosse-Wortmann, R. Grabitz, and M.-C. Seghaye, "Magnetic guide-wire navigation in pulmonary and systemic arterial catheterization: initial experience in pigs," *J Vasc Interv Radiol*, vol. 18, pp. 545-51, Apr 2007.
- [10] M. S. Patterson, J. Schotten, C. van Mieghem, F. Kiemeneij, and P. W. Serruys, "Magnetic navigation in percutaneous coronary intervention," *J Interv Cardiol*, vol. 19, pp. 558-65, Dec 2006.

- [11] S. Ramcharitar, M. S. Patterson, R. J. van Geuns, C. van Meighem, P. W. Serruys, S. Ramcharitar, M. S. Patterson, R. J. van Geuns, C. van Meighem, and P. W. Serruys, "Technology Insight: magnetic navigation in coronary interventions," *Nat Clin Pract Cardiovasc Med*, vol. 5, pp. 148-56, Mar 2008.
- [12] T. Krings, J. Finney, P. Niggemann, P. Reinacher, N. Luck, A. Drexler, J. Lovell, A. Meyer, R. Sehra, P. Schauerte, M. Reinges, F. J. Hans, and A. Thron, "Magnetic versus manual guidewire manipulation in neuroradiology: in vitro results," *Neuroradiology*, vol. 48, pp. 394-401, Jun 2006.
- [13] S. Ramcharitar, M. S. Patterson, R. J. van Geuns, M. van der Ent, G. Sianos, G. M. Welten, R. T. van Domburg, and P. W. Serruys, "A randomised controlled study comparing conventional and magnetic guidewires in a two-dimensional branching tortuous phantom simulating angulated coronary vessels.[see comment]," *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv*, vol. 70, pp. 662-8, Nov 1 2007.
- [14] H. M. Garcia-Garcia, K. Tsuchida, H. Meulenbrug, A. T. L. Ong, W. J. van der Giessen, and P. W. Serruys, "Magnetic Navigation in a Coronary Phantom: Experimental Results," *EuroIntervention*, vol. 1, pp. 321-328, 2005.

Chapter 5 :

Tele-Robotic Catheter Navigation: First Remote Navigation In Vivo⁴

5.1 Introduction

Catheter-based ablation procedures are the treatment of choice for many supraventricular arrhythmias, and are evolving into the first line therapeutic choice for treatment of atrial fibrillation (AF) and ventricular tachycardia [1-8]. Successful ablation treatment of AF is currently between 80-100%, continually improving with better interventional techniques. However, long procedure times associated with catheter based intervention has led to a growing concern regarding the cumulative exposure to the interventionalist. An active magnetic navigation system and a robotic navigation system are now commercially available to alleviate this risk, as well as improve control of the catheter inside the cardiac chambers. [9-12]. Comparison of these technologies with conventional, bedside catheter manipulation has been performed using physical models

⁴ This chapter by: Thakur Y., Jones D.L., Skanes A., Yee R., and Drangova M., is a manuscript in preparation for submission to the journal *Circulation*.

[13-15], animal trials [10, 16], and in the clinical arena [17, 18]. Although comparable navigation efficacy has been shown between remote and conventional techniques; deficiencies including: increased procedure time, steep learning curve, specialized procedure rooms and cost, exist in both systems [19]. Since the use of these technologies has yet to provide a clear patient benefit, the cost (capital and training) of these technologies may not be warranted.

A simpler remote catheter navigation system has been developed to utilize the conventional navigation skills of an experienced interventionalist, but from a location remote to the patient [20]. This navigation system has also been designed to easily integrate into existing procedures without affecting clinical workflow or requiring large capital expenditures.

The primary objective of this study is to evaluate the safety and feasibility of the RCNS, *in vivo*. The ability to navigate a catheter to seven anatomical locations in the two right chambers of the heart was tested with the RCNS and conventional catheter manipulation. Navigation time, exposure, and exposure time were compared between navigation methods. Lesions were placed at the seven anatomical locations and overall procedure time was recorded for each remote navigation procedure. In addition, the time required to integrate the RCNS into the procedure room was measured to assess impact to workflow.

5.2 Methods

5.2.1 Animal Preparation

All animal studies were performed in accordance with institutional and national guidelines and approved by the University of Western Ontario Council on Animal Care (Protocol #2008-046-05). Eight male pigs, weighing 25 to 35 kg, were used in this study.

Each pig was injected with atropine (0.04 mg/kg, IM) and pre-medicated with Telazol reconstituted with Xylazine (5 ml of 100 mg/ml) and administered at a dose of 0.5 to 1.0 ml per 23-45 kg), then intubated and maintained under general anaesthesia (1-2% isoflurane in O_2 and NO mixture). To access the vasculature, a 9 F introducer sheath (Fast-Cath, St. Jude Medical, St. Paul, MN) was inserted into the right femoral vein using the Seldinger technique.

5.2.2 RCNS and Experimental Setup

The RCNS, previously described in Chapter 3, consists of two electromechanical devices, connected in a master-slave configuration. The master device is an electromechanical sensor (the Catheter Sensor: CS) that accepts a generic catheter, termed the *input catheter*, while the slave device is an electromechanical actuator (the Catheter Manipulator: CM) that accepts a second generic catheter, termed the *patient catheter*. During remote catheter manipulation, the interventionalist can push, pull, or twist the input catheter - applied motions similar to conventional, bedside navigation.

Position changes of the input catheter are measured by the CS and then transferred, via a workstation, to motion-controllers connected to the CM. The motion applied to the input catheter is then replicated using the second patient catheter, with a motion latency of 180 ms.

For all experiments, the RCNS was used in conjunction with a portable, clinical grade X-ray system (9900 Elite, GE HealthCare, Waukesha, WI), in digital fluoroscopy mode (technique: 88 kVp, 8 P/S. 15 F/s). To integrate the two systems, the CS, CM, and workstation were placed on a portable cart inside the imaging suite. The CM was mounted on an articulated arm and attached to the patient bed. Movement of the articulated arm allowed the position of the CM to adapt for the physiological size differences of each pig, which can result in different positions of the introducing sheath. The experimental setup is depicted in Fig. 5-1.

Unless otherwise stated, all experiments were performed using a 7 F deflectable catheter (non-irrigated, 4 mm electrode, 7 F, F-type curvature, BioSense Webster Inc., Diamond Bar, CA).



Fig. 5-1: The RCNS integrated into an experimental procedure suite. The operator (a), situated approximately 3 meters from the patient bed, manipulates the input catheter inside the CS (b) while viewing the 2D fluoroscopic images (c), and the ECG (d). Mounted on an articulated arm, the CM (e) replicates the motion of the input catheter, inside the pig. The workstation of the RCNS is placed beside the operator (not shown).

5.2.3 Operator Selection and Training

One electrophysiologist with more than ten years of clinical experience participated in this study. To ensure familiarity with porcine electrophysiology and anatomy under fluoroscopic imaging, and the navigation system, the operator was provided with *in vivo* training, using two pigs. During training, the operator remotely navigated the ablation catheter to various anatomical targets, as described in the subsequent section, using the RCNS, ECG's and fluoroscopic x-ray imaging. Timing was not recorded during the training sessions.

Due to the inability to remotely deflect the tip of the RF catheter with the current CM prototype, a second operator was positioned beside the CM device to apply tip deflection when requested by the electrophysiologist. This limitation of the RCNS was intentional, as the mechanisms used in deflectable catheters are not standardized across manufactures.

5.2.4 Procedure and Data Collection

5.2.4.1 Initial Setup

Prior to evaluating the feasibility of remote navigation, the impact of integrating the RCNS into workflow was evaluated by measuring the time required to setup the RCNS inside the procedure suite. Since the majority of initial setup occurred in parallel with animal preparation, timing commenced once the veterinary technologist completed

animal preparation, consisting of the time required to: mount the CM on the articulated arm, load the CM with the patient catheter, position the articulated CM, and finally advance the patient catheter to the apex of heart, just above the diaphragm in a fluoroscopic image.

5.2.4.2 Navigation to Anatomical Locations

Navigation to seven anatomical locations in the right chambers of the heart was performed with the RCNS (six pigs, 33.2±3.2 kg) and conventional catheter navigation (four pigs, 32.2±3.5 kg), using a combination of posterior-anterior (P-A) fluoroscopic imaging, and electrogram analysis. To standardize navigation timing, the catheter was positioned in the fluoroscopic image, just above the diaphragm, prior to all trials. Navigation time concluded when the electrophysiologist confirmed the catheter was at the correct anatomical location, using conventional electrophysiology criteria. Total navigation time, exposure and exposure time were recorded for all remote and conventional trials. The following seven anatomical locations were targeted in sequential order, using both navigation techniques: Right Ventricle Free Wall (RV-FW), Right Ventricular Outflow Tract (RV-OT), Coronary Sinus (CoS), Right Atrial Free Wall (RA-FW), Right Atrial Roof (RA-R), Right Ventricle Apex (RV-A), and finally, the HIS bundle

Once the catheter was positioned remotely with the RCNS at the intended anatomical location, a RF lesion was placed (RF power: 30 s at 25 W). The ECG was monitored

throughout the delivery of RF power and post ablation. Confirmation of a successful RF lesion was assessed by the electrophysiologist using the post-ablation ECG. Ablation was not performed during conventional catheter navigation.

Total procedure time to remotely navigate the catheter from the diaphragm to the intended site and perform one RF ablation was recorded for all remote navigation trials. Upon placement of all RF lesions the pig was euthanized and the heart excised for visual confirmation of RF lesions.

5.2.5 Statistical Analysis

For the initial setup and integration the mean and standard deviation were calculated. Navigation time, exposure, and exposure time were compared between navigation method and anatomical target using a two-way ANOVA (unmatched).

Repeated measures ANOVA with a post test for linear trend was applied to overall procedure time and remote navigation time, to test whether a learning effect occurred.

All statistical analysis was performed using Prism[™] 4 (GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA); P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

5.3 Results

Seven anatomical targets were successfully reached using the RCNS in all but one animal. Using conventional navigation in four animals all anatomical targets were successfully reached with the exception of the CoS in one pig. One operational failure of the RCNS occurred due to an incorrect calibration of the CM. All data points for this animal were omitted from calculations, thus all remote experiments report five completed animals (N=5, 33.1 ± 1.7 kg). A poor connection between the workstation and CM occurred once during setup of the CM, and was repaired onsite. On three different occasions a software reboot was required after the operator failed to properly engage the RCNS, upon reboot the experiments were carried out successfully.

5.3.1 Initial Setup

Setup of the RCNS within the procedure room required 5 minutes to complete, on average (mean \pm std: 300 \pm 77s,). In trial 3, the CM of the RCNS would not correctly manipulate the remote catheter due to a poor connection between the motion-controllers and the workstation; timing was recorded while this malfunction was corrected. This malfunction did not adversely affect the overall initial setup time.

5.3.2 Anatomical Target Navigation

Using the RCNS, remote catheter placement at all anatomical sites was successfully completed. One navigation failure was reported during conventional catheter manipulation when the operator was unable to place the catheter in the coronary sinus of one animal. The operator switched from an F-type curvature to a D-type curvature and then successfully completed the procedure. For this data point (conventional pig 2, CoS),

the combined navigation time, exposure and exposure time for both catheters are reported.

Due to the high susceptibility to ventricular fibrillation (VF) in pigs, ablation at ventricular sites always induced VF. In each instance of VF, the pig was successfully defibrillated, and resumed sinus rhythm. For these sites, ablation was terminated as soon as the VF was initiated, and the procedure was considered complete (*i.e.* defibrillation was not included in the measures of procedure time).

5.3.3 Procedure Time

Procedure time for all anatomical targets per animal reached using the RCNS were analyzed using a repeated measures ANOVA. Statistically significant differences were found between animals (P<0.01) and demonstrated a decreasing linear trend over sequential trials (Fig. 5-2a). Repeated measures ANOVA was also used to compare remote navigation time (a component of procedure time) but no significant differences were found between animals (P=0.4) and no linear trend over sequential animals was observed (Fig. 5-2b).

These results indicate that the decrease in overall procedure time was not due to the use of the RCNS, and mostly likely due to improvements in experimental workflow (including increased experience with the imaging system, ECG system, and ablation unit)



Fig. 5-2: Total procedure time (a) and navigation time (b) over sequential trials. A statistically significant downward trend is clearly visible over sequential trials for total procedure time but not remote navigation time. Data shown: median, 25th and 75th percentile, and range.

5.3.4 Navigation Time, Exposure and Exposure Time

Two-way ANOVA applied to navigation time, exposure, and exposure time using both navigation methods (remote and conventional), showed that the anatomical target had a large effect on navigation time (P<0.001), exposure (P<0.0001) and exposure time (P<0.001), while the navigation method had no statistically significant effect. Overall, this suggests navigation with the RCNS is comparable to conventional catheter manipulation.

Although navigation times did not differ significantly with navigation method, large differences in navigation time, between methods, were measured at four anatomical targets (Fig. 5-3). Using the RCNS, the electrophysiologist required an average of 29s longer to reach the RV-FW and 64s longer to reach the RV-A than with conventional

catheter navigation. Navigation towards these anatomical locations, deep within the right ventricle, required multiple tip deflections of the catheter, which were performed by a second operator based on verbal commands from the electrophysiologist. The electrophysiologist's inability to directly control tip-deflection can explain the large increase in navigation time. On the other hand, using the RCNS, the electrophysiologist required 46s and 63s less than conventional navigation to reach the CoS and HIS, respectively. The faster navigation times with the RCNS may be the result of prior anatomical knowledge of the animal, as conventional catheter navigation was performed on three animals prior to the RCNS. Although experiments were performed in the same three animals with both remote and conventional navigation methods, a matched twoway ANOVA applied to navigation times from the three animals showed anatomical target had a large effect on navigation time, and that matching was not effective (P=0.13).



Fig. 5-3: a) Navigation time to all targets, in all animals, using the RCNS (white), and conventional catheter manipulation (grey). Navigation towards two anatomical targets (CoS and HIS) took much longer with conventional catheter navigation (CoS: 144s vs. 98s, HIS: 117 vs. 54s), while remote navigation took much longer than conventional navigation to reach the RV-FW and RV-A (RV-FW: 58s vs 29s, RV-A: 117s vs. 53s). b) Navigation time to all targets, in 3 matched animals, using the RCNS (white), and conventional catheter manipulation (grey). Matching was not statistically significant. Data shown: mean±sem.

5.3.5 RF Lesion Placement and Physiological Variability

RF lesions were successfully delivered to all anatomical sites in all animals using remote navigation of the catheter. Large lesions were visible directly after excising and inspecting the heart in 30 out of 35 ablated targets, with examples shown in Fig. 5-4. Lesions placed at the CoS were seen in only 2 of 5 animals directly after the procedure, but were confirmed following formalin fixation of the heart. Smaller lesions (visualized only post fixation) were also observed in the first pig at the RV-OT and RA-R.

In two animals, the expected locations of the anatomical targets within the fluoroscopic images were not consistent with the experience obtained with the two training animals. Confirmed placement of the remote catheter in these animals was primarily achieved through electrophysiological measures. Based on the fluoroscopic images, it was hypothesized that the heart's orientation in these two pigs was abnormal. The thoracotomy, performed prior to excision of the heart, visually confirmed this assumption, as the heart's orientation inside the thorax was visually twisted about its long axis. This physiological variability can be appreciated in the fluoroscopic images of the catheter placed at the RV-OT and HIS locations in a pig with an abnormal heart orientation (Fig. 5-5a and Fig. 5-5c) and one with expected orientation (Fig. 5-5b and Fig. 5-5d). A consequence of physiological variability is increased navigation time, as the electrophysiologist may primarily rely on electrograms instead of imaging, further supporting the observation that anatomical target, and not navigation method, is the primary contributor to navigation time.



Fig. 5-4: Visual confirmation of the created RF lesions. Lesions placed at the RV-A, RV-FW, RV-OT, and CoS can be seen on the epicardium (top row and middle-left). Lesions placed at the RA-R, RA-FW, HIS, RV-OT, can be clearly seen on the endocardium (middle-right, bottom row).



Fig. 5-5: X-ray images of the EP catheter placed at the RV-OT (a and c) and the HIS (b and d) in first (a and b) and second (c and d) remote navigation pigs. Twisting of the first pig's heart changed the expected anatomical target locations, clearly visible with the change in the heart's silhouette. This can be seen by comparing the catheters position at the RV-OT in pig 1 (a) and pig 2 (c), or the catheter's position at the HIS in pig 1 (b) and pig 2 (d).
5.4 Discussion

This study demonstrated the feasibility and safety of the prototype RCNS to remotely navigate a RF ablation catheter to predefined targets in the right chambers of the heart. After only two training sessions, an experienced electrophysiologist was successful in remotely placing a catheter with the RCNS, at all intended anatomical locations in five animals. Integrating the RCNS into the procedure room required 5 minutes, minimally affecting workflow. No major system malfunctions occurred during remote catheter navigation (i.e. run-away patient catheter or uncontrolled mechanics). These results demonstrate the RCNS as a safe navigation method to reduce occupational risk to electrophysiologists by allowing them to remotely navigate the RF catheter from a location remote to the patient.

Although this study primarily looked at feasibility and safety of the RCNS *in vivo*, conventional catheter manipulation was performed to provide a comparison of this navigation system with the conventional navigation technique. A prior *in vitro* study, presented in Chapter 4, demonstrated comparable navigation efficacy between remote and conventional navigation methods using a rigid phantom. The rigid phantom required operators in that study to perform the same navigation tasks without variability, which resulted in a slight increase in remote navigation time (9s) due to the latency in replicated motion. Based on the Chapter 4 study, remote navigation time was expected to be longer than conventional catheter navigation. The results obtained in the present study are

contrary to this, which demonstrated that navigation time was not affected by the navigation method, but strongly affected by the anatomical target. Overall, this result indicates the 180 ms latency in replicated motion in the prototype RCNS is sufficiently small for tele-operated catheter navigation.

A natural extension of navigation time is the impact of remote catheter navigation on procedure time. If remote catheter navigation considerably increases procedure time, the interventionalist will benefit from reduced occupational risk, while the patient may suffer from longer duration of anaesthesia and immobility during the procedure. In addition to this "trade-off," increased procedure time would unnecessarily occupy procedure rooms. A study by Kim *et al.* [22] showed magnetic catheter navigation required 89 minutes longer than conventional navigation to map and ablate various cardiac arrhythmias in a clinical setting. Similarly, Ray *et al.* [23] compared magnetic navigation with conventional navigation in a swine model, concluding that procedure time was 35 minutes longer when using the magnetic navigation system. In contrast, the RCNS required 5 minutes to integrate into an existing procedure room, and no difference was found between navigation methods.

It should be noted that the studies presented by Ray *et al.* and Kim *et al.* were full arrhythmia treatment, where the procedure incorporated: catheter navigation, electroanatomical mapping, arrhythmia localization, ablation and post-ablation monitoring. Since these are complete studies, lesion placement occurred with high fidelity to minimize placement of unnecessary lesions in the heart, thus direct comparison of these procedure times with the present study is not valid. Nevertheless, procedure times using magnetic navigation were much higher than conventional navigation. In a clinical setting, since the RCNS incorporates the conventional catheter manipulation technique, navigation times between conventional manipulation and the RCNS are not expected to differ.

In the current implementation, the prototype RCNS has one major limitation - the inability to remotely deflect the catheter tip. To overcome this limitation, an operator was positioned bedside to change the tip curvature based on verbal commands from the electrophysiologist, potentially increasing the overall remote navigation time. A simple method to overcome this limitation in future version would be to implement a motorized assembly, placed on the handle of the catheter, to remotely change tip curvature. However, this solution would make the RCNS catheter specific, as the mechanism used to deflect catheter tips is not standardized across manufacturers. RF ablation catheters containing a motorized assembly within the handle, supplied by the manufacturer would be an ideal long-term solution.

In the presented study, remote catheter manipulation was not used to localize arrhythmic circuits prior to ablation. The iterative process of localizing the arrhythmic circuit and applying curative lesions, remotely, is a crucial step towards validating this navigation system. Utilizing the RCNS to remotely localize and apply RF ablation in animals with induced arrhythmia will be the subject of future work.

5.5 Conclusion

This *in vivo* study demonstrates the RCNS as a safe, effective technology to reduce the occupational risk to electrophysiologists. Only five minutes was required to integrate the RCNS into the procedure room, minimally affecting workflow. Remote catheter navigation with the RCNS and conventional catheter navigation were successful in reaching all seven anatomical locations. No statistical differences between remote and conventional catheter manipulation were observed. Utilizing the RCNS to perform a full arrhythmia procedure, from arrhythmic localization to curative ablation will be the topic of future work.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank our registered veterinary technologists Sheri VanLingen and Karen Siroen for the preparation of all animals, Syed Haider and Preet Desai for their assistance in data collection, Joy Dunmore-Buyze for assistance during experimentation and Dr. Gerard Guiraudon for excising the hearts and confirming lesion placement. This work would not be possible without the generous funding from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR), Ontario Research Fund (ORF), and The University of Western Ontario.

References

- [1] A. Verma and A. Natale, "Should atrial fibrillation ablation be considered firstline therapy for some patients? Why atrial fibrillation ablation should be considered first-line therapy for some patients," *Circulation*, vol. 112, pp. 1214-22, Aug 2005.
- [2] M. Haissaguerre, M. Hocini, Y. Takahashi, M. D. O'Neill, A. Pernat, P. Sanders, A. Jonsson, M. Rotter, F. Sacher, T. Rostock, S. Matsuo, L. Arantes, K. Teng Lim, S. Knecht, P. Bordachar, J. Laborderie, P. Jais, G. Klein, and J. Clementy, "Impact of catheter ablation of the coronary sinus on paroxysmal or persistent atrial fibrillation," *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol*, vol. 18, pp. 378-86, Apr 2007.
- [3] M. D. O'Neill, P. Jais, Y. Takahashi, A. Jonsson, F. Sacher, M. Hocini, P. Sanders, T. Rostock, M. Rotter, A. Pernat, J. Clementy, and M. Haissaguerre, "The stepwise ablation approach for chronic atrial fibrillation--evidence for a cumulative effect," *J Interv Card Electrophysiol*, vol. 16, pp. 153-67, Sep 2006.
- [4] W. M. Jackman, K. J. Beckman, J. McClelland, and R. Lazzara, "Localization and radiofrequency catheter ablation of accessory AV pathways in Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome," *J Electrocardiol*, vol. 24 Suppl, p. 24, 1992.
- [5] W. M. Jackman, K. J. Beckman, J. H. McClelland, X. Wang, K. J. Friday, C. A. Roman, K. P. Moulton, N. Twidale, H. A. Hazlitt, M. I. Prior, and et al., "Treatment of supraventricular tachycardia due to atrioventricular nodal reentry, by radiofrequency catheter ablation of slow-pathway conduction," *N Engl J Med*, vol. 327, pp. 313-8, Jul 30 1992.
- [6] S. Kothari, A. K. Gupta, Y. Y. Lokhandwala, A. M. Vora, P. G. Kerkar, R. K. Thakur, S. Kothari, A. K. Gupta, Y. Y. Lokhandwala, A. M. Vora, P. G. Kerkar, and R. K. Thakur, "Atriofascicular pathways: Where to ablate?," *Pacing Clin Electrophysiol*, vol. 29, pp. 1226-33, Nov 2006.
- [7] V. Y. Reddy and V. Y. Reddy, "Mechanisms and catheter ablation of ventricular tachycardia," *Tex Heart Inst J*, vol. 32, pp. 202-3, 2005.
- [8] U. Tedrow, W. G. Stevenson, U. Tedrow, and W. G. Stevenson, "Strategies for epicardial mapping and ablation of ventricular tachycardia," *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol*, vol. 20, pp. 710-3, Jun 2009.
- [9] R. Beyar, L. Gruberg, D. Deleanu, A. Roguin, Y. Almagor, S. Cohen, G. Kumar, and T. Wenderow, "Remote-control percutaneous coronary interventions: concept, validation, and first-in-humans pilot clinical trial," *J. Am. Coll. Cardiol.*, vol. 47, pp. 296-300, Jan 2006.
- [10] M. N. Faddis, W. Blume, J. Finney, A. Hall, J. Rauch, J. Sell, K. T. Bae, M. Talcott, and B. Lindsay, "Novel, magnetically guided catheter for endocardial

mapping and radiofrequency catheter ablation," *Circulation*, vol. 106, pp. 2980-5, Dec 2002.

- [11] W. Saliba, J. E. Cummings, S. Oh, Y. Zhang, T. N. Mazgalev, R. A. Schweikert, J. D. Burkhardt, and A. Natale, "Novel robotic catheter remote control system: feasibility and safety of transseptal puncture and endocardial catheter navigation," J. Cardiovasc. Electr., vol. 17, pp. 1102-5, Oct 2006.
- [12] V. Y. Reddy, P. Neuzil, Z. J. Malchano, R. Vijaykumar, R. Cury, S. Abbara, J. Weichet, C. D. McPherson, and J. N. Ruskin, "View-synchronized robotic image-guided therapy for atrial fibrillation ablation: experimental validation and clinical feasibility," vol. 115, pp. 2705-14, May 29 2007.
- [13] M. Schiemann, R. Killmann, M. Kleen, N. Abolmaali, J. Finney, and T. J. Vogl, "Vascular guide wire navigation with a magnetic guidance system: experimental results in a phantom," *Radiology*, vol. 232, pp. 475-81, Aug 2004.
- [14] H. M. Garcia-Garcia, K. Tsuchida, H. Meulenbrug, A. T. L. Ong, W. J. van der Giessen, and P. W. Serruys, "Magnetic Navigation in a Coronary Phantom: Experimental Results," *EuroIntervention*, vol. 1, pp. 321-328, 2005.
- [15] S. Ramcharitar, M. S. Patterson, R. J. van Geuns, M. van der Ent, G. Sianos, G. M. Welten, R. T. van Domburg, P. W. Serruys, S. Ramcharitar, M. S. Patterson, R. J. van Geuns, M. van der Ent, G. Sianos, G. M. J. M. Welten, R. T. van Domburg, and P. W. Serruys, "A randomised controlled study comparing conventional and magnetic guidewires in a two-dimensional branching tortuous phantom simulating angulated coronary vessels.[see comment]," *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv*, vol. 70, pp. 662-8, Nov 1 2007.
- [16] L. Grosse-Wortmann, R. Grabitz, and M. C. Seghaye, "Magnetic guide-wire navigation in pulmonary and systemic arterial catheterization: initial experience in pigs," *J Vasc Interv Radiol*, vol. 18, pp. 545-51, Apr 2007.
- [17] A. S. Thornton and L. Jordaens, "A left-sided accessory pathway revisited with remote retrograde magnetic navigation," *Pacing Clin Electrophysiol*, vol. 30, pp. 573-6, Apr 2007.
- [18] A. S. Thornton, M. Rivero-Ayerza, P. Knops, and L. J. Jordaens, "Magnetic navigation in left-sided AV reentrant tachycardias: preliminary results of a retrograde approach," *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol*, vol. 18, pp. 467-72, May 2007.
- [19] B. Schmidt, K. R. Chun, R. R. Tilz, B. Koektuerk, F. Ouyang, and K. H. Kuck, "Remote navigation systems in electrophysiology," *Europace*, vol. 10 Suppl 3, pp. iii57-61, Nov 2008.

- [20] Y. Thakur, J. S. Bax, D. W. Holdsworth, and M. Drangova, "Design and Performance Evaluation of a Remote Catheter Navigation System," *IEEE Trans. Bio-Med. Eng.*, vol. 56, pp. 1901-1908, July 2009.
- [21] Y. Thakur, C. J. Norley, I. B. Gulka, D. W. Holdsworth, and M. Drangova, "Catheter Navigation Efficacy of a Tele-Operator Catheter Navigation System: Experimental Results in a Multi-Path Phantom," *Radiology*, (Submitted).
- [22] A. M. Kim, M. Turakhia, J. Lu, N. Badhwar, B. K. Lee, R. J. Lee, G. M. Marcus, Z. H. Tseng, M. Scheinman, and J. E. Olgin, "Impact of remote magnetic catheter navigation on ablation fluoroscopy and procedure time," *PACE*, vol. 31, pp. 1399-404, Nov 2008.
- [23] I. B. Ray, S. Dukkipati, C. Houghtaling, C. D. McPherson, N. Kastelein, J. N. Ruskin, and V. Y. Reddy, "Initial experience with a novel remote-guided magnetic catheter navigation system for left ventricular scar mapping and ablation in a porcine model of healed myocardial infarction," J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol, vol. 18, pp. 520-5, May 2007.

Chapter 6 :

Contributions, Limitations and Future Direction

6.1 Contributions

The goal of this thesis was to alleviate the occupational risk to physicians who frequently perform catheter-based interventions, by increasing the distance between the interventionalist and the radiation source during intravascular catheter manipulation. This thesis describes the design and validation of a prototype remote catheter navigation system for this purpose.

In addition to the development and validation of a prototype remote catheter navigation system, this thesis has also contributed: 1) the quantification of the range of catheter dynamics during interventional procedures (Chapter 2), and 2) the design and fabrication of a multi-path phantom (Chapter 4 and Appendix D).

6.1.1 The Remote Catheter Navigation System

Each chapter of this thesis concerns itself with the design, development and validation of a remote catheter navigation system. During the design phase, criteria were set forth to develop a remote catheter navigation system that could: utilize generic catheters, integrate easily into existing x-ray imaging suites, and was easy to use. The last criterion, "easy to use", is fundamental towards the remote navigation concept – utilizing the dexterous skills of an experienced interventionalist – during catheter manipulation from a remote location with respect to the patient.

To utilize the dexterous skills of an experienced interventionalist, keeping the catheter in the hands of the interventionalist, during remote catheter manipulation, was a logical choice. From an engineering design prospective, keeping the catheter in the hands of the interventionalist during remote manipulation would require two complementary devices: one to sense the motion of the catheter held by the interventionalist, and a second to replicate the sensed motion.

Design of these devices required knowledge of catheter dynamics during interventional procedures, a topic that is scarce in the literature. Thus, Chapter 2 investigated this topic using very simple, yet elegant, bench-top experiments. Results from Chapter 2 provided the technical parameters required to develop the motion actuating device (the catheter manipulator: CM). Chapter 3 began with a conceptual description of the design and operation of the remote catheter navigation system (RCNS). Using the technical parameters measured in Chapter 2, the design of the CM was conceived and implemented. Validation of the RCNS, *in vitro*, demonstrated the RCNS could sense and replicate motion within the intended design parameters: < 1 mm in the axial direction, < 1° in the radial direction, and replicate motion within 300 ms.

Maintaining the navigation efficacy of manual catheter manipulation during remote navigation is fundamental towards acceptance of this technology. Chapter 4 of this thesis described a study comparing remote and conventional navigation techniques, by employing operators with varied clinical experience and the specially constructed multipath vessel phantom. The results demonstrate comparable navigation efficacy was achieved by the expert operator group, after only 1 hr training with the RCNS.

Finally, Chapter 5 of this thesis demonstrated *in vivo* application of the RCNS. The RCNS was safely utilized to remotely navigate and perform RF ablation at seven anatomical targets in five porcine models. No difference in the navigation time required to reach the anatomical targets was observed between remote navigation with the RCNS and conventional catheter manipulation. In addition, only 5 minutes was required to integrate the RCNS into an existing operating room. These results demonstrate the RCNS as feasible technology to reduce the occupational risk to electrophysiologists, by allowing them to perform procedures from a location remote to the patient.

6.1.2 Catheter Dynamics

In addition to providing technical parameters towards the development of the CM, the results from Chapter 2 are applicable elsewhere. A likely application is the development of computer simulators to train interventionalists. Typically, simulator developers rely on assumptions regarding external forces and torques applied to the catheter as well as the range of kinematics. Simulators developed by Alderliesten *et al.* [1] and Lawton *et al.* [2] set the velocity and acceleration parameters to zero when calculating the change in the simulated catheters position. Alderliesten justified this by stating that human motion is moderate, and that propagation of the catheter can be done piece-by-piece in a controlled manner. Lawton bases this assumption on the principle that the mass, velocity, and acceleration of the catheter is so small that inertial forces are instantaneously dampened with respect to catheter movement. The results in Chapter 2 provide a range of velocities and accelerations subjected to the catheter during navigation. Simulator design engineers can utilize these results to validate their assumptions and improve simulator performance.

6.1.3 The Multi-Path Vessel Phantom

In Chapter 4 of this thesis, a multi-path vessel phantom was specially constructed to provide catheter navigation tasks to compare remote verse conventional catheter navigation. One expert operator who participated in the study presented in Chapter 4 has requested the use of this phantom to examine whether the phantom can be used to develop core catheter manipulation skills in residents and fellows. The parameters of this study are described in future work (section 6.3.3). A manuscript describing the design considerations and construction of this phantom is available in Appendix D.

6.1.4 Conclusion

A tele-operated, remote catheter navigation system, which is easy to use and minimally affects workflow, has been constructed and validated in both *in vitro* and *in vivo*, for use in fluoroscopic x-ray image guided percutaneous transluminal catheter interventions. The range of catheter motion and dynamics applied by interventionalist was quantified (Chapter 2) and used to design and construct an electromechanical device that can replicate catheter motion with the same dynamic range as interventionalists. Custom software was implemented on a Linux workstation to provide real-time sensing of an input catheter, and real-time replication of a second patient catheter. *In vitro* results demonstrate the system can sense and replicate catheter motion to within 1mm in the axial direction, 1° in the radial direction, with a motion latency of 180 ms. Furthermore, comparison of this navigation system, with the gold standard, conventional catheter manipulation, showed that after only 1 hour of training on the system, an experienced interventionalist can navigate a catheter with the comparable navigation efficacy as conventional catheter navigation.

Finally, the feasibility of this system was evaluated *in vivo* by remotely navigating a RF ablation catheter to seven anatomical targets in five porcine animals. No differences were observed between remote catheter navigation and conventional catheter navigation.

Overall, the *in vivo* results validate the design assumptions and methodologies described throughout this thesis, demonstrating the RCNS as a safe, easy to use, remote catheter navigation system.

6.2 Limitations

6.2.1 Clinical Limitations

For clinical application, all devices and instruments that make contact with the patient must be sterile. In the RCNS, the CM manipulates the patient catheter inside the patient's vasculature, thus contaminating the CM. After each procedure, the CM is dismantled and manually cleaned, a task that is time consuming and leads to unnecessary wear on the CM components. This cleaning method does not include sterilization, as some components cannot withstand the temperature and pressure of an autoclave. Future implementations of the CM will require a sterilization method. This may be achieved by constructing the CM with a material that can be placed in an autoclave (*i.e.* PEEK), or designing a set of replaceable parts that are easily exchanged in the CM after each procedure. These are challenges that must be overcome prior to clinical use.

6.2.2 Technical Limitation

Motion replication delay, as evaluated in Chapter 3, demonstrates a system induced replicated motion delay of 180 ms. Although this delay was better than the target delay of 300 ms, and was found to be acceptable by experienced practitioners (Chapter 4 and Chapter 5). A reduction of this delay would improve the motion sensitivity of the system, further reducing the training time required to efficiently use the RCNS, as well reducing the difference in navigation time between the RCNS and conventional navigation, as determined in Chapter 4. In addition, a reduction in the difference in navigation time should also lead to reduced radiation exposure to the patient during remote navigation.

As described in Appendix C, the delay time is affected predominately by the RS232 serial communication strategy implemented with the CM. A minimum communication time of 140 ms is required to update the single-axis motion controllers with new position, velocity and acceleration parameters. Utilizing either a USB or CAN-based communication protocol will provide faster communication, resulting in shorter communication time, which will lead to improved motion sensitivity in the RCNS.

The use of deflectable tip catheters in the CM is also limited. In arrhythmia studies, deflectable tip catheters allow the interventionalist to change the curvature of the catheter's tip, while the catheter is inside the heart. The method of tip deflection is not standardized, and was intentionally omitted from the prototype RCNS. Future versions

of the RCNS should incorporate a mechanism to handle common deflectable tip catheters.

In the current implementation, the RCNS does not provide tactile feedback. Lack of tactile sensation is adequate for catheter-based treatment of cardiac arrhythmia, where tactile forces at the catheter-tip are not required for successful catheterization. In some PTC interventions, in which the interventionalist needs to traverse a vessel containing atherosclerotic plaque or calcification, tactile sensation of the guidewire through vessel maybe essential for safe passage. Potential methods to sense tactile sensation will be explored in Section 6.3.1.3.

6.3 Future Direction

Based on the work presented in this thesis, future directions of work include: 1) design enhancements of the CM, 2) current development of an improved MRI compatible CM, 3) assessment of the multi-path vessel phantom as a training tool for residents and fellows, and 4) direction towards clinical application. These future directions are subsequently described.

6.3.1 Technical Development

6.3.1.1 Design Improvements

Although the prototype RCNS operated within specification and was successfully demonstrated *in vivo*, the technical knowledge and experience gained throughout this thesis will lead to an improved second generation RCNS, specifically the CM.

In the mechanical design implementation, described in Chapter 3, inserting the patient catheter into the device was difficult due to the stiff resistance from the single, spring-loaded, axial drive roller. Replacing the axial drive mechanism with a spring-less, dual roller system, will facilitate insertion and extraction of the patient catheter in the CM.

Detection of micro-slips is a feature that can be implemented in a future CM. Microslips occur when loss of 1:1 movement between the patient catheter and remote catheter occurs. Although calibration of the CM rectifies this, calibration occurs *in vitro*, while micro-slipping has been seen *in vivo*. Fortunately, the occurrence of micro-slips is rarely noticed by operators, as the operator is unable to see micro motions of the catheter under fluoroscopic x-ray imaging. The ability to detect and correct for micro-slips will enable the RCNS with the ability to precisely playback a recorded navigation. This feature will allow for accurate repositioning of the remote catheter, a tool that will be useful arrhythmia studies, where the catheter can be accurately repositioned to a prior ablation site to reapply a healed lesion [3]. Adding passive encoders coupled to the patient in the CM should provide the RCNS with this capability.

6.3.1.2 MRI Compatible Manipulator

Application of MRI towards the diagnosis and treatment of vascular and cardiac disease is well documented. No ionizing radiation, enhanced soft tissue contrast, and 3D imaging, are just a few of the benefits of MRI over fluoroscopic imaging. Catheter visualization and tracking have been explored to exploit the benefits of MRI as a single imaging modality to provide both diagnosis and treatment of vascular and cardiac diseases [4-6]. Access to the patient inside the MRI bore and the sound impediment caused by gradient switching during the imaging sequence are two challenges that can be overcome with a MRI compatible catheter manipulator.

Advances in MRI compatible mechatronics and real-time imaging have enabled the development of MRI compatible robots [7-10]. Typically, MRI compatible robots use pneumatic or hydraulic motors placed outside the MRI bore to control the end effecter inside the MRI bore. Recently, MRI compatible piezoelectric motors have been developed and shown to operate safely inside the MRI bore [11].

Until recently, the velocity and torque produced by piezoelectric motors were unable to satisfy the design specifications for tele-operated catheter navigation, as outlined in Chapter 2. Advances in piezoelectric motor technology have improved, enabling the ability to translate our current design, with design improvements (section 6.3.1.1) into an MRI-compatible manipulator. This new MRI compatible manipulator is depicted in Fig. 6-1.



Fig. 6-1: Depiction of the MRI compatible catheter manipulator. Design and operation of this catheter manipulator is analogous to the CM presented in Chapter 3. Assembly and disassembly of the gantry is simplified, facilitating easy cleaning of gantry components, after use.

Preliminary experiments have been performed to assess the safety of operating piezoelectric motors while simultaneously imaging a quality assurance phantom at 3T (3T-MR750, GE Healthcare Inc., Waukesha, WI). The quality assurance phantom was imaged with FGRE and FIESTA imaging sequences (FGRE: fast gradient recall echo, FIESTA: fast imaging employing stead-state acquisition), while an unshielded piezoelectric motor was placed at the periphery of the scanner bore, 75 cm from the isocenter of the scanner. The motor was operated in four modes, idle, low rpm, high rpm, and changing rpm.

Preliminary results demonstrate safe, simultaneous operation of the MRI system and the piezoelectric motor. The motor was not pulled into the scanner, nor was excessive heating observed on the motors surface. Operating the motor and scanner simultaneously caused a drop in the signal-to-noise ratio (SNR); a concern for MRI guided remote interventions. Interleaving imaging and robotic movement is a simple method which will improve SNR; unfortunately this method is not suitable for a tele-operated system. Shielding the motor with a Faraday cage should improve SNR by reducing the field inhomogeneities in the scanner caused by operation of the motor. Further improvements in SNR will be the subject of future work.

6.3.1.3 Tactile Sensors

As described in section 6.2.2, some PTC interventions require the interventionalist to safely traverse vessels containing atherosclerotic plaque or calcium deposits. Traversing these vessels may require tactile sensation between the guidewire and vessel wall. The simplest method to measure tactile sensation is to mount a sensor directly onto the guidewire-tip, with the sensor leads embedded inside the guidewire or acting as the guidewire. The maximum size of this device would be limited to 1-mm (0.038-inch) in diameter, so that the guidewire and sensor can pass through the lumen of a 5 F catheter. Unfortunately current micro sized pressure transducers and force sensors have a minimum size between 2-4 mm, making them too large to for this application. Advances in micro sensory design and fabrication may enable this ability in the future.

Exploring the torque-current relationship of servo-motors may also provide a measure of the tactile force reflected through the catheter onto the manipulator. In this method, the exact tactile force would not be directly measured. Instead, measurement of the current through each motor can provide a measure of torque used by the manipulator to actuate the patient catheter. As friction between the catheter and vessel change, torque provided by the motors will also change, thus changing the current through the servomotor. Correlating the current changes through the motor with the changes in force at the catheter-tip will be first step towards evaluating this methodology.

6.3.2 Core Interventional Skill Development

As described in section 6.1.3, after being exposed to the vast vessel trajectories and simple construction of the multi-path vessel phantom, Dr. Andrew Leung has initiated a study to determine whether interventional trainees can develop core, catheter manipulation skills with this phantom; a direct benefit of this thesis work. These core skills include: the dexterity required to manipulate the catheter, operate the fluoroscopic system and effectively inject contrast, all in a safe manner. It is hypothesized that after a few hours of training with the phantom, novice operators will substantially develop these core interventional skills. These core skills will then translate into more effective clinical training, as trainee can focus on developing therapeutic skills.

6.3.3 Clinical Application

6.3.3.1 Cardiac Arrhythmia

Chapter 5 of this thesis demonstrated *in vivo* application of the RCNS. In clinical treatment, the origin of arrhythmogenesis is carefully determined prior to ablative therapy. To determine the origin of arrhythmogenesis, the interventionalist sweeps the catheter around the heart until the signal is localized, a process not performed in the Chapter 5 study. Utilizing the RCNS during this process is required prior to clinical use.

Either of two future studies can validate the RCNS during the arrhythmia localization process. In the first study, the acute study presented in Chapter 5 could be extended into a chronic study by inducing a ventricular arrhythmia [12], performing arrhythmia localization, delivery ablative treatment, and then assess treatment effectiveness over time. This chronic study would emulate clinical practice, but in a laboratory setting.

In the second study, the RCNS can be used in conjunction with humans that suffer from cardiac arrhythmia. In this study, the RCNS would simply replace the interventionalist beside the patient, inside the procedure room. All other clinical protocols for diagnosis and treatment should remain the same.

6.3.3.2 Other Interventional Applications

In addition to cardiac arrhythmia, the introduction of this thesis described three commonly performed catheter-based, medical interventions: vascular angiography, vessel

stenosis and vessel dilation. Utilizing the RCNS in these procedures would benefit interventional specialists who perform these procedures.

Utilizing the RCNS during vascular angiography is an obvious first step, as vascular angiography is the simplest of the three interventions. To date, a single remote vascular angiography of the left carotid artery has been attempted in a porcine model using a 6 F catheter (H1, 100 cm, Cook Inc., IN, USA). This experience has provided valuable insight towards understanding two challenges facing remote angiography: handling the guidewire and the limited catheter length.

Handling the guidewire is related to the logistics of integrating the RCNS into the procedure. In the single experiment performed, the guidewire was fixed inside the catheter and remotely navigated to the left carotid artery. Once the catheter was in position the guidewire was manually retracted for contrast injection. When the guidewire was fully removed from the catheter, blood leaked from the proximal end of the catheter into the CM, reducing the device's ability to manipulate the catheter. In the conventional approach, the interventionalist places their finger over the proximal end of the catheter to stop bleeding. Including a hemostat at the proximal end of the catheter, as shown in Fig. 6-2, should remove bleeding in future remote angiography attempts.



Fig. 6-2: A hemostasis connector placed at the proximal end of a catheter during remote vascular angiography. Once the guidewire is withdrawn, an o-ring (not shown) placed inside the connector stops bleeding through the catheter. A mechanical contrast injector can be connected to the open connector for remote contrast injection.

The second challenge refers to the length of the inserted catheter. In the single experiment performed, the catheter was too short to reach the internal carotid artery of the animal via access through the femoral artery. Although a 100 cm catheter was used, a length consistent with cerebral intervention in adults, 22 cm of the catheter is lost inside the CM. Reducing the length of a new CM device or using a longer catheter should remove this challenge in future remote angiography procedure.

Addressing these two challenges with the adaptations provided here should allow for successful remote angiography in animal models; an important step towards remote treatment of vessel stenosis and dilation.

6.3.3.3 Clinical impact of the RCNS

Addressing these clinical limitations will enable widespread usage of this RCNS. By using the RCNS, the interventional specialist and staff in electrophysiology, cardiology, neuroradiology and radiology will all benefit from the reduced occupational risk. Furthermore, the simple integration of the RCNS into existing operating rooms and the short training time required to efficiently use this navigation system will facilitate widespread acceptance of this technology.

References

- [1] T. Alderliesten, M. K. Konings, and W. J. Niessen, "Simulation of minimally invasive vascular interventions for training purposes," vol. 9, pp. 3-15, 2004.
- [2] W. Lawton, R. Raghavan, S. R. Ranjan, and R. R. Viswanathan, "Tubes in tubes: catheter navigation in blood vessels and its applications," vol. 37, pp. 3031-3054, 2000.
- [3] L. Cercenelli, E. Marcelli, G. Plicchi, L. Cercenelli, E. Marcelli, and G. Plicchi, "Initial experience with a telerobotic system to remotely navigate and automatically reposition standard steerable EP catheters," *Asaio J*, vol. 53, pp. 523-9, Sep-Oct 2007.
- [4] A. C. Lardo, E. R. McVeigh, P. Jumrussirikul, R. D. Berger, H. Calkins, J. Lima, and H. R. Halperin, "Visualization and temporal/spatial characterization of cardiac radiofrequency ablation lesions using magnetic resonance imaging," *Circulation*, vol. 102, pp. 698-705, Aug 8 2000.
- [5] C. Ozturk, M. Guttman, E. R. McVeigh, R. J. Lederman, C. Ozturk, M. Guttman, E. R. McVeigh, and R. J. Lederman, "Magnetic resonance imaging-guided vascular interventions," *Top Magn Reson Imaging*, vol. 16, pp. 369-81, Oct 2005.
- [6] A. Jacquier, C. B. Higgins, M. Saeed, A. Jacquier, C. B. Higgins, and M. Saeed, "MR imaging in assessing cardiovascular interventions and myocardial injury," *Contrast Media Mol Imaging*, vol. 2, pp. 1-15, Jan 2007.
- [7] H. Elhawary, A. Zivanovic, B. Davies, and M. Lamperth, "A review of magnetic resonance imaging compatible manipulators in surgery," *Proc Inst Mech Eng [H]*, vol. 220, pp. 413-24, Apr 2006.
- [8] A. J. Suminski, J. L. Zimbelman, and R. A. Scheidt, "Design and validation of a MR-compatible pneumatic manipulandum," *J Neurosci Methods*, vol. 163, pp. 255-66, Jul 30 2007.
- [9] M. Li, D. Mazilu, and K. A. Horvath, "Robotic system for transapical aortic valve replacement with MRI guidance," *Med Image Comput Comput Assist Interv Int Conf Med Image Comput Comput Assist Interv*, vol. 11, pp. 476-84, 2008.
- [10] G. R. Sutherland, I. Latour, A. D. Greer, T. Fielding, G. Feil, and P. Newhook, "An image-guided magnetic resonance-compatible surgical robot," *Neurosurgery*, vol. 62, pp. 286-92; discussion 292-3, Feb 2008.
- [11] O. Wendt, J. Oellinger, T. C. Luth, R. Felix, and U. Boenick, "The Effects of the Use of Peizoelectric Motors in a 1.5-Telsa High-Field Mangetic Resonance Imaging System (MRI)," *Biomedizinishe Technik*, vol. 45, pp. 20-25, 2000.

[12] M. J. Janse, T. Opthof, and A. G. Kleber, "Animal models of cardiac arrhythmias," *Cardiovasc Res*, vol. 39, pp. 165-77, Jul 1998.

Appendix A :

Reprint Permissions

Copyright permission has been obtained for the reprinted figures shown in Chapter 1 (Fig 1-2 and Fig 1-3) and for the two published works that comprise Chapters 2 and 3 of this thesis.

A.1 Reprint Permission: Chapter 1, Fig 1-2

Date: August 31, 2009 11:24:28 AM GMT-04:00 To: ythakun, Subject: Thank you for your Rightslink / Springer order

Thank you for placing your order through Copyright Clearance Center's Rightslink service. Springer has partnered with Rightslink to license its content online. Note: Payee for this order is Copyright Clearance Center.

Your order details and publisher terms and conditions (including any credit line requirements) are available by clicking the link below:

http://s100.copyright.com/CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?IID=2009081_1251732267121

Order Details Licensee: yogesh thakur License Date: Aug 31, 2009 License Number: 2259410675121 Publication: Journal of Interventional Cardiac Electrophysiology Title: Experience of robotic catheter ablation in humans using a novel remotely steerable catheter sheath Type Of Use: Thesis/Dissertation Total: 0.00 USD

To access your account, please visit https://myaccount.copyright.com. Please note: Credit cards payments are charged immediately after order confirmation. Invoice payments are billed twice monthly.

Please take a moment to complete our customer satisfaction survey. http://www.surveymonkey.com/s.asp?u=500021004336

If you have any comments or questions, please contact Rightslink:

Copyright Clearance Center Rightslink Tel (toll free): +1-877-622-5543 Tel: +1-978-646-2777 E-mail: mailto:customercare@copyright.com Web: http://www.copyright.com

B.1:v4.2

A.2 Reprint Permission: Chapter 1, Fig 1-3

From: Permission Requests - UK <permissionsuk@wiley.com> Date: August 26, 2009 5:50:07 AM GMT-04:00 To: Yogesh Thakur Subject: RE: Reprint Permission

Dear Yogesh Thakur,

Thank you for your email request. Permission is granted for you to use the material below for your thesis/dissertation subject to the usual acknowledgements and on the understanding that you will reapply for permission if you wish to distribute or publish your thesis/dissertation commercially.

Best wishes,

Lina Kopicaite

Permissions Assistant Wiley-Blackwell 9600 Garsington Road Oxford OX4 2DQ UK Tel: +44 (0) 1865 476158 Fax: +44 (0) 1865 471158 Email: lkopicai@wiley.com

A.3 Reprint Permission: Chapter 2 and Chapter 3

From: j.hansson@ieee.org Date: July 22, 2009 10:24:31 AM GMT-04:00 To: Yogesh Thakur Subject: Re: Permission to Publish Material Reply-To: Copyrights@ieee.org

Comments/Response to Case ID: 00691888 ReplyTo: Copyrights@ieee.org

From: Jacqueline Hansson Date: 07/22/2009 Subject: Re: Permission to Send To: Yogesh Thakur Publish Material cc:

Dear Yogesh Thakur :

We are happy to grant you this permission to reprint this IEEE copyrighted paper in your thesis and have it placed on your university's website. We have only two requirements that must be satisfied before we can consider this permission final:

(1) The following copyright/credit notice must appear prominently on the first page of the reprinted paper, with the appropriate details filled in:
© [year] IEEE. Reprinted, with permission, from [IEEE publication title, paper title, and author names]

(2) Additionally, if your thesis is to appear on the university's website, the following message should be displayed at the beginning of the credits or in an appropriate and prominent place on the website: This material is posted here with permission of the IEEE. Such permission of the IEEE does not in any way imply IEEE endorsement of any of the University of Western Ontario's products or services. Internal or personal use of this material is permitted. However, permission to reprint/republish this material for advertising or promotional purposes or for creating new collective works for resale or redistribution must be obtained from the IEEE by writing to pubs-permissions@ieee.org.By choosing to view this material, you agree to all provisions of the copyright laws protecting it.

If applicable, University Microfilms, Inc. or ProQuest may supply single copies of the dissertation.

Sincerely,

Jacqueline Hansson

 To whom it may concern,

I am writing you today, to request permission to publish, in full, the following two IEEE TBME articles.

1) Thakur*, Y., Holdsworth, D.W., and Drangova, M. "Characterization of Catheter Dynamics During Percutaneous Transluminal Catheter Procedures" IEEE TBME, (In Press) DOI: 10.1109/TBME.2008.921148

2) Thakur*, Y., Bax, J. S., Holdsworth, D. W., and Drangova, M. "Design and Performance Evaluation of a Remote Catheter Navigation System," IEEE TBME, vol. 56(7) pg. 1901-1908, 2009.

These two articles will be included as separate chapters of my PhD thesis, entitled: From Concept To Design, Evaluation and First In Vivo Demonstration of a Tele-Operated Remote Catheter Navigation System (a working title), in Biomedical Engineering, from The University of Western Ontario, London, Canada. As listed, I am the first author on both publications.

Please let me know if this request is permissible, if so, please attach a letter granting permission. This letter will be included as an Appendix in the final published thesis.

Thank You in advance,

Yogesh

Appendix B:

Animal Ethics Approval



May 6, 2008

"This is the Original Approval for this protocol" "A Full Protocol submission will be required in 2012"

Dear Dr. Drangova:

Your Aremail Use Protocol form enlitled

Catholor Navigation Using a Remote Navigation System to Ablate Autrythmic Sites In a Pig Model - Pilot Funding Agency CIHR - Grain #MOP49535

has been approved by the University Council on Animal Caro. This approval is valid from May 6, 2008 to May 31, 2009. The protocol number for this project is 2008-046-05

- 1. This number must be indicated when ordering an male for fals project.
- An mals for other projects may not be untered under this number.
 If no number access blease contact this office when grant approval is received.
- If the application for funding is not successful are you wish to proceed with the project, request that an internal scientific peer review be performed by the Animal Use Subcommittee office.

certificates will be required.

ANIMALS APPROVED FOR 1 YR.

Species	Strain	Other Delail	Pain Level	Animal # Total for 1 Year
Pių	Palhogen Free	35-50 kg M/F	C	5

STANDARD OPERATING PROCEDURES

Procedures in this protocol should be carried out according to the following SOPs. Please circlad the Animal Usa Subcommittee office (661 2111 ext. 36770) in case of difficulties or if you require copies.

SOP's are also available at http://www.ump.ca/animal/acvs

310 Holding Period Post-Admission 320 Euthanasis

322 Criteria for Early Eulhanasia/Vammale/Non-rode

REQUIREMENTS/COMMENTS

Phase ensure that individual(s) performing procedures on live animats, as described in this protocol, are familiar with the contonis of this occument

Restar review Addendum 5 - Hazardous &/or Biological Agent Use of the attack ed protocol as additional requirements have been included by the Safety Officer

e.e. Approved Protocol - M. Drangova, W. Lagerworf Approval Latar W. Lagerweit

Appendix C :

System Implementation & Software Design

C.1 System Layout

Chapter 3, Section 3.2, provided a brief description of the RCNS layout and software implementation. This appendix provides a detailed description of the system layout, depicted in Fig. C-1 and the software interaction, depicted in Fig. C-2. As described previously in Section 3.2, the main components of the RCNS are: the workstation, the CS, and the CM. In addition to these components, there are two encoder-to-RS232 interface boxes (AD4B, USDigital, WA, USA), and two single axis motion controllers (MVP, MicroMo Inc., Clearwater, FL, USA). Each interface box connects a single axis sensor, in the CS, with a RS232 serial port on the workstation. Each single axis motion-controller connects to an independent motion axis in the CM, and is controlled through independent RS232 serial ports on the workstation. All software used in the workstation (1 GHz dual Athlon®, Linux kernel 2.16.15) used to communicate with the interface boxes and motion-controllers were custom written in C++.



Remote Catheter Navigation System

Fig. C-1: The system layout of the RCNS. Electromechanical sensors placed in the CS transmit encoder counts to an encoder-to-RS-232 interface. A microcontroller, contained in the encoder-to-RS232 interface, handles communication with a digital counter and remote communication with the workstation, via RS-232. Single-axis motion-controllers actuate the each servo-motors contained in the CM. These motion-controllers utilize a standard industrial control system, consisting of: a motion profile generator, PID loop and encoder feedback.



Fig. C-2: Software interaction of the custom written C++ program for the RCNS. Objects CS_{Object} and CM_{Object} are initialized by the object *Initdevices.o*. Using the *pthread* Linux library, the *ThreadSelect.o* accepts references of the CS_{Object} and CM_{Object} objects (gray arrows), and then creates two separate threads – one for each referenced object, arranged in a producer-consumer model, where the CS_{Object} is the producer and the CM_{Object} is the consumer. *FileIO.o* writes two separate files during remote catheter navigation, one for each axis of motion (axial and radial).
C.2 Software Layout

In general, the method of remote navigation is to map position measurements of the CS to the corresponding motion axis of the CM. Since both axis sensors in the CS, and both motion axis of the CM, are connected to the workstation using RS232 serial port communication, this method is essentially linking the RS232 serial ports connected to the CS, with the RS232 serial ports connected to the CM. A major software building block of the RCNS is a custom written serial port driver: *librs232.o*, which provides communication with the interface boxes and motion-controllers using RS232. This object specifically handles port: initialization, reading, writing, and flow control, and is the primary building block in which all subsequent software modules interact.

Communication with the interface boxes connected to the CS is achieved using two other custom C++ objects: *AD4.o* and *Sensor.o.* The *AD4.o* object is the driver for the AD4 encoder-to-RS232 interface box, containing all commands required to interact with the microcontroller inside the interface box. The *Sensor.o* object handles all information pertinent to either: the axial sensor or radial sensor. This includes geometric details of each sensor, calculation of sensor position, and application of all calibration factors required for the CS.

Software interaction with the CM is similar to the CS. *MVP2.o* is the driver for with the single axis motion controllers, containing all pertinent motion-control commands. Parameters specific to the motion axis of the CM (either the axial axis or the radial axis)

are contained in the *Mover.o* object. Similar to the *Sensor.o* object, the *Mover.o* object includes details of each servomotor, the geometric detail of each motion axis, calculation of motor position and velocity, and application of all calibration factors required for the CM.

Operation of the main program occurs in three main steps. First, upon boot-up, all devices are initialized by the *Initdevices.o* object. This object creates four local objects; one for each peripheral device, which for simplicity can be labelled: CS_{Object-Axial}, CS_{Object-Axial}, CS_{Object-Axial}, CM_{Object-Axial}, and CM_{Object-Radial}. Second, the operator selects an operation from the main program (*testSystem.cpp*). Based on the operation selected, *Initdevices.o* object passes the peripheral objects by reference to *ThreadSelect.o*, which then manipulates the objects as required.

To enable simultaneous, real-time, motion sensing and replication for both axes of the input catheter, and both axes of the patient catheter, a multi-threaded software approach was implemented. Four threads are created using the *pthread* library, one for each sensed and replicated motion axis by the *ThreaSelect.o* object. Corresponding motion axes are mapped together in a producer-consumer model (i.e. $CS_{Object-Axial} \rightarrow CM_{Object}$), as depicted in Fig. C-3.



Fig. C-3: Interaction of software threads for an independent motion axis. The operator enables tele-operated catheter navigation (a), creating four software threads, one for each peripheral device axis, which run independent of the main program. A thread corresponding the CS axis, samples the CS at 20 ms intervals, after three samples the thread notifies the corresponding CM thread.

C.3 Sampling Strategy

To update position, velocity and acceleration of the motion-controller, requires 80 ms to complete using the current RS232 protocol (19,200 bps, 1 stop bit, and 1 stop bit). To calculate velocity and acceleration, a minimum of three samples, taken at 20 ms intervals, are required. This leads to a delay of 60 ms before updating the CM with new position information. The 80 ms communication delay, plus the 3 sample delay cause a minimum motion replication delay of 140 ms. A depiction of the ideal CM response is shown in Fig. C-4.



Fig. C-4: Replicated motion by the CM occurs in 4 stages. In the first stage (1), motion applied to the CS is sampled 3 times by the workstation. During the second stage (2), kinematics of the input motion from stage 1 are transferred to the CM from the workstation, which takes 80 ms. After receiving new kinematics, motion is executed by the CM, marked by *. During new updates, the CM utilizes 'on the fly' motion generation, to concurrently receive new data, while executing past motion commands. Concurrent times are highlighted by shaded boxes. Stages 2 and 3 are repeated until the CM reaches a steady-state position with the CS (stage 4). Overall, a 140 ms delay is forced into the system (Δt).

Appendix D:

Design and Construction of a Multi-Path Vessel Phantom for Interventional Training⁵

D.1 Introduction

X-ray fluoroscopic guided percutaneous transluminal catheterization plays an important role in the diagnosis of vascular and cardiac disease. Improvements in balloon, stent, coil, guidewire, and catheter technology have transformed catheter-based procedures from a solely diagnostic intervention to routine therapeutic intervention. Currently, training residents and fellows on safe and efficient catheter manipulation is achieved under the guidance of an experienced interventional physician in the clinic. This apprenticeship training method is expensive and time consuming for the trainer, and

⁵ A version of this chapter has been submitted as a manuscript to the *British Journal of Radiology*, entitled: "Design and Construction of a Multi-Path Vessel Phantom for Interventional Training," Thakur, Y., Nikolov H.N., Gulka, I.B., Holdsworth, D.W., and Drangova, M. (Submission #BJR-D-09-00878)

may not guarantee sufficient development of core interventional skills: the dexterity required to manipulate the catheter and inject contrast, while simultaneously operating the x-ray imaging system and viewing images.

While software simulators have been developed to assist with training [1-3], these simulators usually focus on micro interactions of the catheter inside the vasculature, *i.e.* friction. Although understanding micro interactions is important, the skill of manipulating the catheter/guidewire while simultaneously operating the imaging system is overlooked.

In a parallel effort, vascular models have been described in the literature [4]. However, the application of these vascular models has typically been to optimize image reconstruction algorithms, perform hemodynamic studies and calibrate imaging systems. Vessel models can provide anatomically realistic vasculature, but for training purposes lack physiological variability. To emulate physiological variability during training, multiple phantoms with different geometrical considerations would be required, a time consuming and costly approach. Instead, the use of non-anthropomorphic phantoms, containing multiple vessel trajectories can be used to assist training efforts. Recently, such phantoms have been used in catheter navigation studies, comparing conventional vs. remote catheter manipulation [5-7].

A simple, cost effective, non-anthropomorphic phantom has the potential to accelerate interventional training by providing a platform to learn the core skills required in the

clinic. In addition, as an perpetual platform, a non-anthropomorphic phantom may provide specific catheter manipulation tasks to assess new catheter technologies, monitor the progression of core skill development in trainees and also provide a standardized platform for assessing the developed core skills of graduating trainees.

This technical innovation describes the design and fabrication steps of a simple, nonanthropomorphic phantom, termed the multi-path vessel phantom, which is intended to complement current interventional training methods.

D.2 Materials and Method

D.2.1 Design Considerations

To provide a variety of vessel trajectories, a 2D non-anthropomorphic phantom was designed. Considerations during the design of the phantom were as follows:

- 1. Radio-translucency,
- 2. Provision for a range vessel complexity,
- Inclusion of different vessel diameter transitions (vein small to large, artery large to small),
- 4. Simplicity in construction,
- 5. Physiologically relevant physical size,
- 6. Compatibility with flow.

To provide a range of vessel complexity, a 2D pattern, shown in Fig. D-1, containing vessel trajectories of varying angulations was conceived. Vessel angulations vary between 30-135° in order to simulate commonly encountered branch vessels within the neuro-vasculature. In addition to vessel angulations, on the left side of the phantom, the pattern incorporates a transition from large to small diameter vessels (9.5-8-6.35 mm). On the right side of the phantom, the pattern is identical to that of the left side of the phantom, except vessel diameters transition from small to large (6.35-8-9.35 mm). Manipulating the catheter through the left side of the phantom provides training similar to arterial intervention (i.e. large to small vessel diameters), while manipulation of the catheter through the right side of the phantom provides training similar to venous intervention (small to large). Furthermore, a catheter can pass from the left to the right side (or *vice versa*), providing increased training paths. The vessel diameters selected are similar to the size of carotid arteries [8].

The size of the phantom is constrained to 30x30 cm, thereby ensuring the phantom is visible within the field of view of most clinical x-ray systems.

To enable contrast injection, the phantom must also be flow-compatible. This consideration is examined in the next section.



Fig. D-1: Pattern of the non-anthropomorphic multi-path training phantom (top view). The catheter is inserted into the phantom through either the bottom left or bottom right inlets. Inside the phantom, the catheter can be manipulated within vessels of three diameter sizes (dark gray: 9.5 mm, light gray: 6.35 mm, and black: 8 mm). To provide cross-training for interventional trainees, catheter manipulation through the phantom's left side provide vessel-diameter transitions from large-to-small (9.5-8-6.35 mm), while the phantom's right side provides vessel-diameter transitions from small-to-large (6.35-8-9.5 mm). Branching angles inside the phantom – ranging from 30 to 135° – provide the trainee with paths of varying difficulty. Black circles indicate fasteners, which hold the two machined acrylic plates together.

D.2.2 Phantom Construction

For simple construction, the multi-path phantom is comprised of two acrylic sheets, each measuring 30x30x1.27 cm, for an overall size of 30x30x2.54 cm. The pattern, shown in Fig. D-1, was milled into each sheet using an automated 3-axis numerically controlled milling machine with standard hemi-spherical mill bits (6.35 mm, 8 mm and 9.5 mm diameter).

Quick-disconnect fluid connectors (APC series, Cole Parmer Canada, Inc., Montreal, QC) are placed at the inlet and outlet of the multi-path vessel phantom. A Y-connector is connected to an inlet, providing an access point for the catheter/guidewire and connection to a pump.

Finally, the edges of the phantom were sealed with silicone sealant to prevent fluid leakage.

The completed phantom is shown in Fig. D-2.

D.2.3 The Multi-Path Vessel Phantom

Radiographic images of the phantom are shown in Fig. D-3. To highlight the various navigation paths, water was pumped through the phantom, while iodinated contrast was manually injected into the left inlet (Fig. D-3a) or the right inlet (Fig. D- 3b).



Fig. D-2: a) The constructed multi-path vessel phantom with Y-connector, labelled for catheter manipulation through the phantoms left-side. The Y-connector contains an introducer sheath, allowing the catheter and guidewire to enter the phantom and a second connector that connects to a standard pump. For catheter manipulation starting in the left-side of the phantom, the setup is configured with the Y-connector (b) attached to the left inlet of the multi-path vessel phantom. All other connectors on the phantom act as outlets. For catheter manipulation from the phantom's right side, the Y-connector is attached to the right inlet, and the left inlet becomes an outlet.

Flow through the phantom is highlighted by the diffusion of contrast. In areas of high flow and volume, more contrast is present, thus a brighter image of the vessel is obtained. In the smaller diameter vessels, there is lower flow and volume, thus a lower concentration of contrast agent results in reduced image contrast between the vessel lumen and the rest of the phantom. As shown in Fig. D-3, the diffusion of contrast throughout the phantom is not uniform. The varied contrast throughout the phantom will



Fig. D-3: Radiographs of the multi-path training phantom injected with contrast via the left inlet (a), and right inlet (b). The catheter is clearly visible in both images.

allow trainees to practice catheter manipulation in a variety of visualization scenarios, similar to clinical intervention where some vessels, are difficult to visualize after contrast injection.

D.3 Discussion

Core, catheter-based interventional skills are required in common medical interventions, including: angiography, balloon and stent placement, coil deposition, and intra-cardiac electrophysiology studies. Trainees currently develop core skills and therapeutic skills, simultaneously, in the clinic, under the guidance of experience interventionalists; a costly method. Using a simple, cost-effective phantom, core skills

may be developed outside the clinic, reducing cost and patient risk. In addition, this phantom can be used to provide quantitative assessment of new catheter guidance techniques [5-7].

Consideration towards a simple to construct, cost-effective, phantom to provide core interventional skills training has lead to the presented, multi-path vessel phantom. The six design considerations, outlined previously, were all met. The multi-path vessel phantom is radio-translucent, contains a variety of path trajectories for training and is compatible with fluid for contrast injection. In addition, the phantom is easily constructed using two acrylic sheets and common machining tools. The simplistic construction will allow most centres to independently construct and validate this phantom. Furthermore, the CAD files can be easily modified to accommodate advanced tasks.

As with any phantom, limitations exist. Vascular elasticity, 3D geometry and friction are not mimicked by the multi-path vessel phantom. These factors were intended omissions, as the phantom's purpose is to provide a cost-effective platform for core-skill development. Softer materials, such as silicon, have previously been used to create realistic 3D geometry; these phantoms are not suitable for catheter manipulation, as the soft materials cause the catheter to stick to them during manipulation, and can be perforated by a catheter or guidewire. The use of a rigid material completely removes the trainee's ability to perforate the phantom. It should be noted, this multi-path vessel phantom is not intended to replace current training methods, but instead complement current methods by allowing core skills to be developed outside the clinic. Clinical training would still be required to learn specific therapeutic skills, such as inflating balloon/stents. Using the training phantom should allow training programs to focus therapeutic skill development, instead of core skill development, a methodology used similarly in sport, where athletes use cross-training to develop strength, agility and endurance. A study is currently underway to assess the validity of this phantom for skills training. The results of this study will be the topic of future work.

References

- R. Dayal, P. L. Faries, S. C. Lin, J. Bernheim, S. Hollenbeck, B. DeRubertis, S. Trocciola, J. Rhee, J. McKinsey, N. J. Morrissey, and K. C. Kent, "Computer simulation as a component of catheter-based training," *J Vasc Surg*, vol. 40, pp. 1112-7, Dec 2004.
- [2] T. Alderliesten, M. K. Konings, and W. J. Niessen, "Modeling friction, intrinsic curvature, and rotation of guide wires for simulation of minimally invasive vascular interventions," *IEEE Trans Biomed Eng*, vol. 54, pp. 29-38, Jan 2007.
- [3] D. A. Gould and J. A. Reekers, "The role of simulation in training endovascular interventions," *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg*, vol. 35, pp. 633-6, Jun 2008.
- [4] L. Allard, G. Soulez, B. Chayer, F. Treyve, Z. Qin, G. Cloutier, L. Allard, G. Soulez, B. Chayer, F. Treyve, Z. Qin, and G. Cloutier, "Multimodality vascular imaging phantoms: a new material for the fabrication of realistic 3D vessel geometries," *Med Phys*, vol. 36, pp. 3758-63, Aug 2009.
- [5] H. M. Garcia-Garcia, K. Tsuchida, H. Meulenbrug, A. T. L. Ong, W. J. van der Giessen, and P. W. Serruys, "Magnetic Navigation in a Coronary Phantom: Experimental Results," vol. 1, pp. 321-328, 2005.
- [6] S. Ramcharitar, M. S. Patterson, R. J. van Geuns, M. van der Ent, G. Sianos, G. M. J. M. Welten, R. T. van Domburg, and P. W. Serruys, "A randomised controlled study comparing conventional and magnetic guidewires in a two-dimensional branching tortuous phantom simulating angulated coronary vessels.[see comment]," *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv*, vol. 70, pp. 662-8, Nov 1 2007.
- [7] M. Schiemann, R. Killmann, M. Kleen, N. Abolmaali, J. Finney, and T. J. Vogl, "Vascular guide wire navigation with a magnetic guidance system: experimental results in a phantom," vol. 232, pp. 475-81, Aug 2004.
- [8] E. C. Godia, R. Madhok, J. Pittman, S. Trocio, R. Ramas, D. Cabral, R. L. Sacco, and T. Rundek, "Carotid artery distensibility: a reliability study," J Ultrasound Med, vol. 26, pp. 1157-65, Sep 2007.